## Where you live makes a difference- quantifying neighbourhood effects on the health of young people

Kenisha Samantha Russell Jonsson

### A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Sociological Research

Department of Sociology University of Essex

November 2017

#### Declaration

I, Kenisha Samantha Russell Jonsson, confirm that the work presented in this dissertation is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources and/or the efforts have been collaborative, I confirm that this has been indicated in the dissertation.

#### Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to Äskil.

Although you are too young now to understand, I want you to know that dreaming is about setting the most 'far-fetched' goals humanly possible and then working towards them with optimism. It is important for you to know that dreams are what fuel us, giving us strength and the motivation to carry on through the toughest of times. So, my dearest son, don't let anyone tell you that you are dreaming too big. By the way, just so you know, dreams do not have deadlines!

'Everyone in life suffers a loss but it's the one who can overcome the loss and make a success of himself that is really doing something ' ----Billy Crystal's Muhammad Ali Tribute-15 Rounds 1979

#### Abstract

The aim of this dissertation was to investigate the geographic and individual/familylevel factors influencing the development of psychopathological problems in young people aged between 10 and 15 years old residing in England and Wales. It includes three multilevel model studies based on data from a nationally representative longitudinal study linked to the 2011 UK census. The two outcome measures investigated were mental health and life satisfaction. Aggregated data from the census captured indicators of social capital, ethnic composition, and the socioeconomic and physical conditions of the neighbourhood. Individual/family-level variables included in the models were: youth age, gender and ethnicity, as well as measures relating to parental health, socioeconomic status and demographic characteristics. Study I revealed that the effects of social capital on deprivation depend on whether it is analysed in terms of mediation or moderation. Social capital attenuated the negative effects of socioeconomic deprivation on mental health and life satisfaction. Specifically, the effect of deprivation is reduced by homogenous friendship networks (bonding), civic engagement (bridging), and low average neighbourhood worry about crime (indicator of general trust). As a moderator, homogenous friendship networks and civic engagement buffered young people residing in more deprived neighbourhoods from greater mental health difficulties and low life satisfaction, whilst having little or no impact on those living in less deprived neighbourhoods. These results highlighted the importance of cultivating various forms of social capital because different components appear to offer different benefits. Study II revealed a negative association between socioeconomic deprivation and mental health among White British youths compared to their ethnic minority counterparts, and that ethnic density had a small but mitigating effect on these outcomes, while parental behaviour increased the gap in mental health differences between the two groups. *Study III* found a strong association between life satisfaction and ethnicity whereby Asian and Black youths reported better life satisfaction than their White counterparts. This differential association was attenuated by ethnic density and neighbourhood socioeconomic status. Overall, the results point to a strong relationship between the social and physical contexts of the neighbourhood, and mental health and life satisfaction. Although much of the observed variability in outcomes was explained by individual/family-level characteristics, the empirical evidence suggested that it was the intersection between neighbourhood composition and the individual/family predictors, which ultimately determined the direction and strength of mental health difficulties and life satisfaction among young people. The findings also suggest that the neighbourhood is an important arena for policies and initiatives targeted at improving the mental health and life satisfaction of young people.

**Keywords**: life satisfaction; mental health; children/adolescents; neighbourhood; young people; socioeconomic deprivation; ethnic composition; parental behaviour; social capital; strengths and difficulties questionnaire (SDQ); England and Wales

## **Table of Contents**

Declaration	2
Dedication	2
Abstract	3
List of Abbreviations	8
Acknowledgements	9
Introduction	11
Defining neighbourhoods	16
Theoretical approaches to neighbourhood effects on youth outcomes	18
Inter-ethnic variations in mental health	20
Inter-ethnic variation in life satisfaction	23
Ethnicity, health and neighbourhood composition	24
Research questions	27
Materials and methods	
Data	
Ethical standards	29
Statistical analysis	29
Analytical Sample	
Dependent variable	31
Individual/family level variables	
Outline of studies	39
Study I	39
Study II	40
Study III	41
Study I	43
Abstract	44
Introduction	46
Defining Social Capital	47
Why and how social capital matters for health	49
Theoretical framework	51
Hypotheses	52
Methodology	55
Data and study sample	55
Dependent variables	56
Individual and family measures	57
Neighbourhood measures	58
Statistical analysis	62

Marginal means	64
Sensitivity analyses	65
Results	66
Descriptive results	66
Mental health	69
Marginal effects of deprivation and social capital on mental health	74
Life satisfaction	76
Marginal effects of deprivation and social capital on life satisfaction	80
Discussion	82
Strengths and limitations	
Conclusions and implications for policy and practice	90
SUPPLEMENTARY APPENDIX 1	91
Study II	95
Abstract	96
Introduction	97
Neighbourhood ethnic composition and socioeconomic deprivation	98
Parental behaviour	100
Research aim	101
Material and methods	102
Survey	102
Sample	103
Dependent variable	103
Individual and family predictors	104
Neighbourhood level predictors	106
Statistical analysis	107
Sensitivity analyses	109
Results	109
Sample description	109
Results for individual/family characteristics	114
Results from models examining mental health difficulties for the total sa	umple 114
Results of the other subscales	118
Discussion	119
Strengths and limitations	122
Conclusions and implications	123
SUPPLEMENTARY APPENDIX 2	124
Study III	137
Abstract	138

Introduction	139
Materials and methods	141
Data and study population	141
Individual-level data	142
Neighbourhood-level data	142
Sample	142
Measures	143
Statistical analysis	146
Results	147
Distribution of life satisfaction by ethnic group over time.	147
Distribution of life satisfaction by ethnic group	148
Discussion	155
Conclusion	159
SUPPLEMENTARY APPENDIX 3	161
Overall Conclusion	166
Conclusion	167
Summary of key findings	169
Strengths and limitations of the studies	173
Recommendations for future research	176
Conclusions and overall study implications	178
References	180

## List of Abbreviations

BAMEs	Blacks, Asians and other ethnic minorities
Coeff	Coefficient
MSOA	Middle Super Output Area
ONS	Office of National Statistics
SDQ	Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire
SF-12	Short Form Health Survey 12
UKHLS	United Kingdom Household Longitudinal Study
UK	United Kingdom
WHO	World Health Organisation

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my two academic supervisors, Joan Busfield and Neli Demireva, for their support and guidance throughout this tough process. Our meetings and discussions have had an immense impact on the quality of my work and the way I view academia. I am also grateful to my academic chair, Nick Allum, whose suggestions have greatly influenced my analytical thinking and planning.

On the administrative side of things, there are a number of people who played an integral role in my work and helped to keep me sane. Michele Hall, the Graduate Student Advisor, has always been there to provide practical advice and help to resolve any issues that arose. In addition, the staff at the UK Data Archive provided an invaluable service in a very professional manner - special thanks to Deborah Wiltshire, Nathan Bailey, and the other staff at the help desk!

I would like to thank my family and friends. Johan, I know I have really tested the boundaries of your patience and love, and I now know it is endless<sup>©</sup>. Your positive attitude towards life really keeps me going. *Min kära älskling, jag vill bara säga att du gör mig stark, och att du får mig att tro att allt är möjligt.* 

To my extended family and staunchest supporters: Cecilia Russell Henry, Nadine Russell, Latoyah Henry, and Tazman Henry. Your willingness to take care of Äskil, the strength of your emotional support and your readiness to listen to my myriad complaints has been priceless. Uncle Peter, all I needed to do was ask and you were in Colchester. It was a good trip, and the cod and chips were delicious! Rolf and Olga Jonsson, thank you for helping out whenever I needed you throughout this tough process, it is well appreciated.

Irina Vartanova, my 'sister friend', how many hours have you given me? "Thanks" is definitely not enough. You have contributed in so many ways to the development

and realization of the thesis and for that, I am extremely grateful, and is indebted to you for life.

Over the years, several other colleagues and friends have read countless drafts and given me critical and constructive comments that have improved the quality of the studies included in this dissertation by providing clarity and structure to my work. In particular, I would like to thank Viktoria Spaiser, Tim Mueller, Marita Södergren, Richard Henriksson, Marjan Vaez, Kajsa Mickelsson, Anna Jansson for caring and understanding, Kamieka Murphy for your advice and Stacy-Ann Walker for your encouragement.

I would also like to thank two people whose small acts of kindness changed my life: Moa Bursell, you probably don't remember, but you taking the time to babysit my child for an hour was a major event for me. Erica Karlsson, I was on the verge of giving up on an opportunity until I talked to you; both your words and your offer of help changed my perspective. These two acts of kindness played an integral role in some of the most significant changes in my life over the last two years. How does someone say thanks for that?

I would like to acknowledge Mike Jones who provided instructions and codes for downloading the relevant tables for creating the Townsend deprivation index used through this thesis (https://philmikejones.wordpress.com/2014/02/21/).

I am a strong believer in hard work, but I am convinced that without a bit of luck even the greatest of efforts may not give the expected returns. Well, how extremely lucky I have been! So lucky that there have been so many people who have been willing to give me their time, advice and support.

Without you all, this thesis would not have been possible.

#### Introduction

This dissertation presents the results from three studies conducted to improve our understanding of the geographic and individual/family-level predictors influencing the development of psychopathological problems among children/adolescents (henceforth referred to as "young people") aged between 10 and 15 years old residing in Britain. Specifically, the studies were designed to determine how the mental health and life satisfaction of young people aged 10-15 residing in England and Wales are affected by the social, economic and ethnic composition of their areas of residence (i.e. neighbourhoods).

Since the early 1990s, there has been a wealth of studies linking neighbourhoods and health, most of which have identified modest<sup>1</sup> contextual effects over and above individual/family characteristics (Diez Roux and Mair 2010; Macintyre and Ellaway 2003; Ellaway and Macintyre 2010). There are however some gaps in the scholarship.

First, although the overall literature on the associations between neighbourhoods and health has grown extensively, there has been much less research on these effects in young people than in adults. Yet, research into the influence of neighbourhood composition on the health and well-being of young people is a relevant and necessary line of enquiry because as a group, they have less mobility and autonomy when compared to their adult counterparts (Allison et al. 1999). This means that they may spend a disproportionate amount of time within their neighbourhoods. Neighbourhoods in which young people reside may also impact their health because this is where important social processes, interactions and the institutional resources relevant to their development is found (Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2001; Leventhal, Dupéré, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The modest nature of these effects might be partially due to the limitations of this type of research, as discussed in the section on the strengths and limitations of this dissertation.

Brooks-Gunn 2009; Roosa et al. 2003). Prior studies have suggested that during this critical phase of development where young people are experiencing physical, psychological and cognitive changes on their way toward adulthood, experiences and relationships such as those within the neighbourhood has a strong influence on a range of outcomes (Allison et al. 1999; Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2001; Leventhal, Dupéré, and Brooks-Gunn 2009; Roosa et al. 2003). The literature also points to possible lifelong effects of exposure to the neighbourhood (Evans and Kim 2007; Diez Roux 2001). If it is indeed so, that disadvantage accumulates over the life course, research into whether and how the neighbourhood influences the health of young people may have an even greater relevance for our understanding of the development and treatment of mental health. Moreover, an investigation into the factors which might impact the well-being of young people is necessary because these may differ from the factors influencing the well-being of adults, and thus a reliance on adult findings might lead us to draw misleading conclusions as it relates to young people.

Second, research relating specifically to the outcomes examined in this study is also lacking, with only a small body of studies demonstrating a connection between neighbourhood composition and mental health among young people in Britain (Astell-Burt et al. 2012; Maynard, Harding, and Minnis 2007; Maynard and Harding 2010; Harding et al. 2015; Fagg et al. 2006; Green et al. 2005; Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000). Furthermore, to my knowledge, there is no published research on the relationship between neighbourhood effects and life satisfaction among this age group in Britain. The current literature also lacked an investigation of ethnicity, as one of the factors contributing to the unequal distribution of mental health and life satisfaction among young people. Third, despite the strong interest in this field, research in this area has largely focused on explaining the 'how' of these relationships on individual outcomes rather than the 'why'. While the answers to 'how' questions provide descriptions of possible associations, research focused on explaining 'why' would help us to understand the processes through which neighbourhood effects are transmitted, and how this in turn influence individual outcomes. As such, several aspects related to the mechanisms through which the socioeconomic and physical neighbourhood conditions are transmitted to young people remain under researched in the British context.

It is therefore hoped that the studies in this dissertation will contribute to the current discourse by addressing the question of why through an investigation of neighbourhood predictors as both mediators and moderators. This may allow us to disentangle the differences in outcomes among individuals exposed to similar levels of risk.

In addition, this study aims to contribute to the question of why, by using repeated measurements of the same characteristic for the sample over time - longitudinal data. Longitudinal data is particularly useful for evaluating the relationship between the development of a health problem and possible risk factors. Further, the use of longitudinal data in the current studies has allowed for the exploration of changes in individual/family circumstances over time and therefore greater understanding of the intervening processes. One drawback is that the neighbourhood measures were taken from a single census, therefore it was not possible to observe any direct changes in this context. But, through the interaction between the neighbourhood and the changes in individual/family factors, we are at least able to take a step closer to disentangling the mechanisms at work.

Prior studies (see for e.g. Odgers et al. 2009; Edwards and Bromfield 2010; Aminzadeh et al. 2013; Drukker et al. 2005) have shown that a neighbourhood's social, economic, ethnic characteristics, and even its physical structures, presumably operate via synergistic processes that create and recreate each other. More empirical investigations into these processes and their potential impact on youth well-being would contribute further to the question of why. This is however a difficult issue to study because of the complex relationships between the relevant predictors, such as the correlation between the neighbourhood contexts within which young people reside and their individual and family characteristics. The difficulty in disentangling neighbourhood contextual factors from their compositional make-up might have hampered research efforts in this area.

Besides the obvious point that as researchers we want to explain and understand societal problems, the processes through which young people might develop mental health difficulties, and the factors that affect their life satisfaction, the research presented in this dissertation was motivated by reports showing that:

- (a) approximately 10% of children in the UK (Green et al. 2005) and 20% worldwide (WHO 2016) suffer from mental health difficulties;
- (b) a global epidemiological study which describes mortality and morbidity from major diseases, injuries and risk factors to health has found that mental health difficulties among young people is one of the most significant contributors to the global burden of disease (Lancet 2017; Gore et al. 2011);
- (c) young people who suffer from mental health difficulties are subject to an elevated risk of smoking, drug use, and having problems with alcohol (Department of Health 2011) which in turn has been linked to a wide range of negative health outcomes and socioeconomic inequalities in the transition from adolescence to adulthood (Viner and Taylor 2007; Green, Doherty, and Ensminger 2017);

- (d) the onset of mental illness among a large majority of individuals who suffer from mental ill-health in later life first occurred during adolescence. For instance, studies have shown that 50% of individuals who suffer from mental ill-health (excluding dementia) showed some symptoms by the age of 14 (Breslau et al. 2005; Kessler et al. 2005; De Girolamo et al. 2012);
- (e) mental health issues impose significant social and economic costs. For example, mental health difficulties in the UK have been estimated to cost between £11,000 and £59,000 annually per child (Davies et al. 2013). As it relates to social costs, young people who suffer from mental health difficulties have a lower risk of having good physical health; to have attained requisite educational qualifications; they have lower employment prospects and they are less likely to form social relationships (Department of Health 2011) and these factors have all been shown to have an adverse and long-lasting impact on individual quality of life.

These reports all point to the fact that increasing our understanding of the mechanisms that lead to the development of psychopathological problems could enable improvements in the prevention, early diagnosis, and treatment of mental health issues. The consequence of which could be a reduction in long-term suffering among affected groups and a reduction in the social and economic costs.

The aim of this dissertation is to therefore address some of this gap in the scholarship by providing empirical evidence that sheds light on mechanisms that may affect the mental health and life satisfaction of young people aged 10-15 residing in England and Wales. I do this by empirically investigating the interplay between indicators of neighbourhood social capital, individual and neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation, and their shared impact on the reported mental health and life satisfaction of young people. In addition, I assess whether neighbourhood effects are evenly distributed across the various ethnic groups in Britain given the heterogeneous socioeconomic conditions and ethnic composition of the British population. To examine these questions, multilevel methods were applied to a nationally representative longitudinal study, *Understanding Society: The UK Household Longitudinal Study (UKHLS)*, which is linked to aggregate area-level measures from the 2011 UK census. The data from the survey included information on two outcome measures (mental health and life satisfaction) together with various individual/family predictors that were used in the analyses (for details of these predictors, see Table 1). Aggregated data from the census were used to capture area-level heterogeneity in measures such as ethnic composition, socioeconomic deprivation and other aspects of the social and physical living environment.

Studies in neighbourhood research have often been driven by theory and the geographic level at which data are available for assessment. The next two sections of this introduction outlines the definition of neighbourhoods and the theoretical framework used in this thesis.

#### Defining neighbourhoods

Before explaining the theoretical approaches through which neighbourhood conditions might operate to influence the mental health of young people, it is necessary to operationalize the term neighbourhood in the context of this dissertation. Several attempts have been made to define and explain the term "neighbourhood" and the consequences of its various operationalizations (see for e.g. Lupton 2003; Van Ham et al. 2012). These efforts will not be recapitulated here; instead, neighbourhoods are defined strictly in terms of the chosen unit of analysis used in this dissertation.

Nevertheless, it should be noted that the definition adopted in this work is by no means new, and has been used in many peer-reviewed publications (see for e.g. Fagg et al. 2006; Bécares, Nazroo, et al. 2012; Bécares, Nazroo, and Stafford 2009; Knies, Nandi, and Platt 2014).

Neighbourhoods have been operationalized as a Middle Super Output Area (MSOA), which are a class of geographic output areas defined for the purposes of reporting UK census estimates. MSOAs were primarily created for administrative purposes and are part of the system used to monitor the social, economic, and general living conditions in which the people of Britain reside. They were designed such that all MSOAs have similar population sizes, with a minimum residential size of between 5000 individuals and 2000 households, and an average population of 7500 individuals. They were also designed to be as socially homogenous as possible based on household tenure and dwelling type (ONS 2017). The use of MSOAs made it possible to link aggregated area-level variables taken from the 2011 census to the *UKHLS*.

Despite the widespread usage of MSOAs to delineate neighbourhood geographic boundaries in academic studies from across the UK, this measure is not without limitations. As stated above MSOAs were created with a particular purpose in mind, this means that the 'artificial' delineation does not accurately capture or measure all the aspects relevant to how people live. Using MSOAs could limit for instance measures such as social capital or ethnic density used in this study. As such, lower geographic measures could potentially lead to stronger effects. However, request for lower level geographic measures were denied as a precaution against revealing the identity of participants.

#### Theoretical approaches to neighbourhood effects on youth outcomes

While the literature offers several plausible explanations for the transmission and influence of neighbourhood conditions on a range of outcomes (including health) in young people (Jencks and Mayer 1990; Roosa et al. 2003; Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2000), the three proposed pathways that informed this dissertation were drawn from the work of Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn (2000). The theoretical models outlined by these authors was chosen because they offer a method for performing analyses using more theoretically driven models that more clearly define the level(s) at which various mechanisms (individual, family, neighbourhood, etc.) might operate. Moreover, both the neighbourhood and the family offer relevant starting points for identifying and explaining factors that may affect the well-being of young people during their formative years, when familial, legal, socioeconomic, and mobility issues bind them to the areas in which they live. The chosen theoretical models offered a succinct way to explain the intricate relationships between these factors. The models provided were the *institutional resources model*, the *relationships model*, and the *norms and collective efficacy model*.

The *institutional resources model* outlines how the quality, availability, accessibility, and affordability of the physical and material conditions of the neighbourhood environment might influence the health of young people in different neighbourhoods. In particular, visible signs of socioeconomic deprivation such as the neighbourhood facilities have been associated with risk-taking, school-readiness and achievement, and participation in physical activity (Minh et al. 2017). The expectation is therefore that the neighbourhood resources would have an indirect influence on the association on mental health and life satisfaction among young people.

The *relationships model* deals with the indirect transmission and influence of neighbourhood effects on the well-being of youths based on their relationships with their caregivers, and the relationships that these care-givers in turn have with the wider society. As such this model is concerned with the quality of the youth's home life, parental characteristics, parental behaviour (extended to include parenting style, supervision and monitoring, routines and structure, see e.g. Edwards and Bromfield 2010), and parental social and support networks (Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2000, 2001). In this dissertation this theoretical proposition has been tested by exploring the relationship between the frequency with which parents undertake certain activities with their children and assessed whether this varied by the composition of the neighbourhoods in which one resided. In line with the literature (Byrnes and Miller 2012; Ceballo and McLoyd 2002; Burton and Jarrett 2000; Sampson, Morenoff, and Earls 1999) it was assumed that the parental style adopted would vary by neighbourhood socioeconomic status, and this would have a direct impact on the mental health of young people.

The third and final model is the *norms and collective efficacy model*, which describes the way neighbourhood social processes contribute to and exacerbate and/or attenuate potential risks to individual well-being in the neighbourhood through formal and informal neighbourhood institutions. Although the original formulation of this model largely focused on physical risks, it was extended in this work to encompass psychological risks. This extension was considered appropriate because several studies have demonstrated significant health impacts related to 'softer' less objective neighbourhood measures and has shown specifically that perceptions of a neighbourhood can have similar health effects to that of objective measures (Booth,

Ayers, and Marsiglia 2012; Wen, Hawkley, and Cacioppo 2006; Ellaway, Macintyre, and Kearns 2001; Snedker and Hooven 2013).

Two of the research studies that make up this thesis were prompted by, and address some of the puzzling findings in the research on ethnicity and mental health in young people in Britain.

#### Inter-ethnic variations in mental health

It is estimated that 10 % of young people in Britain have mental health problems (Green et al. 2005; Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000). However, numerous studies indicate that these problems are unequally distributed across the population, and that their prevalence varies with ethnicity. A systematic review examining differences in children's mental health by ethnicity in Britain, indicated that Black African and Indian children had better mental health than White British children, while children categorized as being of Mixed race, Black Caribbean, Pakistani, or Bangladeshi origin have similar mental health (Goodman, Patel, and Leon 2008). Similar results have been found in other studies. For example, an earlier assessment of the mental health of young people aged 5-15 found that Indian children had the lowest rates of mental health problems, with a prevalence rate of 4%, followed by Pakistanis and Bangladeshis at 8%. Only Black youths were found to have higher rates of mental health problems (12%) than White youths (Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000). Although the findings of these two studies differed<sup>2</sup> somewhat, they both indicate that some ethnic minority youth groups have a mental health advantage over their White British

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  The results of these studies may have differed due to several reasons, such as differences in the timing of the studies, the ethnic categorizations that they used, and their methodologies.

counterparts (Green et al. 2005; Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000; Goodman, Patel, and Leon 2010; Astell-Burt et al. 2012; Harding et al. 2015).

This was surprising because the overall narrative in the literature suggests that ethnic minorities generally have worse health than the White British majority (Higgins 2008; Becares 2015; Nazroo 1997; Bhopal 2002; Bhopal 2007), although some groups fare worse than others. South Asians have a 50 % higher risk of cardiovascular disease and a higher risk of type-II diabetes compared to other ethnicities, whereas minorities of Caribbean origin have high risks of mortality from stroke. An especially puzzling finding given the inter-ethnic differences in mental health among young people is that ethnic minority adults (with the exception of those of Chinese origin) are known to face significantly elevated risks of mental health problems and diagnosis with mental illness (Whincup et al. 2010; Becares 2015; Nazroo 1997; Bhopal 1997; Bhopal 2002; Green et al. 2005; Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000; Breslau et al. 2005; Rees et al. 2016).

It thus appears that there are opposing trends among youths and adults with respect to the relative mental health risks facing different ethnic groups. For instance, the risk of common mental disorders among Black women (29.3%) is appreciably greater than that for Non-British White women (15.6%), and White British women (20.9%). There were no significant differences in mental health illness among men by ethnicity. (McManus et al. 2016; Mental Health Foundation 2016). There is also some evidence that depression is more prevalent among Black women, and that panic disorder is more prevalent among women in Black, Asian and mixed or other ethnic groups than in Whites. Additionally, the first-time contact rates for psychotic disorder are three to five times higher for Blacks than for other ethnic groups (Rees et al. 2016; McManus et al. 2016) It should be noted that there are various alternative explanations for the inter-ethnic differences in mental health highlighted here, and these arguments are relevant both for adults and young people alike. It has been suggested that the ethnic classifications used in certain studies could account for some of the reported variation (Bhopal 1997; Bhopal 2002; Bhopal 2007). For instance, a recent study by Stewart-Brown and colleagues indicated that individuals of African-Caribbean, Indian and Pakistani backgrounds had better mental well-being when compared to other groups (Stewart-Brown et al. 2009). The results indicated however that when other subjective well-being measures including life satisfaction, happiness and anxiety are examined among Blacks (which was made up of Black, African, Caribbean and Black British people) and Bangladeshis, they were found to have low satisfaction and higher levels of anxiety compared to the White ethnic group (Hicks 2013).

An alternative explanation for the variation may be due to the specific associations being investigated. In an assessment of the interplay between racism and a range of neighbourhood compositional factors, Astell-Burt et al. (2012) found that ethnic minority youths, in particular Ghanian/Nigerian boys and Indian Girls had better mental health relative to their White British counterparts after adjusting for age, socioeconomic position, racism and context.

Moreover, there may be inherent differences in the way that various ethnic groups assess their health, as well as measurement error arising from the way questions are posed or the response styles of these various ethnic groups (Van Herk, Poortinga, and Verhallen 2004; Marin, Gamba, and Marin 1992; Ross and Mirowsky 1984; Kam and Zhou 2014). However, the implications of these differences for both individual and public health mean that further studies in this area are warranted.

#### Inter-ethnic variation in life satisfaction

The literature demonstrates that inter-ethnic variations in health persist even in assessments using more subjective measures such as self-reported health and life satisfaction, which are indicators of morbidity and mortality (Kahneman and Krueger 2006; Idler and Benyamini 1997). Specifically, studies examining global assessments of life satisfaction that provide an overall evaluation of an individual's quality of life have revealed a disparity in life satisfaction among ethnic minority adults when compared to the majority population (Shields and Wailoo 2002; Burton and Phipps 2008; Knies, Nandi, and Platt). Furthermore, evidence from research on adult populations strongly suggests that lower life satisfaction is linked to various dimensions of individual and neighbourhood economic and social inequality (e.g. unemployment, income, deprivation, neighbourhood quality and resources, health, health care provision and services, among other factors) (Knies, Nandi, and Platt 2014; Shields and Wailoo 2002). A question arising from these findings is whether the effects are the same for young people. This dissertation seeks to answer this question, and examines life satisfaction because of its importance in research on the psychological well-being of young people.

There is a broad consensus in the literature that measures of life satisfaction cover a wide spectrum of individual functioning, capturing both positive and negative aspects of well-being (Gilman and Ashby 2003; Diener 2000; Proctor, Linley, and Maltby 2009). This stands in contrast to more traditional measures of psychological well-being, which have been criticised for lacking options for reporting positive feelings or behaviours and for focusing primarily on capturing the frequency and intensity of problems. Secondly, knowledge about more positive aspects of individual psychology may provide relevant information about factors that should be strengthened among individuals, and that could potentially provide a buffer against the development of mental health problems (Veenhoven 1988). Finally, previous studies have found that life satisfaction is a predictor of future mental health problems (Lewinsohn, Redner, and Seeley 1991). In short, research into the determinants and stability of life satisfaction among different groups could reveal ways of creating a long-lasting positive impact on young people's mental health and might even provide guidance for the development of longer-term interventions to reduce the burden of mental ill-health over time.

A literature search revealed no studies in England and Wales exploring possible ethnic variation in life satisfaction and its relationship with the neighbourhood context among young people. This indicated the existence of a gap in the current scholarship that required further examination.

#### Ethnicity, health and neighbourhood composition

Numerous studies have highlighted the growing diversity of Britain (Simpson 2015; Jivraj and Simpson 2015b). Figures from the 2011 census indicate that young people aged 10-15 account for 7% of the population. This segment of the population is ethnically diverse: 82.4 % self-identify as White British, 8.3% as Asian, 5.5 % as Black, and 4.3 % as belonging to a Mixed ethnic category (Office of National Statistics (ONS), 2011). Consequently, there has been a strong interest in the political sphere, the media, and the scholarly literature in examining the effects of this diversification on individual outcomes in terms of the job and housing markets, employment, education, social cohesion, and social capital and its societal correlates (for e.g. crime, quality of neighbourhood facilities), among other things. There has also been renewed interest in the causes and consequences of ethnic inequalities in health as they relate to these

issues. It must be noted that some of this interest stems from a belief that this more diverse population is imposing a larger-than-expected strain on the resources of the National Health Services, leading to a shortage of resources (Casey 2016).

The interest in problematizing ethnic health differences has made questions regarding the ethnic composition of residential areas into a focal point in the growing societal debate among those who view place of residence as playing an integral role in health. On the one hand, ethnic residential segregation has been argued to be one of the main contributors to the poorer health outcomes of ethnic minority individuals (Williams and Collins 2001; Wilson 1996, 1987). For instance, residential segregation has been associated with socioeconomic deprivation, which correlates with the social and physical conditions of the neighbourhood, the quality and accessibility of facilities, physical deterioration, crime, risky behaviours (e.g. excessive alcohol consumption, smoking, and risky sexual behaviour) and unhealthy life styles, which have in turn been linked to various negative health outcomes (Turner 2009). According to these arguments, residential segregation can be seen as a cyclical process that perpetuates the conditions that adversely affect individuals' health.

On the other hand, since the seminal work of Faris and Dunham (1939)<sup>3</sup>, proponents of the ethnic density hypothesis have suggested that the ethnic concentration of minorities buffers and protects individuals from adversities by mitigating some of the negative effects of being a minority such as racism and discrimination (Pickett and Wilkinson 2008; Bécares, Shaw, et al. 2012; Halpern and Nazroo 2000). Moreover, by living in areas with a high proportion of co-ethnics, residents are more likely to find established services that they need such as remittance agencies, a job market, rental and housing markets that cater to their needs, and services tailored to their native languages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> They explored the relationship between the ethnic concentration of minorities in a given geography and the incidence of mental health disorders.

These neighbourhoods might also offer some sense of familiarity and community, and thereby mitigate some of the stressors often associated with migration/migrants, which in turn may lead to better health outcomes<sup>4</sup> (Pickett and Wilkinson 2008; Bécares, Shaw, et al. 2012; Bécares, Nazroo, and Stafford 2009).

This debate about the effects of neighbourhood ethnic concentration has gone on for decades, with both sides presenting evidence to support their claims. However, most investigations into these effects have yielded mixed results. For instance, while some researchers exploring the ethnic density hypothesis related to young people have identified a beneficial effect (Gieling, Vollebergh, and van Dorsselaer 2010; Wickrama and Bryant 2003; Zhang et al. 2017), at least one study indicated that this effect may be negative if the group is too large (Fagg et al. 2006), another found a generally negative effect (Abada, Hou, and Ram 2007), and others found no effect of ethnic density on young people's mental health (Xue et al. 2005; Astell-Burt et al. 2012). Whether all the theoretical positions discussed above are plausible, inter-ethnic differences in health due to ethnic composition of place of residence could have

differences in health due to ethnic composition of place of residence could have important public health and public policy implications given the growing diversification of the British population. Additionally, neighbourhood characteristics (including ethnic composition) may have more significant effects on young people than on other age groups because they spend disproportionate amounts of time in their area of residence due to their relative immobility (Allison et al. 1999; Jackson and Mare 2007).

Area-level effects are estimated to account for 5-10% of the variation in health (Roosa et al. 2003). While this is relatively small compared to the effect of individual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This may be particularly important for specific groups such as recent migrants, who are more at risk of homesickness and require more help to transition into their receiving countries (Alba and Foner 2016; Friedberg 2000). Ibid.

predictors, it is important to characterize the mechanisms responsible because of the sheer number of people at risk and the as-yet unknown long-term effects of childhood exposure to adverse conditions related to place of residence. Accounting for the varying compositions and conditions of the neighbourhoods in which young people reside could reveal significant gaps in our understanding of the mechanisms contributing to ethnic disparities in the mental health. Finally, if it were shown that the factors affecting the mental health and life satisfaction of young people differ from those for adults, it could confirm that applying adult findings to young people would yield misleading results.

# Based on the theoretical assumptions and gaps in the literature discussed above, seven research questions were formulated to address the research aims of this thesis.

#### **Research questions**

- (1) Is the relationship between neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation, mental health difficulties, and life satisfaction mediated by neighbourhood social capital<sup>5</sup>?
- (2) Is the relationship between neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation, mental health difficulties, and life satisfaction moderated by neighbourhood social capital?
- (3) To what extent might ethnic variations in mental health among youths be attributed to individual and family characteristics?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In this study (Study I), six separate measures based on the parents' perceptions were used to capture various components of social capital at the neighbourhood level. These were worry about crime, social cohesion, the quality of the neighbourhood facilities and amenities, trust and cooperative norms, homogenous friendship networks and civic engagement. Similar usage may be found in earlier studies (Odgers et al. 2009; Edwards and Bromfield 2010; Aminzadeh et al. 2013; Drukker et al. 2005).

- (4) To what extent are ethnic variations in mental health associated with neighbourhood composition and parental behaviour?
- (5) Does ethnic density or neighbourhood socioeconomic status explain the interethnic variation in life satisfaction across different ethnic groups?
- (6) What is the effect of ethnic density and neighbourhood socioeconomic status on ethnicity-specific age trajectories in life satisfaction among ethnic minority youths?
- (7) How stable are the effects of life satisfaction across ethnic minority youths over time when compared to majority White youths?

#### Materials and methods

#### Data

The research in this thesis drew on data from two sources. *Understanding Society: The UK Household Longitudinal Study* (UKHLS) (Institute for Social and Economic Research and National Centre for Social Research, 2015) and administrative data based on the 2011 UK census (ONS 2017).

The *individual-level data*, which include information on the young people, their parents and households, were taken from the UKHLS - an annual longitudinal household panel survey that began in 2009/2010 with a nationally representative, stratified, clustered sample of around 40,000 households and 70,000 individuals from across the UK (Knies 2017b).

The second source of data - the *neighbourhood-level measures* - were aggregated geocoded measures derived from the 2011 UK census at the middle super output area (MSOA) level. The Office of National Statistics provides geographical data at three

output levels - lower, middle, and upper. To assess neighbourhood effects for the purposes of this thesis, permission was requested and granted to link the UKHLS to aggregated measures collected at the MSOA level. As stated above, MSOAs was used to delineate neighbourhood boundaries because the use of lower geographic levels would increase the risk that specific individuals might be identified in the analysis, while higher output levels might not provide sufficient granularity to capture the shared experiences and social and/or physical contextual effects under study.

#### **Ethical standards**

Data access was granted through a Special Licence/Conditional Access Agreement by the UK Data archive and the data holder – the Institute for Economic and Social Research, Essex University – after completion of the requisite checks to ensure that the relevant ethical standards for data usage (which relate to issues such as anonymity and secure storage) would be fulfilled. A copy of the approved application for the data is available from the author on request. Further information regarding data access and ethical considerations regarding its use can be found at <u>www.ukdataservice.ac.uk</u>

#### Statistical analysis

Multilevel modelling techniques were used to achieve the aims discussed above. This approach made it possible to capture nested relationships within the data. The most prominent of these nested relationships was the hierarchical and dependent relationship between the repeated measurement occasions, the individual, and the neighbourhood. Using a multilevel model made it possible to account for the fact that the *UKHLS* 

sampled young people from the same MSOAs and to thereby control for the similarities between these neighbourhoods while increasing the precision of the estimates.

#### **Analytical Sample**

The participants in the youth survey were drawn from households where adults were interviewed, and oral consent for their participation was obtained from their parents or guardians. The sample consisted of young people from these households who chose to complete a pencil-and-paper self-reported questionnaire. The survey data were derived from a longitudinal study, repeated survey responses were obtained from the same group of participants for a maximum of 5 years. However, some changes in the survey sample occurred due to listwise deletion of variables with missing information, attrition and new participants included in the survey. Attrition may have occurred across the waves because the survey team lost contact with a family who participated in an earlier wave, a young person decided not to respond the survey, or an individual initially classified as a youth (aged 10-15) was surveyed as part of the adult sample. New participants became eligible to participate in the youth survey when they turned 10 years old or when an eligible youth became a member of a household that was already a part of the survey.

The analyses presented in this dissertation were restricted to youths/young people, that is individuals aged 10-15 year old. The age range falls within the World Health Organization definition of 'young people', which covers the age of 10-24 (WHO 2018). This wide age range poses some challenges from a theoretical and analytical perspective. It is a period in the life stage, characterised by neurodevelopmental, psychological and social challenges, that could affect health. Furthermore, it is clear that as this group gets older the way in which they interact with the wider environment, whether it be family, school or neighbourhood, is constantly evolving. For example, although 10 and 15 year olds are both similarly defined as youths, a 15 year old would have greater autonomy in their day-to-day interaction with their neighbourhood. This may in turn influence their health in ways, which are not applicable to the 10 year old. Controlling for age in the analyses should reduce the potential risk of bias.

#### **Dependent** variable

Three different outcome measures were selected to examine neighbourhood effects on the psychopathological development of young people: a measure of mental health and two separate measures of life satisfaction.

Mental health difficulty was measured using the responses provided in waves 1, 3 and 5 of the self-reported version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ). At the time of application for data usage, only five waves of UKHLS data were available, spanning the period 2009/2010 to 2013/2014. However, participants are asked to complete the items relating to the SDQ on a rotating basis, i.e. every other wave, as such only three waves were included in the study.

The SDQ is a widely-used cross-nationally (Kersten et al. 2016; Goodman et al. 2011; Hoosen et al. 2018) and multi-ethnic (Richter et al. 2011; Mieloo et al. 2013) validated screening instrument that includes 25 items and five subscales suggested to capture four areas of potential difficulty (emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity-inattention, peer relationship problems) and one area of strength (prosocial behaviour) (Goodman 1997; Goodman, Meltzer, and Bailey 1998). Respondents were able to identify the severity of their problems by choosing one option from a 3-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 (not true) to 2 (certainly true). The summed scores ranged from 0 to 40, with higher scores indicating greater mental health

difficulties. A list of the items used to create this measure may be found in Appendix A1.

An overall assessment of *life satisfaction*, was measured by a single item that asked respondents to choose from seven pictorial representations expressing greater or lesser levels of satisfaction with their life as a whole. Responses were reversed coded so that higher scores indicated greater life satisfaction.

The second measure of *life satisfaction* comprised six items measuring how satisfied respondents were with several aspects of their lives: their school work, appearance, family, friends, school, and life as a whole. Respondents were provided with depictions of more or less smiling faces, representing 1 (very satisfied) to 7 (not very satisfied). The measure ranged from 1 to 43, and was coded in a similar way to that of earlier studies (see for e.g. Knies 2017a), with higher scores indicating greater life satisfaction.

Although there are no studies that has specifically sought to examine the crosscultural validity of the particular measures of life satisfaction used in this dissertation, both single and multi-item measures of life satisfaction has been widely used and accepted as an indicator of overall well-being (Van Praag, Frijters, and Ferrer-i-Carbonell 2003; Kahneman and Krueger 2006; Proctor, Linley, and Maltby 2009; Shields and Wailoo 2002; Diener 2000). As it relates to the multi-item measure of life satisfaction, the six items had a correlation ranging from r=0.25 to a maximum r=0.51, and which loaded onto a single factor (see supplementary appendix SA1). Moreover, the items had a relatively high internal consistency and reliability, as measured by the Cronbach's alpha ( $\alpha$ =0.77), indicating that it was appropriate to sum the items to create a single summary scale.

#### Individual/family level variables

Based on the above descriptions of the proposed pathways and on prior research (See for e.g. Green et al. 2005; Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000; Fagg et al. 2006; Astell-Burt et al. 2012; Maynard, Harding, and Minnis 2007; Maynard and Harding 2010; Harding et al. 2015), it is clear from a measurement/analytical perspective that there exists an intricate relationship between the individual/family measures, which would be difficult to exclude in any analysis of neighbourhood effects. As such, several of these measures were included as predictors/confounders in this dissertation.

In addition, several of the individual/family-level predictors included in the dissertation have been shown to be associated with the mental health and life satisfaction of young people, they were therefore included in the models as a means of reducing the risk of identifying spurious relationships between youth life satisfaction and neighbourhood characteristics (Webb et al. 2017; Knies 2017a; Proctor, Linley, and Maltby 2009; Bradshaw and Richardson 2009; Scott and Chaudhary 2003).

Further, as it relates specifically to Study 1, in order to examine whether social capita mediates and/or moderates the effect of socioeconomic disadvantage six separate measures of social capital were calculated at the neighbourhood level. These were measured as not worried about crime, social cohesion, the quality of the neighbourhood facilities and amenities, trust and cooperative norms, homogenous friendship networks and civic engagement and were based on parental perceptions of neighbourhood conditions and social processes. Similar usage can be found in earlier studies (Odgers et al. 2009; Edwards and Bromfield 2010; Aminzadeh et al. 2013; Drukker et al. 2005). The individual/family-level and neighbourhood variables included in the various analyses in are summarized in Table 1.

Variables	Туре	Categories	Description & Notes	Study		
Individual/family-lev	vel measures					
Youth Sex	Binary	Girl or Boy		Study I, Study III	Study	II,
Youth Cohorts	Categorical	199;1995;1996;1997;1998;1999	Derived from information provided on date of birth	Study 1		
Youth Age	Continuous	10-15.	Derived from information provided on date of birth	Study I, Study III	Study	II,
Youth Ethnicity	Categorical	White; Mixed; Asians; Blacks; All other ethnicity	Self-identified ethnicity, was measured using the responses to a list of 18 ethnic identity categories, similar to those provided in the 2011 census.	Study I, Study III	Study	II,
Length of residency	Categorical	1 year or less; 2 - 3 years; 4-10 years; 10 years or more	Indicator for number of years residing in a given MSOA. Length of residency is calculated as date of survey minus the date each family moved into current residence. If an individual had always resided at their current address, time of residence equals age. After averaging the length of residency between parents, the variable is discretized.	Study I, Study III	Study	II,
Single parent households	Binary	Indicator for households that have a single registered parent	Household are coded as being a single parent household if the identity variable for either mother or father is missing.	Study I, Study III	Study	II,
Household income	continuous (log)/Categorical	Tertile 1; Tertile 2; Tertile 3		Study I, Study III	Study	II,
Parent's age	Continuous		Derived from information provided on date of birth	Study II		
Parents highest education		No qualification; Other qualification; GCSE etc.; A- level etc.; Other higher degree; Degree; missing		Study I, Study III	Study	II,
Parents' mental well- being	Continuous	The scale ranges of 0 (low functioning) to 100 (high functioning).	Measured using the Mental Component Summary scales of the 12-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-12).	Study I, Study III	Study	II,

Table 1: Individual, parental/family and neighbourhood sociodemographic predictors

Parents' physical well-being	Continuous	The scale ranges of 0 (low functioning) to 100 (high functioning).	Measured using the Physical Component Summary (PCS) of the 12-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-12).	Study II
Parent's employment status	Binary	At least one parent employed or coded for all other employment statuses		Study I, Study II, Study III
Parents' Nativity	Categorical	Both parents UK born; One parent non-UK born; Both parents non-UK born		Study I, Study II, Study III
Parental behaviour	Categorical	Leisure time; Eat dinner; Talk about important matters; Praise; Cuddle; Involve youth in rule setting Shouting; Spanking or slapping	measured by a series of questions regarding the frequency of certain activities/behaviours undertaken between parents and their children; average parental behaviour	Study II
Neighbourhood leve	l measures			
Overall ethnic density	Continuous	Higher proportion indicates higher proportion of ethnic minorities	The proportion of all the ethnic minority adults living in the respondent's MSOA. This was calculated for each ethnic group separately.	Study II, Study III
Co-ethnic density	Continuous	Higher proportion indicates higher proportion of individuals from the same ethnic minority	This is the proportion of all the individuals living in the respondent's MSOA who were of the same ethnic group. This was calculated for each ethnic group separately	Study III
Economically active	Continuous	Higher proportion indicates higher proportion of economically active labour market participants	Aggregate measure of the proportion of economically active participants in the labour market (aged 16-74) is an indicator of respondents' availability for employment, whether employed, actively looking for work, waiting to start a new job, available to start a new job, not employed or not seeking employment. It is calculated by dividing the number of economically active individuals in a MSOA by the total number of residents	Study I

Townsend index Deprivation	Continuous/Categorical	Higher scores indicated a greater level of socioeconomic deprivation within a given MSOA.	a measure of socioeconomic disadvantage consisting of four aggregate level variables gathered in the census: the percentage of households without access to a car or van; percentage of households with more than one person per room (overcrowding); percentage of households not owner-occupied (tenure); and the percentage of economically active residents who are unemployed, excluding students (Townsend et al., 1988)	Study I, Study III	Study
Crime	Categorical	Higher scores indicated a greater risk of personal and material victimisation.	Aggregated measure created from responses to the 2011 census. The domain consists of the recorded crime rate for four major types of crime (burglary, theft, criminal damage and violence)	Study II	
Living environment	Categorical	Higher scores indicated a greater deprivation of both the indoor and outdoor quality of the local environment within a given MSOA.	This measure was created from combination of four indicators (an assessment of social and private housing in poor condition, houses without central heating, air quality, road traffic accidents involving injury to pedestrians and cyclists) taken from the 2011 census.	Study II	
English language proficiency	Continuous	Higher scores indicated a greater proportion of individuals within a given MSOA that are proficient at English even though English is not their mother tongue	This aggregated measure classifies individuals whose main language was not English according to their ability to speak English. The following categories were used: can speak English very well, can speak English well, cannot speak English well, or cannot speak English. Higher scores indicated the proportion of individuals in the neighbourhood proficient in English but for whom English was not their main language	Study III	
Newly arriving immigrants	Continuous	Higher scores indicated a greater proportion of individuals who had migrated to England and moved into a particular area in the past 5 years.	An aggregated measure indicating the proportion of migrants residing in a given MSOA who had moved into the UK in the past 5 years	Study III	

II,
Routine/semi-routine workers	Continuous	Higher scores indicated a greater proportion of routine/semi-routine workers within a given MSOA.	Aggregated measure which was calculated based on responses to the 2011 census and derived from the National Statistics Socio- Economic Classification (NS-SEC), which provides an indication of socioeconomic position based on an individual's occupation	Study III
Not worried about crime	Continious	Higher scores indicated leass worry about crime.	This was measured using a single question, which asked respondents if [they] ever worry about the possibility, that [they], or anyone else who lives with you, might be the victim of crime? The initial variable was recoded into a dichotomous measure, where 1 was an indication of individuals who were not worried about being victims of a crime.	Study I
Social cohesion	Continuous	Higher scores indicated a greater sense of social cohesion within a given MSOA.	This was an aggregated area level measure created using individual responses to several items related to cohesiveness of the neighbourhood. The relationship between these measures were assessed using the Cronbachs alpha ( $\alpha$ =0.86). The items included in the measure were: belong to neighbourhood; Local friends mean a lot; Advice obtainable locally; Can borrow things from neighbours; Willing to improve neighbourhood; Plan to stay in neighbourhood; Am similar to others in neighbourhood; Talk regularly to neighbours. Each included item was initially coded from 1 [strongly disagree] to 5 [strongly agree].	Study I
Neighbourhood facilities & amenities	Continuous	Higher scores indicated a greater perception that the standards of the neighbourhood facilities and amenities were of good quality.	This was an aggregated area level measure created using individual responses to several items related to the quality of the facilities and amenities at the neighbourhood level. These included the standard of: local services: primary schools; medical; shopping; leisure; secondary schools and local transport. The items have been coded from 1 [poor facilities] to 4 [excellent facilities], and the Cronbachs alpha was shown to be $\alpha$ =0.66.	Study I

Homogenous friendship network	Continuous	Higher scores indicating neighbourhoods with higher levels of perceived homogeneity in friendship networks.	This is an aggregated area level measure created using individual responses to several items related to the quality of the facilities and amenities at the neighbourhood level. These included the proportion of friends of similar age; education, job, income, local area, and family. Items 3, 4, 6, 7 range from 1 [less than half] to 4 [all similar] whilst Items 1, 2 and 5 range from 1 [none] to 5 [all similar]. The Cronbachs alpha for this measure was $\alpha$ =0.43.	Study I
Trust & cooperative norms (α=0.78)	Continuous	Higher scores indicated higher neighbourhood trust and cooperative norms	Aggregated standarddised mean level of trust and cooperation in s given MSOA as measured by the four following items: Close-knit neighbourhood; People willing to help their neighbours; People in this neighbourhood can be trusted. Several items in this measure were reversed coded (1, 2 and 3) in order to capture aspects that are more positive. All items ranged from 1 [strongly disagree] to 5 [strongly agree]	Study I
Civic engagement	Continuous	Higher scores indicated higher levels of participation within a given MSOA.	This was measured by a single question asking respondents about their membership or lack thereof in 16 types of organizations, including political, voluntary, professional, and recreational clubs. Responses were coded as a binary measure where 1 was equal to participation in at least organisation.	Study I

Note: MSOA: Middle super output area. Source UKHLS (2015) [Waves 1-5], Linked adult and youth questionnaire aggregated at the MSOA-Level data from 2011 UK Census.

#### To answer the research questions, three empirical studies were conducted.

## **Outline of studies**

## Study I

In the first study of this dissertation, I gathered empirical evidence from multilevel linear regression models based on a random sample of 10,559 young people across 2685 neighbourhoods who participated in waves 1, 3, and 5 of the UKHLS survey. This study examined the interplay between indicators of neighbourhood social capital, individual and neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation, and their shared impact on the reported mental health and life satisfaction of young people aged 10-15 years residing in England and Wales. More specifically, I investigated whether neighbourhood social capital mediated and/or moderated the effects of socioeconomic deprivation on mental health and life satisfaction among young people.

This study adopted a broader perspective than *Study II* and *Study III*. The main reason for this was to investigate specifically the theoretical models of the effects of the neighbourhood on youth outcomes outlined by Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn (2000). Additionally, the impact of deprivation was investigated for both of the outcomes used in this study, and the initial results from these analyses suggested that there were significant ethnic differences. Therefore, more emphasis was given to disentangling the ethnic variations in mental health and life satisfaction in *Study II* and *Study II*.

Despite what might first be viewed as a more narrow perspective, *Study II* and *Study III* captured several aspects of the theoretical framework proposed by Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn (2000). By investigating the relationship between a broad range of indicators of neighbourhood composition as measured by socioeconomic

deprivation, crime and disorder, the living environment, ethnic density; parental characteristics and parental behaviours related to mental health and life satisfaction. These analyses however took a step further by exploring whether these effects were varied by ethnicity, and through in-depth assessment of the possible moderating effects of factors such as parental behaviours and ethnic density on these outcomes. The addition of ethnicity was also integral for investigating the observed social inequalities in mental health and life satisfaction in light of studies (Bécares, Nazroo, et al. 2012; Knies, Nandi, and Platt 2014) indicating that socioeconomic disadvantage was associated with mental health difficulties and low life satisfaction among adults from various ethnic minority groups, and that these groups are overrepresented in socioeconomically deprived neighbourhoods.

## Study II

The focus of this study was somewhat narrower than that of *Study I*. Its purpose was to investigate the impact of neighbourhood composition (measured by socioeconomic deprivation, an indicator for crime, the living environment and ethnic density) and parenting behaviour on mental health difficulties in young people. As in *Study I*, individual-level geocoded data from waves 1, 3 and 5 of UKHLS were merged with small area aggregated data from the 2011 UK census. To examine the relationship between neighbourhood composition and mental health difficulties, three level multilevel linear regression models were fitted to a sample of 5,513 (7,302 observations) 10–15-year-olds of varying ethnicity residing in England and Wales. Despite the rapid growth in studies on the effects of the spatial concentration of ethnic minority groups within a given geography-so-called 'ethnic density' on mental health problems among adults, studies on these effects among young people remain sparse.

Moreover, of the studies that have examined these effects, few used a national representative sample that spans the age groups examined in this study; instead, several have used regional data based in large metropolitan areas such as London (see Fagg et al. 2006; Astell-Burt et al. 2012; Harding et al. 2015; Maynard and Harding 2010; Maynard, Harding, and Minnis 2007). The effects found in such studies may reflect 'urban effects' rather than true neighbourhood effects. Consequently, this study contributes to the literature by providing additional evidence for the relationships examined and the factors most relevant for the mental health of young people.

## Study III

This third and final study in this dissertation explored the determinants and stability of reported life satisfaction among ethnic minority youths aged 10-15 years residing in England and Wales, and compared these findings with those for majority White youths. The research draws on the literature which implicates the high spatial concentration of ethnic minorities in a given area – 'ethnic density' effects and neighbourhood socioeconomic status on health. The analyses were conducted using data from the first five waves of the UKHLS merged with administrative data based on the 2011 UK census. Time trends, inter and intra-individual-level changes were examined using three-level multilevel growth models from data consisting of n=5,700 (12,468 observations) young people of varying ethnicities.

Like *Study II*, this investigation adopted a more narrow perspective to delve deeper into the development of psychopathological issues among the studied group. It was also intended to shed new light on how neighbourhood mechanisms impact young people across different ethnic groups in society. The heterogeneity of living conditions across Britain's various geographies is readily apparent from even a cursory assessment, and this variation could potentially influence the health of different groups. This study can be seen as an extension of its predecessor: *Study II* which provided evidence about how the neighbourhood, individual/family characteristics, and parental behaviour may contribute to the observed inter-ethnic variations in mental health difficulties among young people. *Study III* has on the other hand sought to identify factors that might contribute to young people holding both negative and positive perceptions of their lives. Knowledge of the factors that influence young people positively could be used to design targeted interventions that would buffer them against these difficulties and protect them from perceived negative factors.

# Study I

Neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation and social capital influences on reported mental health difficulties and life satisfaction among young people: a multilevel study from England and Wales

# Neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation and social capital influences on reported mental health difficulties and life satisfaction among young people: a multilevel study from England and Wales

#### Abstract

This study investigated whether neighbourhood social capital mediated and/or moderated the effects of socioeconomic deprivation on mental health and life satisfaction among young people aged between 10 and 15 years old residing in England and Wales. The research draws on data from two sources: Understanding Society: The UK Household Longitudinal Study (UKHLS), and administrative data taken from the 2011 UK census. The analysis comprised three-level multilevel linear regression models from a random sample of 10,559 young people across 2,685 neighbourhoods who participated in waves 1, 3, and 5 of the UKHLS survey. The results revealed that the effects of social capital on deprivation depend on whether it is analysed in terms of mediation or moderation. Social capital attenuated the negative effects of socioeconomic deprivation on mental health and life satisfaction. Specifically, the effect of deprivation is reduced by homogenous friendship networks (bonding), civic engagement (bridging), and low average neighbourhood worry about crime (indicator of general trust). As a moderator, homogenous friendship networks and civic engagement buffered young people residing in more deprived neighbourhoods from greater mental health difficulties and low life satisfaction, whilst having little or no impact on those living in less deprived neighbourhoods. Taken together, these results suggested that social capital plays a role in transmitting the effects of neighbourhood deprivation on mental health and life satisfaction among young people. The empirical evidence also highlights the importance of cultivating various forms of social capital in the neighbourhood because different components of social capital appear to offer different benefits. Finally, the results presented here suggest that future studies should

consider the possible negative effects of social capital and that the effects of social capital may be non-linear.

Keywords: life satisfaction, mental health, social capital, socioeconomic deprivation, children and adolescents, young people, strengths and difficulties questionnaire (SDQ), England and Wales.

## Introduction

There is a wealth of evidence indicating that the onset of common mental disorders, such as self-harming, personality disorders and attention-deficit disorders, usually begin at an early age and persist well into later life (Kessler et al. 2007; De Girolamo et al. 2012). The literature indicates that a growing number of young people, approximately 20% world-wide (WHO, 2016) and 10% in the UK (Green et al. 2005; Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000), suffer from some kind of mental disorder. Consequently, mental health issues impose significant social and economic costs (Department of Health 2011; Davies et al. 2013). It is therefore important to understand the determinants of these patterns and the possible mechanisms influencing young people's mental health.

Research into factors influencing the psychological health and well-being of young people, and their successful transition to adulthood, may be more balanced and effective if it examines patterns and factors related to positive indicators of well-being as well as those associated with negative functioning. Whilst there is a clear public health need to study factors that adversely affect young people's mental health, it is equally important to identify factors that promote overall well-being and can potentially buffer and protect them from mental health difficulties. A measure of life satisfaction could provide such an indication, given its purported capacity to capture both the negative and positive aspects of individual well-being and psychological functioning. Furthermore, among young people, life satisfaction has been shown to be a predictor of mental health problems such as depression up to two years before diagnosis (Lewinsohn, Redner, and Seeley 1991).

Young people are exposed to many contextual factors, and their reported mental health and life satisfaction are affected by the collective contexts that shape these interactions. Over the past two decades, a growing body of research has identified the neighbourhood as an important context for understanding and explaining observed health inequalities. Current theory identifies neighbourhood social capital as a variable that may plausibly explain the pathways through which deprivation at the area level influences the health of young people. However, few studies in the European context have investigated if, and to what extent social capital may mediate or moderate the effects of neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation and its impact on the psychological well-being of adolescents (Some exceptions are De Clercq et al., 2012; Drukker, Buka, Kaplan, McKenzie, & Van Os, 2005; Odgers et al., 2009). This work addresses this gap in the literature by providing empirical evidence on whether the variation in social capital among neighbourhoods may explain the potential differences in mental health and life satisfaction among adolescents aged 10–15 residing in England and Wales. More specifically, two research questions were examined:

(1) Is the relationship between neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation, mental health difficulties, and life satisfaction mediated by neighbourhood social capital?

(2) Is the relationship between neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation, mental health difficulties, and life satisfaction moderated by neighbourhood social capital?

## **Defining Social Capital**

In the past three decades, social capital has become an increasingly popular lens through which health disparities are investigated. It is also viewed as an important asset or set of resources, which could help with the promotion of improved health outcomes. Despite widespread usage, there is no consensus on a definition and the term is used to describe several interrelated and overlapping phenomena concerning social relations at both individual and neighbourhood levels (Coleman, 1988; Putnam et al., 1994). Social capital is described as the resources of the social structures that are accessed and mobilized for purposive actions (Kim, Subramanian, & Kawachi, 2006) and is characterized by trust, civic engagement, community reciprocity, and a sense of belonging Putnam et al. (1994).

Another commonly used distinction in the social capital literature is between bonding versus bridging social capital, and both have been shown to influence health and well-being (De Silva, McKenzie, Harpham, & Huttly, 2005b; Gilbert, Quinn, Goodman, Butler, & Wallace, 2013; Kim et al., 2006; Stafford, De Silva, Stansfeld, & Marmot, 2008). These measures have particular importance for social support, and for mobilizing solidarity (Kawachi et al., 2008a).

Bonding is often measured in terms of the relationships between similar others, homogeneity and strong norms, examples of this type of capital is the relationship between family, friends and other close-knit groups. Bridging social capital, on the other hand, is often used to describe more heterogeneous group relationships measured through indicators of civic engagement and/or trust and cooperation between groups of dissimilar status and is generally more outward focused, examples of this type of relationship are those found among colleagues, or other members of certain group organisations.

One of the most notable disagreements in the social capital literature is whether it can be described as a property of the individual or the collective (Poortinga 2006). The current study adopts the approach of Coleman (1988), who suggests that social capital is a resource of social relations between families and communities. As such social capital, may be viewed as a reciprocal and complex relationship that is shaped both by the individual and the groups in which the individual is a member (De Silva, McKenzie, Harpham, & Huttly, 2005a).

#### Why and how social capital matters for health

Social capital has been hypothesised to be creator and facilitator of health in several ways (Szreter and Woolcock 2004; Halpern and Nazroo 2000). One mechanisms identified is the reduction of individual physiological responses to stress by influencing self-esteem and health beahviours (e.g. smoking, exercise, and health service utilization) (Berkman, Glass, Brissette, & Seeman, 2000). Another is the related to the idea that social capital buffers and protects individuals from adverse life events and risks that might negatively influence their health (Drukker et al., 2005; Ungar, 2011).

These mechanisms may operate directly and indirectly. Young people who possess their own social capital (Morrow, 1999; Weller & Bruegel, 2009), for instance based on their social media networks or through participation in sporting activities and other voluntary organisations, accrue direct benefits. However, these may operate in ways that this study was not able to capture due to a lack of measures.

As an indirect recipient of social capital, parents play a vital role in the development and facilitation of their children's capital, by providing them with access to a wider social context (Leventhal & Brooks-Gunn, 2000; Roosa, Jones, Tein, & Cree, 2003). For instance, they may be the recipient's neighbourhood level of social capital. By residing in neighbourhoods with higher levels of certain aspects of social capital, residents may be better able to organize and create opportunities for acquiring, improving and maintaining facilities that are linked to, and important for health such as housing education and health care.

Furthermore, as an indirect recipient of social capital, they may also derive benefits from neighbourhood social capital by participating in networks through which they may obtain support, encourage, and/or benefit from the transference of knowledge directly by gaining contact through their parents social networks (Edwards and Bromfield 2010; Aminzadeh et al. 2013; De Clercq et al. 2012).

Mediators of social trust, such as worry about crime, deter residents from actively partaking in outdoor activities or having the opportunity to participate in wider community activities. These activities would for example be more likely to occur within neighbourhoods with no worry about crime. Therefore, neighbourhoods characterised by social trust, social cohesion and worry about crime, might affect the residents opportunity for participation in these activities and as a consequence their health (Sampson, Raudenbush, and Earls 1997).

Social capital influences the health of young people through its interaction with wider social, political, economic and environmental determinants of health. The evidence indicates that identical socioeconomic conditions may affect the health of adolescents differently depending on individual circumstances, as well as, the amount of social capital to which they are exposed (De Clercq et al., 2012; Drukker et al., 2005; Kerri et al., 2013; Vyncke et al., 2013). Indeed, prior studies found that social capital mediated the negative effects socioeconomic deprivations; after taking into account individual, family and neighbourhood characteristics individuals residing in these neighbourhoods reported better mental health outcomes (De Silva et al., 2005a; Kerri, Kerr, Cheater, & Morgan, 2013).

Several studies indicate that the impact of social capital is not equally distributed. For instance, Drukker et al. (2005) found that the interaction between social capital and higher levels of deprivation was associated with lower levels of perceived health. When indicators of mental health are examined, the quantity and quality of young people's social network was associated with fewer internalising problems but these results varied by neighbourhood deprivation (Kerri et al. 2013). Similarly, there is some evidence that factors that are protective in lower risk contexts may not be as powerful in contexts of extreme risks. In fact, several studies have found that some protective factors are diminished in the context of severe disadvantage (De Clercq et al., 2012; Vanderbilt-Adriance & Shaw, 2008). It is therefore important to determine whether protective factors work similarly across levels of neighbourhood disadvantage or whether the benefits are limited to specific contexts.

## Theoretical framework

From a theoretical perspective, parental social capital has been suggested to be an intermediate measure in the relationship between social capital and youth health outcomes (Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2000; Roosa et al. 2003). Parental social capital may influence the values, attitudes and attributes of parents that will ultimately affect youth outcomes. This type of capital may be especially important at the neighbourhood level. This is because parents are better placed to affect social and structural changes, which in turn, may affect factors such as the quality of schools, street lighting, and other facilities, and which then have important consequences for the development of young people. In line with this, Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn (2000) proposed several models to explain these relationships.

The first of these, they referred to as the institutional resources model and this outlines how material conditions in the neighbourhood influences the accessibility, availability and quality of vital services and facilities. They posit that the combination of these factors together with individual, family and the characteristics of the neighbourhood affect young people's health. This model suggests further that the physical and psychosocial conditions of the neighbourhood are intricately linked due to factors such as selective sorting into neighbourhoods. In this study, institutional resources are conceptualised as (a) the quality of neighbourhood facilities (schools, leisure, shopping, medical, and transport), and (b) worry about crime in the neighbourhood (Aminzadeh et al., 2013; Flouri, Midouhas, Joshi, & Sullivan, 2015; Sampson, Raudenbush, & Earls, 1997). These resources are commonly referred to in the literature and have been shown to be an important mediator of social trust (Putnam, 2007; Sturgis, Brunton-Smith, Read, & Allum, 2011) and social cohesion respectively (Drukker et al. 2005)

The second model proposed by Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn (2000) norms and collective efficacy model suggests that neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation erodes the relationships needed to produce and facilitate the growth of social capital within a neighbourhood, and this in turn affects youth outcomes (Leventhal & Brooks-Gunn, 2000, 2001). Evidence that socioeconomic disadvantages may undermine social capital is demonstrated by research showing a social gradient in the patterning of social capital, whereby low individual socioeconomic status is associated with low levels of civic engagement and communal participation, less diverse social networks and weaker social support (De Clercq et al., 2012; Marmot, 2004). In this work, norms and collective efficacy are conceptualized as (a) trust and cooperative norms, (b) social cohesion, (c) civic engagement, and (d) friendship networks.

## **Hypotheses**

Based on the above discussion, and the research questions outlined, the current study considers two pathways (mediation and moderation) through which neighbourhood social capital might influence the relationship between neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation and mental health difficulties and low life satisfaction among young



Figure 1: Conceptual models of the influence of neighbourhood social capital as (a) mediator of neighbourhood deprivation (b) a moderator of neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation on reported mental health and life satisfaction among young people (aged 10-15)

The model depicted in Figure 1a assumes that deprivation is mediated by neighbourhood social capital. Mediation effects are determined by whether the magnitude or sign in the variable of interest increases or decreases when additional predictors are included in the model. By doing so, evidence on whether neighbourhood social capital explains variations in mental health and life satisfaction of young people might be obtained.

Figure 1b assumes however, that deprivation is moderated by neighbourhood social capital. The moderation effects, refers to the multiplicative (interaction) effect of neighbourhood social capital and deprivation on the mental health and life satisfaction

of young people. By investigating moderation effects, it is possible to explore the differential influence of social capital, given various levels of neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation. Moderation models of social capital may provide insights into how social intervention programmes may be best designed to target groups most in need. The three hypotheses tested are outlined below.

Hypothesis 1: High levels of neighbourhood social capital protects (mediation) young people from mental health difficulties and low life satisfaction by mediating the effects of living in more socioeconomically disadvantaged neighbourhoods.

Hypothesis 2: High levels of neighbourhood social capital buffers and protects (moderation) adolescents from mental health difficulties and low life satisfaction by moderating the effects of living in more socioeconomically disadvantaged neighbourhoods.

Over and above, these hypotheses we also considered the effect of deprivation at varying levels of social capital through an examination of the marginal mean effects at representative values. This therefore leads us to the third and final hypothesis.

Hypothesis 3. High levels of neighbourhood social capital have a weaker effect on the mental health and life satisfaction of young people living in less deprived neighbourhoods.

It is important to note that while this discussion focuses on two conceptual models, there is also a third and very real possibility that mental health, life satisfaction and social capital share a common cause: neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation. However, such a model would be empirically indistinguishable from the model proposed in figure 1a, this was therefore was not considered further.

## Methodology

#### Data and study sample

Data for this analysis were drawn from multiple sources. Individual-level data were taken from waves 1, 3, and 5 of *Understanding Society*, the *UKHLS* (University of Essex – Institute for Social and Economic Research 2015), while neighbourhood-level data were based on geocoded administrative data collected in the 2011 UK census (ONS 2017).

Individual data: The *UKHLS* is an annual longitudinal household panel survey that started in 2009, with a nationally representative and stratified cluster sample of around 40,000 households living in the United Kingdom. Within households where adults were interviewed, oral consent was obtained from parents and/or guardians for household members aged 10–15 to complete a self-reported questionnaire. The sample for this study therefore consisted of children of adult panel members, for whom parental consent to participate was granted, and who responded to the questionnaire (Knies 2017b).

Neighbourhood data: Neighbourhood data were derived from geocoded, censusdefined small area statistics at the so-called middle super output area (MSOA) level. MSOAs have a minimum residential size of 5,000 individuals and 3,000 households, with an average population size of 7,500. The use of MSOAs made it possible to link aggregated area-level variables taken from the 2011 census to the *UKHLS*.

Despite the widespread usage of MSOAs to delineate neighbourhood geographic boundaries in academic studies from across the UK, this measure was created with a particular purpose in mind. This means that the 'artificial' delineation may not accurately capture or measure all the aspects relevant to how people live. Using MSOAs could limit for instance measures such as social capital used in this study. As such, lower geographic measures could potentially lead to stronger effects. However, this was the lowest level of aggregation permissible for this study due to concerns surrounding the identification of study participants.

Final sample: The final analytical sample for this study was an unbalanced panel consisting of 10,559 young people (i.e. children aged between 10-12 years old and adolescents 13-15 years old) clustered in 2,685 neighbourhoods. Changes in the survey sample arose because of list-wise deletions due to internal data missing on relevant variables, attrition and new participants included in the survey. Attrition may have occurred across the waves because: (a) the survey team lost contact with a family who participated in an earlier wave; (b) a young person deciding not to respond to the survey; (c) or an individual classified initially as being a youth (aged 10-15) became ineligible to participate in the survey as a part of the youth panel (i.e. turned age 16). Sample changes also occurred when younger children became eligible for inclusion upon reaching the age of 10 and thus entered the youth panel, and when children of an appropriate age joined households participating in the survey.

## **Dependent** variables

Two dependent variables were assessed from data available at the time of the study. The first, *Mental health difficulty* was measured using the responses provided in waves 1, 3 and 5 of the self-reported version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ). At the time of application for data usage, only five waves of UKHLS data were available, spanning the period 2009/2010 to 2013/2014. However, participants are asked to complete the items relating to the SDQ on a rotating basis, i.e. every other wave. As such, only three waves were included in the study.

The SDQ is a widely-used, cross-nationally (Kersten et al. 2016; Goodman et al. 2011; Hoosen et al. 2018) and multi-ethnic (Richter et al. 2011; Mieloo et al. 2013) validated screening instrument that includes 25 items and five subscales suggested to capture four areas of potential difficulty (emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity-inattention, peer relationship problems) and one area of strength (prosocial behaviour) (Goodman 1997; Goodman, Meltzer, and Bailey 1998). Respondents were able to identify the severity of their problems by choosing one option from a 3-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 (not true) to 2 (certainly true). The summed scores ranged from 0 to 40, with higher scores indicating greater mental health difficulties. A list of the items used to create this measure may be found in Appendix A1.

The second dependent variable, an overall assessment of *life satisfaction*, was measured by a single item that asked respondents to choose from seven pictorial representations expressing more or less satisfaction with ones life. Similar to other studies, responses were reversed coded so that higher scores indicated greater life satisfaction (see for e.g. Knies 2017a; Shields and Wailoo 2002). This particular measure of life satisfaction has not been cross-culturally validated. But, single-item measures of life satisfaction has been widely used and accepted as an indicator of overall well-being both among adults and young people (Van Praag, Frijters, and Ferrer-i-Carbonell 2003; Kahneman and Krueger 2006; Proctor, Linley, and Maltby 2009; Shields and Wailoo 2002; Diener 2000)

## Individual and family measures

Indicators previously shown to be related to young people's mental health and life satisfaction (youth age, gender and ethnicity), alongside the socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of their parents were included in the models (Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000; Green et al. 2005; Fagg et al. 2006; Webb et al. 2017; Maynard, Harding, and Minnis 2007; Astell-Burt et al. 2012). The parental measures included were: lone parent households; household income in tertiles; parents' nativity; at least one parent in the household working; length of residency in the neighbourhood; parents' highest education; and parental mental health (see SF-12, Appendix A2), where a zero score indicates the lowest level of health and 100 indicates the highest level of health. Earlier studies have indicated that these parental characteristics may predispose families to live in particular neighbourhoods (Fagg et al. 2006; Stansfeld et al. 2004; Maynard, Harding, and Minnis 2007; Astell-Burt et al. 2012) and may influence their relationship with the wider neighbourhood environment, as such controlling for these factors should reduce somewhat selection bias (Van Ham et al. 2012).

All parental variables were averaged between the two parents, with the exception of education, where an indicator for the parent with the highest level of educational attainment was included in the models. If a child resided in a single-parent household, then the information for that parent is used. Across all the waves, 92% of this information came from the mothers. Finally, an indicator for time of data collection (*wave*) was included in the models.

#### Neighbourhood measures

## Social capital

This was measured at wave 3 of the UKHLS survey and was based on six separate indicators of the parental perceptions of various aspects of social capital within their neighbourhoods. The measures were created by aggregating the standardized mean responses at the neighbourhood level (i.e. within each MSOA), and was coded so that each indicator coded reflected higher levels of social capital. Further given that each indicator represented the aggregated score across each MSOA, they may be considered as the average social and physical resources available in the neighbourhood. Similar operationalisation of social capital may be found in earlier studies (Odgers et al. 2009; Edwards and Bromfield 2010; Aminzadeh et al. 2013; Drukker et al. 2005).The measures were as follows:

*Not worried about crime:* was measured using a single question, which asked respondents if they ever worry about the possibility, that they, or anyone else who lives with [you], might be the victim of crime? The initial variable was recoded into a dichotomous measure, where 1 was an indication of individuals who were not worried about being victims of a crime. After averaging this measure across all the neighbourhoods, the scale ranged from 0 to 1 (mean = 0.52, SD = 0.22), with respondents less worried about being victims of crime victims of crime reporting higher scores.

*Quality of the neighbourhood facilities and amenities:* was measured by assessing the standard of six local services: primary schools, secondary schools, medical services, shopping, leisure and local transportation. Responses were scored on a four point scale ranging from 1 [poor facilities] to 4 [excellent facilities]. The Cronbach's alpha indicated a relatively high internal consistency ( $\alpha = 0.66$ ) and averaging across neighbourhoods gives a scale that ranges from -0.75 to 0.53 (mean = -0.01; SD = 0.14). Higher scores indicated a greater perception that the standards of the neighbourhood facilities and amenities were of good quality.

*Social cohesion*: was measured using the responses to 8 items which asked respondent to indicate the degree to which they agree with statements related to how they feel about their neighbourhoods. In particular, respondents were asked about their feelings of belonging; friendships and associations; the possibility of getting advice; borrowing things and exchanging favours; willingness to work together to make improvements; plans to remain a resident; similarity with respect to others and, the frequency that they stopped and talk with people. Responses were scored on a five point scale ranging from (1= strongly agree to 5 = strongly disagree). Together the correlation between the items (ranged from r = .27 to r = 0.65) and the relatively high Cronbach's alpha for internal consistency ( $\alpha$ =0.86) implied that there was a single underlying latent factor that could be termed social cohesion. All the items were reverse coded and an overall score was then calculated for each MSOA, the sum of which ranged -0.38 to 0.44 (mean = 0, SD) = 0.07) with higher scores indicating greater average neighbourhood social cohesion. Trust and cooperative norms: was measured using the responses to four items asking respondents to indicate the degree to which they agree with several statements about their neighbourhoods. These were, if they thought that they resided: (a) in a close-knit neighbourhood; (b) in a neighbourhood where people were willing to help each other; (c) in a neighbourhood where people can be trusted and; (d) in a neighbourhood where people don't get along with each other. Responses were scored on a five point scale ranging from (1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree). All items were recoded to indicate positive relationships. The four items ranged from -0.71 to 0.73 (mean = -0.01, SD = 0.14) with a Cronbach's alpha for internal consistency ( $\alpha = 0.78$ ). Higher scores in this measure reflected higher neighbourhood trust and cooperative norms.

*Homogenous friendship network:* was captured using a measure of the similarity of the respondent's networks with respect to age, ethnicity, occupation, education, income, proportion of friends residing locally, and the proportion who were family members. The measure ranged from -1.48 to 1.36 (mean = -0.03, SD = 0.24) and an assessment of the reliability and internal consistency of the items indicated a moderately low

Cronbach's alpha of ( $\alpha$ =0.43), with higher scores indicating neighbourhoods with higher levels of perceived homogeneity in friendship networks.

*Civic engagement:* was measured by a question asking respondents about their membership or lack thereof in 16 types of organizations, including political, voluntary, professional, and recreational clubs. Responses were coded as a binary measure where 1 was equal to participation in at least one organisation. Average civic participation ranged from 0 to 1 (mean = 0.46, SD = 0.23), with higher scores indicating neighbourhoods with higher levels of perceived civic engagement.

Both worry about crime and the quality of the neighbourhood facilities and amenities are often used in the literature and have been shown to be important mediators of social trust (Sturgis et al. 2011; Putnam 2007) and social cohesion respectively (Drukker et al. 2005).

## Socioeconomic deprivation

This was measured using two indicators, (a) the *Townsend deprivation index* and (b) the *proportion of economically active individuals in a neighbourhood*. The Townsend deprivation index was created using census data aggregated at the middle super output area level and consists of four measures aimed at capturing the material conditions of a given area. These measures were: the percentage of households without access to a car or van, percentage of households with more than one person per room (overcrowding), percentage of households not owner-occupied (tenure) and the percentage of economically active residents who are unemployed, excluding students (Townsend, Phillimore, and Beattie 1988). Higher scores indicate higher levels of deprivation. The proportion of economically active participants in the labour market (aged 16-74) is an indicator of respondents' availability for employment, whether

employed, actively looking for work, waiting to start a new job, availability to start a new job, not employed or not seeking employment. It is calculated by dividing the number of economically active individuals in an area by the total number of residents (ONS Census 2011b).

Whilst the Townsend index, provides an overall measure of the socioeconomic conditions of the neighbourhood, the proportion of unemployed individuals within a given neighbourhood is a reflection of a single economic status, and one, which may be temporary. Further, earlier studies have found that parental unemployment is significantly related to the psychological well-being of young people (Powdthavee and Vernoit 2012).

An examination of the correlation between the Townsend deprivation index and the proportion of economically active individuals showed that these measures were moderately correlated r=-0.53 (p-value 0.000). As such, it seems that the positive association found between mental health and the proportion of economically active individuals appears to be explained by the fact that, within deprived neighbourhoods, there is a high proportion of job seekers and underemployed individuals.

#### Statistical analysis

In order to account for the hierarchical nature of the data, and to avoid an underestimation of the standard errors while improving precision in the estimates, three-level multilevel linear regression models were fitted. In its simplest form, the models are represented by the equation below:

$$y_{ijk} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_{1ijk} + \beta_2 X_{2j} + \beta_3 X_{3k} + v_k + u_{jk} + e_{ijk}$$
(1)

where youth-waves *ijk* are nested youth *jk* who are in turn nested in neighbourhoods *k*.  $v_k$  and  $u_{jk}$  are neighbourhood and individual random intercepts which like the The multilevel models used in this study accounted for the fact that the data consisted of repeated measures (from waves 1, 3 and 5) of reported mental health and life satisfaction (level 1) for young people (level 2) clustered within neighbourhoods (level 3). Applying this type of multilevel model meant that one is able to partition and explain the variation within-individuals over time, between-individuals and between neighbourhoods. Moreover, by using a multilevel model, we can account for the fact that the *UKHLS* sampled young people from the same MSOAs, and thus control for the similarities in these neighbourhoods while increasing the precision of the estimates. An additional benefit is controlling for the correlation between the repeated responses among the same individual. The models outlined in Table 1 were analysed sequentially and separately for mental health and life satisfaction.

Table 1	: Summary of main models tested.
Model	Specification
Model 1	Wave <sup>b</sup>
Model 2	Model 1 + covariates <sup>c</sup>
Model 3	Model 2 + socioeconomic deprivation (per MSOA) <sup>d</sup> + proportion economically active (per MSOA)
Model 4	Model 3 + social capital <sup>e</sup>
Model 5	Model 4 + social capital interacted with neighbourhood deprivation
a <b>F</b> 11	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>*a*</sup> For all models, random intercepts and slopes are specified at both the neighbourhood and youth levels with covariance so that the intercept and slopes can be correlated.

<sup>*d*</sup> Measured using the Townsend deprivation index.

<sup>e</sup> Measures of social capital: Worried about crime ; social cohesion ; neighbourhood facilities & amenities ; Friendship networks ; trust & cooperative norms ; civic engagement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Wave indicates the data collection period (wave 1=2009, wave 3=2011, wave 5=2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Youth age, gender, ethnicity; lone parent households; household income in tertiles; parents' nativity; at least one parent in the household working; length of residency in the neighbourhood; parents' highest education; parental mental health.

Model 1: assesses the within and between associations related to mental health and life satisfaction over time.

Model 2: is the same as above, and it assessed whether the individual/family predictors was associated with mental health and life satisfaction.

Model 3: was the same as model 2 and assesses whether over and above the individual/family predictors, neighbourhood deprivation was associated with mental health and life satisfaction.

Model 4: was the same as model 3, except that its fixed part includes the effect of parental perception of neighbourhood social capital. This model estimates whether social capital is significantly associated with the mental health and life satisfaction of young people. In addition, one is able to determine whether the inclusion of social capital mediates the impact of deprivation on mental health and life satisfaction.

Model 5: was the same as model 4, except that its fixed part includes an interaction between parental perception of neighbourhood social capital and deprivation. This model estimates therefore the extent to which neighbourhood-level social capital moderates the effect of deprivation on the mental health and life satisfaction of young people.

## Marginal means

In addition to the above analysis, the estimated marginal mean effects at representative values was investigated to determine the impact of average parental perceptions of neighbourhood social capital on deprivation, and whether this explained the variations in mental health and life satisfaction. These models examined the effect of deprivation on mental health and life satisfaction when a given measure of social capital was approximately 20%, 40%, 60% and 80% respectively of the responses in a neighbourhood. The results of these models are presented graphically.

Marginal means provide a measure of the change in a given outcome as a function of a change in a given predictor(s), when the other covariates are held at their means (Cameron and Trivedi 2005). It is suggested that this provides a more substantive and practical explanation of the relationship between various measures (Williams 2012). Instead of simply presenting an indication of whether the relationship between measures are significant or non-significant marginal means offers a broader explanation of the observed relationships.

## Sensitivity analyses

The hierarchical multilevel model used in this analysis was the more parsimonious of two models. Because some the sample members moved to new neighbourhoods between the data collection periods, the data structure could be considered cross-classified. Sensitivity analyses indicated that approximately 3% (160) of sample had moved between waves. However, an examination of the impact of these moves indicated that they had a negligible effect on the magnitude and strength of the results obtained using the three-level hierarchical model. Therefore, results obtained with the more parsimonious model are shown.

Beyond the models described above, additional models were tested to evaluate if the model outcomes differed significantly when, each of the six social capital measures were modelled separately (models not shown here but available upon request). These results did not differ significantly from those shown.

## Results

## **Descriptive results**

Descriptive statistics for the individual, family and neighbourhood predictors are presented in Table 3. The majority of sample participants were White (63%), Asian (11%) or did not include their ethnicity (16%), were on average 12.5 (SD=1.7) years old, and were almost equally spread across the three cohorts studied. The social, economic and demographic profile of the majority of parents was a GCSE-level education, at least one of them employed, residents in their given neighbourhood for 10 years or more, born in the UK and generally had good mental health. The average neighbourhood deprivation and proportion economically active values were relatively low at 0.57 and 0.69, respectively, but with wide variation across neighbourhoods.

Table 2: Individual, family and neighbourhood characteristics for the total sample and the sample at each wave									
Unweighted n(%) Total sample (n=10,559)		Wave 1 (n=	=4,171)	Wave 3 (n	Wave 3 (n=3,509)		Wave 5 (n=2,879)		
Individual level measures									
Youth is a girl	5,268	49.9	2,102	50.4	1,758	50.1	1,410	48.91	
Youth cohorts									
1999	1,688	15.9	667	15.9	564	16.1	457	15.9	
1998	1,707	16.2	692	16.6	541	15.4	474	16.5	
1997	1,833	17.4	688	16.6	618	17.6	527	18.3	
1996	1,788	16.9	720	17.3	590	16.8	478	16.6	
1995	1,803	17.1	697	16.7	617	17.6	489	16.9	
1994	1,740	16.5	707	16.9	579	16.5	454	15.8	
Youth ethnicity									
White	6,636	62.9	2,643	63.4	2,217	63.2	1,776	61.7	
Mixed	466	4.4	193	4.6	149	4.3	124	4.3	
Asian	1,203	11.4	541	12.9	360	10.3	302	10.5	
Black	599	5.7	292	7.0	175	4.9	132	4.6	
All other ethnicity	55	0.5	19	0.5	26	0.7	10	0.4	
Missing	1,600	15.6	483	11.6	582	16.6	535	18.6	
Single parent household	2,680	25.4	1,133	27.2	859	24.5	688	23.9	
Parent's nativity									
Both parents UK born	8,019	77.6	3,142	77.5	2,696	78.3	2,181	77.0	
1 parent non-UK born	1,193	11.6	428	10.6	419	12.2	346	12.2	
Both parents non-UK born	1,118	10.8	486	11.9	328	9.5	304	10.7	
Parent's highest education	1								
No qualification	689	6.5	374	8.9	197	5.6	118	4.1	
Other qualification	644	6.1	312	7.5	194	5.5	138	4.8	
GCSE etc	2,144	20.3	878	21.1	711	20.3	555	19.3	
A-level etc	2,085	19.8	775	18.6	728	20.8	582	20.2	
Other high degre	1,592	15.1	658	15.8	506	14.4	428	14.9	
Degree	3,145	29.8	1,053	25.3	1,093	31.2	999	34.7	
Missing	260	2.5	121	2.9	80	2.3	59	2.1	
Length of residency									
1 year or less	326	3.5	302	7.5	18	0.6	6	0.3	
2 - 3 years	720	7.7	474	11.8	222	7.7	24	1.0	
4-10 years	3,996	42.9	1,672	41.6	1,292	44.7	1,032	43.1	
10 years or more	4,264	45.8	1,57	39.1	1,361	47.0	1,333	55.7	

Parents' mental well-being	9,909	48.5(9.1) [0/71.6]	4,029	48.9(9.5)	3,221	48.1(8.9)	2,659	48.1(8.8)
M(SD) [range]				[3.0/69.7]		[0/71.6]		[9.0/69.3]
At least one parent works	8,500	82.3	3,175	78.2	2,857	83.0	2,468	87.2
Household income								
Tertile 1	3,520	33.3	1,759	42.2	1,005	28.6	756	26.3
Tertile 2	3,521	33.4	1,336	32.0	1,212	34.5	973	33.8
Tertile 3	3,518	33.3	1,076	25.8	1,292	36.8	1,15	39.9
Neighbourhood level measure	ure							
Economically active	10,559	0.69(0.06)	4,171	0.69(.06)	3,509	0.69(.06)	2,879	0.69(0.57)
M(SD) [range]		[0.32/.88]		[.32/.87]		[.32/.86]		[0.44/0.86]
Townsend Deprivation	9,815	0.57(2.31)	3,899	0.72(2.39)	3,247	0.46(2.25)	2,669	0.46(2.26)
M(SD) [range]		[-2.59/9.22]		[-2.59/9.22]		[-2.59/9.22]		[-2.59/9.22]

Source: UK Household Longitudinal Survey (2015) [waves 1, 3, and 5]. Linked adult and youth questionnaire with aggregated MSOA-level data from the 2011 census.

## Mental health

Table 3 presents the regression coefficients (standard errors) for the association between socioeconomic deprivation, social capital and the reporting of mental health difficulties among young people. Based on the intra-class correlation (ICC) - a measure of dependency in clustered data - the results from Model 1 showed that most of the variation in mental health was at the youth level. The ICC indicated that 62% of the stable variation could be attributed to the individual while 11% could be attributed to the neighbourhood. This indicated further that a substantial proportion of the variation (approximately 27%) had not been accounted for in this model. Logically it can be assumed that this was a combination of inter- and intra-individual changes in mental health among young people over time, and that it might be the result of normal fluctuations, measurement error and/or random noise. This variation remained unexplained because in later models, even after full adjustment for the individual and family-level predictors and neighbourhood (10%) variation remained.

An examination of the fixed effects (Models 2) showed that in comparison to White youths, Asian and Black youths had significantly better mental health. Young people who have at least one parent who is non-UK born, parents who reported a high mental functioning, residing in a neighbourhood for 10 years or more were associated with better mental health. The results indicated further that the average reports of mental health difficulty was not significantly different at each data collection point. However, significant increases in the reporting of mental health difficulties by cohorts over time were seen, with older cohorts more likely to report greater mental health difficulties. In addition, a negative correlation was found between the intercept and slope at both the youth and neighbourhood levels, suggesting that both young people and neighbourhoods with better mental health at the baseline tended to show the most deterioration over time.

With regards to the neighbourhood effects, the results indicated that the conceptual models (Figure 1a and Figure 1b) and the proposed hypotheses that social capital at the neighbourhood level would mediate or moderate the negative effect of area level deprivation on mental health were partially confirmed by the results. This was because only two of the six measures significantly related to mental health.

The results of the mediation model, which assesses if social capital buffers young people residing in deprived areas from mental health difficulties (Hypothesis 1, Model 4), demonstrated that some indicators of social capital matter for the mental health of young people. In particular, the results indicated that neighbourhood civic engagement and homogenous friendship networks attenuated the effects of deprivation. All other social capital measures were non-significant.

The hypothesis that parental social capital was a moderator for deprivation was also partially borne out by the current results (Hypothesis 2, Model 5). The results from this model indicated an inverse relationship between civic engagement and deprivation. Showing that, at low levels of deprivation, civic engagement and homogenous friendship networks were associated with increased mental health difficulties. Although at high levels of deprivation these measures of social capital were associated with better mental health, they did not fully compensate for residing in areas of greater deprivation.

health difficulties among young people aged 10-15 years old living in England and Wales.										
Variables	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3		Model 4		Model 5	
	b	se	b	se	b	se	b	se	b	se
Fixed Effects										
Constant	10.83***	(0.11)	15.49***	(0.54)	13.30***	(1.17)	14.16***	(1.23)	14.47***	(1.24)
Wave	-0.05	(0.03)	-0.02	(0.04)	-0.02	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.04)
youth is a girl			-0.13	(0.13)	-0.10	(0.14)	-0.10	(0.14)	-0.10	(0.14)
Youth Cohorts (ref:1999)										
1998			-0.51**	(0.19)	-0.55**	(0.20)	-0.53**	(0.20)	-0.53**	(0.20)
1997			-0.46**	(0.17)	-0.46**	(0.17)	-0.41*	(0.17)	-0.42*	(0.17)
1996			-0.47*	(0.19)	-0.39*	(0.20)	-0.39+	(0.20)	-0.38+	(0.20)
1995			-0.19	(0.19)	-0.19	(0.19)	-0.19	(0.20)	-0.19	(0.20)
1994			-0.04	(0.20)	0.06	(0.21)	0.06	(0.21)	0.07	(0.21)
Youth ethnicity (ref: white)										
Mixed			-0.42	(0.29)	-0.44	(0.30)	-0.46	(0.31)	-0.47	(0.31)
Asians			-0.74**	(0.25)	-0.75**	(0.26)	-0.74**	(0.27)	-0.70**	(0.27)
Blacks			-1.32***	(0.30)	-1.43***	(0.31)	-1.48***	(0.32)	-1.47***	(0.32)
All other ethnicity			-0.38	(0.81)	-0.42	(0.81)	-0.53	(0.82)	-0.54	(0.83)
Missing			0.07	(0.17)	0.08	(0.18)	0.06	(0.18)	0.06	(0.18)
Single parent household			0.17	(0.18)	0.08	(0.19)	0.09	(0.19)	0.07	(0.19)
Parents nativity (ref:UK born)								. ,		
1 parent non-UK born			-0.53*	(0.23)	-0.63*	(0.25)	-0.65**	(0.25)	-0.67**	(0.25)
Both parents non-UK born			-0.84**	(0.27)	-0.94***	(0.28)	-0.97***	(0.28)	-0.97***	(0.28)
Parents' highest education (ref:	No qualific	ation)		× ,		· · ·				
Other qualification	-		1.10**	(0.36)	1.18**	(0.37)	1.09**	(0.38)	1.04**	(0.38)
GCSE etc			0.39	(0.30)	0.43	(0.31)	0.40	(0.31)	0.36	(0.31)

Table 3: Multilevel linear models investigating the mediating and moderating role of neighbourhood social capital on mental health difficulties among young people aged 10-15 years old living in England and Wales.

0.22	(0.31)	0.35	(0.32)	0.33	(0.32)	0.32	(0.32)			
0.11	(0.32)	0.16	(0.33)	0.13	(0.33)	0.11	(0.33)			
-0.44	(0.31)	-0.35	(0.32)	-0.36	(0.32)	-0.36	(0.32)			
2.38	(1.50)	2.46+	(1.50)	2.38	(1.50)	2.25	(1.50)			
-0.41	(0.33)	-0.47	(0.35)	-0.52	(0.35)	-0.52	(0.35)			
-0.51	(0.31)	-0.52	(0.33)	-0.57+	(0.33)	-0.58+	(0.33)			
-1.18***	(0.32)	-1.19***	(0.33)	-1.25***	(0.34)	-1.24***	(0.34)			
-0.07***	(0.01)	-0.06***	(0.01)	-0.06***	(0.01)	-0.06***	(0.01)			
-0.25	(0.18)	-0.32+	(0.19)	-0.25	(0.19)	-0.27	(0.19)			
	. ,				. ,		. ,			
0.27 +	(0.15)	0.32*	(0.15)	0.32*	(0.16)	0.32*	(0.16)			
0.05	(0.17)	0.06	(0.18)	0.08	(0.18)	0.10	(0.18)			
		2.71 +	(1.52)	2.25	(1.54)	2.00	(1.55)			
		0.09*	(0.05)	0.06	(0.05)	0.00	(0.13)			
				-0.57	(0.36)	-0.55	(0.37)			
						0.03	(0.17)			
				0.52	(0.59)	0.70	(0.60)			
						0.35	(0.31)			
				-0.78*	(0.38)	-0.82*	(0.39)			
						0.33+	(0.18)			
				-0.83*	(0.34)	-1.01**	(0.35)			
						0.37*	(0.15)			
				-0.30	(0.58)	-0.19	(0.60)			
						-0.29	(0.25)			
				-0.78	(1.09)	-0.66	(1.15)			
	0.22 0.11 -0.44 2.38 -0.41 -0.51 -1.18*** -0.07*** -0.25 0.27+ 0.05	$\begin{array}{ccccc} 0.22 & (0.31) \\ 0.11 & (0.32) \\ -0.44 & (0.31) \\ 2.38 & (1.50) \\ \hline & -0.51 & (0.31) \\ -1.18^{***} & (0.32) \\ -0.07^{***} & (0.01) \\ -0.25 & (0.18) \\ \hline & 0.27+ & (0.15) \\ 0.05 & (0.17) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			
Social cohesion*deprivation									0.18	(0.49)
--	-----------	--------	----------	--------	----------	--------	----------	--------	----------	--------
Variance components neigh	bourhoods									· · ·
Slope	0.18***	(0.08)	0.15***	(0.08)	0.19***	(0.09)	0.19***	(0.09)	0.19***	(0.09)
Between neighbourhoods	3.57***	(0.85)	3.09***	(0.87)	3.17***	(0.91)	3.14***	(0.92)	3.03***	(0.92)
Intercept/slope covariance	-0.35*	(0.23)	-0.36*	(0.24)	-0.39*	(0.25)	-0.42*	(0.25)	-0.42*	(0.25)
Variance components youth	l									
Slope	0.46*	(0.14)	0.50*	(0.15)	0.52*	(0.15)	0.53*	(0.16)	0.53*	(0.16)
within										
neighbourhood/between										
youths	17.47***	(1.53)	16.67***	(1.59)	17.32***	(1.66)	17.44***	(1.67)	17.50***	(1.68)
Intercept/slope covariance	-1.15***	(0.43)	-1.17***	(0.46)	-1.37***	(0.48)	-1.39***	(0.48)	-1.39***	(0.48)
within youth/wave	12.71***	(0.47)	12.58***	(0.51)	12.46***	(0.53)	12.41***	(0.54)	12.41***	(0.54)
Notes: Significant at $+ p < 0.01$ , $* p < 0.05$ , $* p < 0.01$ , $* * p < 0.001$ . Standard errors in parentheses. <sup>a</sup> Higher coefficients indicate greater mental health difficulties. <sup>b</sup> Higher										

coefficients indicate better life satisfaction

Source: UK Household Longitudinal Survey (2015) [waves 1, 3, and 5]. Linked adult and youth questionnaire with aggregated MSOA-level data from census 2011.

#### Marginal effects of deprivation and social capital on mental health

The estimated marginal mean effects at representative values as described above is used to explain and describe the pattern of relationships without consideration for whether these effects are significant or not. This is done by plotting the relationship between predicted mental health difficulties conditioned upon deprivation and each of the social capital indicators in Figure 2a-2f. An investigation of the marginal effects also allow for the examination of hypothesis 3.



Figure 2a-2f: Estimated marginal mean effects (at representative values) of neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation and neighbourhood social capital on mental health among young people aged 10-15. *Notes: The model adjusts for cohort, wave, youth gender and ethnicity, lone parent households, household income, parents' nativity, at least one parent in the household working, length of residency in the neighbourhood, parents' highest education and parental mental health, and takes into account neighbourhood-level clustering. On the x-axis higher numbers indicate greater socioeconomic deprivation, on the y-axis higher numbers indicate more mental health difficulties, and the lines represent the marginal effects at various levels of social capital (i.e. 20%, 40%, 60% and 80%) within a given neighbourhood.* 

The results of the models examining the marginal effects of deprivation on mental health as assessed by parental perception of the average level of social capital in a neighbourhood, largely suggested that social capital was not enough to compensate for residing in a neighbourhood high in deprivation. This is demonstrated by the fact that higher average social capital, as measured by the quality of the neighbourhood facilities and amenities, no worry about crime, civic engagement and homogenous friendship networks indicated that mental health difficulties were more pronounced within deprived neighbourhoods.

There was also some indication that parental perceptions of neighbourhood social cohesion reduced the gap in mental health difficulties among young people residing in deprived areas, and that trust and neighbourhood cooperation protects young people from mental health difficulties by moderating these effects. This moderation effect is indicated by the fact that young people residing in neighbourhoods with high parental trust and cooperation are shown to have better mental health. In contrast, low parental perception of trust and cooperation within deprived neighbourhoods was associated with increased mental health difficulties.

Beyond the fact that some measures of social capital does not buffer and/or protect young people residing in high deprivation neighbourhoods from mental health difficulties, it appears that the gap in mental health difficulties were wider in neighbourhoods of high deprivation when compared to young people living in less deprived areas. These effects are observed for all the social capital measures with the exception of not worried about crime and social cohesion. In addition, the results also indicated that young people residing in less deprived neighbourhoods does not appear to be affected by neighbourhood trust and cooperation and the quality of neighbourhood facilities and amenities.

#### Life satisfaction

A similar sequential modelling strategy as outlined in Table 1 was adopted to investigate whether social capital mediated and/or moderated the effects of deprivation on life satisfaction among young people. The results are presented in Table 4.

The results of the ICC from Model 1 (Table 4) indicated that 8% and 49% of the variation in reported life satisfaction is attributed to neighbourhoods and youths respectively. These results indicated that the intra-individual variation over time was substantial. Although, as discussed above, some of this variation might be the result of normal fluctuations over time, measurement error or random noise.

The fixed effects estimates indicated that there was a significant decline in the average reported life satisfaction over time. The results from the random part of the model indicated a negative covariance estimate at the youth level, signalling that among young people who initially had higher than average life satisfaction that their mean rate of change was slower.

Estimates for the adjustment of individual and family predictors (Model 2) indicated that as young people got older, girls, residing in a single-parent household and having parents with A-level qualifications or lower were associated with significantly lower life satisfaction. In contrast, having parents with high mental health functioning was associated with higher life satisfaction. After the inclusion of these covariates in the model, the between-neighbourhood variation increased to 9% but the youth-level variation remained at 49%. The results of later models examined, indicated further that the total proportion of the variation in life satisfaction attributable to betweenneighbourhood differences remained at 9%.

Model 3 added the two neighbourhood-level measures of deprivation. The relationship between these measures and life satisfaction was negative (i.e. indicated

Variables	Mod	el 1	Mod	el 2	Mod	el 3	Mod	el 4	Model 5	
	b	se	b	se	b	se	b	se	b	se
Fixed Effects										
Constant	5.95***	(0.02)	5.62***	(0.11)	6.17***	(0.23)	6.01***	(0.24)	6.02***	(0.25)
Wave	-0.02**	(0.01)	-0.01	(0.01)	-0.00	(0.01)	-0.00	(0.01)	-0.00	(0.01)
youth is a girl			-0.11***	(0.03)	-0.10***	(0.03)	-0.10***	(0.03)	-0.10***	(0.03)
Youth Cohorts (ref:1999)										
1998			-0.00	(0.04)	0.01	(0.04)	0.00	(0.04)	0.00	(0.04)
1997			-0.10**	(0.04)	-0.09*	(0.04)	-0.10*	(0.04)	-0.10*	(0.04)
1996			-0.22***	(0.04)	-0.21***	(0.04)	-0.20***	(0.04)	-0.20***	(0.04)
1995			-0.33***	(0.04)	-0.32***	(0.04)	-0.33***	(0.04)	-0.33***	(0.04)
1994			-0.36***	(0.04)	-0.37***	(0.04)	-0.37***	(0.04)	-0.37***	(0.04)
Youth ethnicity (ref: white)				× ,		× ,		× ,		
Mixed			-0.00	(0.06)	0.00	(0.06)	0.00	(0.06)	0.00	(0.06)
Asians			0.04	(0.05)	0.04	(0.05)	0.03	(0.05)	0.03	(0.05)
Blacks			0.05	(0.06)	0.08	(0.06)	0.09	(0.07)	0.08	(0.07)
All other ethnicity			0.18	(0.17)	0.18	(0.17)	0.18	(0.17)	0.18	(0.17)
Missing			-0.01	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.04)
Single parent household			-0.15***	(0.04)	-0.13***	(0.04)	-0.12**	(0.04)	-0.12**	(0.04)
Parents nativity (ref:UK born)				( )						
1 parent non-UK born			0.03	(0.05)	0.06	(0.05)	0.06	(0.05)	0.07	(0.05)
Both parents non-UK born			-0.03	(0.05)	-0.01	(0.06)	-0.00	(0.06)	-0.00	(0.06)
Parents' highest education (ref:No qu	ualification)									
Other qualification			-0.16*	(0.07)	-0.16*	(0.08)	-0.13	(0.08)	-0.12	(0.08)
GCSE etc			-0.12*	(0.06)	-0.12+	(0.06)	-0.10	(0.06)	-0.09	(0.06)

 Table 4 Multivariate linear models investigating the mediating and moderating role of social capital on life satisfaction among young people aged 10-15 living in England and Wales.

A-level etc	-0.11+	(0.06)	-0.14*	(0.06)	-0.11+	(0.06)	-0.11+	(0.06)
Other high degre	-0.09	(0.06)	-0.09	(0.07)	-0.06	(0.07)	-0.06	(0.07)
Degree	-0.06	(0.06)	-0.07	(0.06)	-0.04	(0.06)	-0.04	(0.06)
Missing	0.23	(0.32)	0.23	(0.32)	0.26	(0.32)	0.27	(0.32)
Length of residency (ref:a year or less)								
2 - 3 years	-0.00	(0.07)	0.01	(0.08)	0.02	(0.08)	0.03	(0.08)
4-10 years	-0.01	(0.07)	-0.02	(0.07)	0.00	(0.07)	0.01	(0.07)
10 years or more	0.05	(0.07)	0.04	(0.07)	0.06	(0.07)	0.06	(0.07)
Parents' mental well-being	0.01***	(0.00)	0.01***	(0.00)	0.01***	(0.00)	0.01***	(0.00)
At least one parent works	-0.03	(0.04)	-0.01	(0.04)	-0.02	(0.04)	-0.02	(0.04)
Household income (ref:tertile 1)								
Tertile 2	-0.01	(0.03)	-0.02	(0.03)	-0.02	(0.03)	-0.03	(0.03)
Tertile 3	-0.02	(0.04)	-0.02	(0.04)	-0.02	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.04)
Random Effects								
Economically active			-0.72*	(0.30)	-0.63*	(0.30)	-0.66*	(0.30)
Townsend Index Deprivation			-0.02*	(0.01)	-0.02+	(0.01)	-0.04	(0.03)
Worry of crime					0.15*	(0.07)	0.15*	(0.07)
Worry about crime*deprivation							0.01	(0.03)
Quality of facilities & amenities					-0.12	(0.11)	-0.13	(0.12)
Quality of facilities							0.00	(0.06)
Civic engagement					0.03	(0.07)	0.03	(0.08)
Civic engagement*deprivation							0.01	(0.03)
Friendship networks					0.15*	(0.07)	0.20**	(0.07)
Friendship networks*deprivation							-0.08**	(0.03)
Trust and cooperative norms					0.12	(0.11)	0.07	(0.12)
Trust & cooperative norms*deprivation							0.08	(0.05)
Social Cohesion					-0.09	(0.21)	-0.13	(0.22)

1.09)
,
).00)
).04)
).01)
).01)
).07)
).02)
).03)

Notes: Significant at + p < 0.01, \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001. Standard errors in parentheses. Higher coefficients indicate better life satisfaction. Source: UK Household Longitudinal Survey (2015) [waves 1,3, and 5]. Linked adult and youth questionnaire with aggregated MSOA-level data from census 2011.

lower levels of life satisfaction). When the six measures of parental perceptions of social capital were added in Model 4, deprivation was associated with lower life satisfaction. Although the relationship between the proportion of people economically active in the neighbourhood remained significant, there was an almost 10% decline in the strength of the association with life satisfaction. These results were in line with hypothesis 1 (Figure 1a) that neighbourhood social capital mediates the influence of deprivation on youth life satisfaction. In particular, the results showed that average worry about crime and homogenous friendship networks were significantly associated with higher life satisfaction.

The results of the moderation models partially confirms hypothesis 2 (figure 1b). This asserted that average parental perceptions of social capital at the neighbourhood level protects young people from low life satisfaction. When the moderation models are considered (Table 4) the main effects confirmed the earlier findings that some aspects of parental perceptions of social capital mediated the effects of deprivation. The results indicated also that parental perceptions of neighbourhood friendship networks mattered for the life satisfaction of young people. Homogenous friendship exacerbated the negative effect of deprivation on life satisfaction. This finding suggests that this is indicated by the fact that residing in neighbourhoods with higher levels of deprivation even when interacted friendship networks was associated with low life satisfaction.

#### Marginal effects of deprivation and social capital on life satisfaction

To understand fully the relationship between the effects of deprivation and social capital on life satisfaction, the marginal mean effects at representative values were

assessed and plotted after full adjustment of the model. The results for these effects are illustrated in Figure 3a-3f.



Figure 3a-3f: Estimated marginal mean effects (at representative values) of neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation and neighbourhood social capital on life satisfaction among young people aged 10-15.

Notes: The model adjusts for cohort, wave, youth gender and ethnicity, lone parent households, household income, parents' nativity, at least one parent in the household working, length of residency in the neighbourhood, parents' highest education and parental mental health, and takes into account neighbourhood-level clustering. On the x-axis higher numbers indicate greater socioeconomic deprivation, on the y-axis higher numbers indicate greater life satisfaction, and the lines represent the marginal effects at various levels of social capital (i.e. 20%, 40%, 60% and 80%) within a given neighbourhood.

Figures 3a and 3c indicated that there is a linear relationship between the average quality of neighbourhood facilities and amenities and civic engagement and socioeconomic deprivation. It showed that young people residing in more deprived neighbourhoods had lower life satisfaction when compared with those living in less deprived areas. In addition, regardless of neighbourhood deprivation, average parental perceptions of the quality of neighbourhood facilities and amenities, and civic engagement, does not influence life satisfaction. This suggested that neither of these components of social capital buffered or protected young people from having low life satisfaction.

Among young people residing in more deprived neighbourhoods life satisfaction was higher in areas where a higher proportion of residents are not worried about crime, where average social cohesion, and trust and cooperation was high. In contrast, neighbourhoods with a greater proportion of homogenous friendship networks was associated with lower life satisfaction among youths residing in more deprived areas. The results regarding friendship network suggested that parents with more diverse friendship networks (i.e. increased bridging capital) was more beneficial for the life satisfaction of young people.

When the effect of parental social capital on life satisfaction was considered for young people residing in less deprived neighbourhoods, the results indicated that neighbourhood social capital generally had only a marginal impact on their life satisfaction. However, it is worth noting that high social cohesion appeared to have a negative impact on the life satisfaction of young people residing in these neighbourhoods.

#### Discussion

This study reports the findings from analyses examining the association between the psychosocial and material context of the neighbourhood in explaining the psychological well-being of young people 10-15 year sold residing in England and Wales. The focus was the relationship between neighbourhood deprivation, social

capital, as well as, their independent and combined effect on mental health and life satisfaction. The results add to our current knowledge base, and are consistent with findings that have reported direct and indirect associations between socioeconomic deprivation, social capital and mental health for young people (Aminzadeh et al. 2013; Drukker et al. 2005; Fagg et al. 2006; Flouri, Mavroveli, and Midouhas 2013; Flouri et al. 2015; De Clercq et al. 2012) and adults (De Silva et al. 2005b; Stafford et al. 2008; Mitchell and LaGory 2002; Kim, Subramanian, and Kawachi 2006; McKenzie 2000) across multiple settings. In addition, this study contributes new findings to the literature through its inclusion of life satisfaction as an outcome, given that to the author's knowledge, no earlier studies in the UK have explored the relationships examined here among young people.

Taken together, the results of the current study suggested that the social context of the neighbourhood play a role in the transmission of neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation on mental health and life satisfaction among young people. This is despite the fact the findings only partially supported the hypotheses and theoretical models proposed in Figure 1. The empirical results indicated a clear difference in the effect of social capital when looking at it from a mediation or a moderation point of view. Additionally, differential effects of social capital was found by the health outcome tested, that is, whether we examined mental health or life satisfaction. These findings remained even after the models were fully adjusted for individual and family predictors.

When the results from the mediation models are considered, we find that civic engagement (i.e. bridging capital) and having more homogenous friendship networks (i.e. bonding capital) attenuated the negative effects of mental health among young people residing in more deprived neighbourhoods. As it relates to life satisfaction, average neighbourhood worry about crime (indicator of general trust) and homogenous friendship networks were shown to mediate the influence of residing in a neighbourhood characterised by greater deprivation.

These results signal that some components of social capital protect young people from more negative aspects of the neighbourhood in which they reside. Thus supporting the evidence from prior studies that have highlighted the varying roles of bonding and bridging capital within neighbourhoods (Kim, Subramanian, and Kawachi 2006; Kawachi, Subramanian, and Kim 2008). In particular, from a theoretical perspective, the homogeneity of friendship networks may be seen as a proxy for bonding relationships that allow for stability and social support (Kim, Subramanian, and Kawachi 2006) whilst worry about crime is an accepted mediator of social trust (Sturgis et al. 2011; Putnam 2007), and each of these are linked to psychosocial mechanisms which could subsequently influence mental health and life satisfaction.

Within deprived neighbourhoods, a lack of resources (individual and collective) can create a more competitive atmosphere that can lead to additional stress, and thus worse mental health and life satisfaction. Therefore, creating 'bridges' through participation and civic engagement in the neighbourhood might serve to mitigate some of these negative effects because it provides a channel through which information and ideas can flow, within relationships of respect and mutuality (Gilbert 2009; Granovetter 1973). Moreover, in neighbourhoods with high civic engagement it is likely that people might derive other psychosocial and material benefits, such as better facilities and a greater sense of safety through activism and participation, and these factors have been shown to contribute to better health outcomes among young people (Edwards and Bromfield 2010; Aminzadeh et al. 2013; De Clercq et al. 2012).

The results of the moderation models have not fully supported the hypothesis proposed in this study (Figure 1b) but were similar to results from prior studies (Kim, Subramanian, and Kawachi 2006; Mitchell and LaGory 2002; De Silva et al. 2005a; McKenzie 2000). At first glance, the results appeared to be counter intuitive, showing that high civic engagement in deprived neighbourhoods was related to an increase in young people's mental health difficulties. Meanwhile, people in low civic engagement neighbourhoods appeared to be less affected by deprivation. Similar to the results regarding civic engagement, young people who resided in neighbourhoods with more homogenous friendship networks also predicted more mental health difficulties and lower life satisfaction.

This finding that some components of social capital is positively related to poor mental health and low life satisfaction in high deprivation neighbourhoods is supported by results from the adult literature. Mitchell and LaGory (2002) found an association between bonding capital - relationships between similar others - and mental distress. They attributed this finding to time and resource constraints that individuals might find due to an overload of social obligations. It is important to note that similar to Mitchell and colleague, this measure of civic engagement was not restricted to individuals who shared similar characteristics such as sex, income, education, ethnicity among other factors. In another study, higher social capital was shown to be related to higher readmission rates among patients with psychosis (McKenzie 2000). The authors explained this finding by arguing that residents had less 'tolerance of deviant behaviour'(McKenzie 2000). This might be an indication that there was in fact high levels of bonding social capital which did not allow for the inclusion of individuals perceived as different (see discussion on the negative side of social capital Wang et al. 2009; Mitchell and LaGory 2002; McKenzie 2000; Portes 1998).

Parallels may be drawn between those findings and the marginal effects from this study, which indicated that young people residing in less deprived neighbourhoods with

high social cohesion fare worst with regards to their mental health. It may be that within these tight knit neighbourhoods, young people who are "different" might feel that they are not accepted and this leads to greater mental health difficulties. Further, the results regarding the effect of social capital on mental health and life satisfaction among young people living in less deprived areas was as expected. It has also been suggested in the resilience literature that protective process are more beneficial for individuals living in high risk environments (Ungar 2011). Unlike youths that reside in more socioeconomic advantage, young people, who are less deprived, have less need to draw on protective factors in the wider community.

There may be several factors driving the results found in this study, for instance, there might be differences by ethnic groups. For some groups' diversity, and therefore bridging social capital, may contribute to more positive health outcomes, while for others groups, bonding social capital could offer the most protective factor. In addition, the results may be driven by outliers or may be due to "reverse causation". A greater number of civic organizations and engagement projects may be found in neighbourhoods where there is a greater demand for them, and therefore civic engagement, high deprivation and stronger mental health difficulties and/or life satisfaction cluster together.

One might also consider that while the discussion regarding social capital is often been skewed towards the positive benefits that can be derived, there is a possibility that it also has a negative side. Therefore, an alternative explanation for the current results is that individuals choosing to participate in various civic projects might form strong bonds among themselves and which exclude individuals who do not participate. These relationships may in turn contribute to greater mental health difficulties and low life satisfaction. Portes (1998) among others have argued along similar lines, and other studies have indeed found a negative relationship between social capital and health (Wang et al. 2009; Mitchell and LaGory 2002; McKenzie 2000), while others have referred to the advantages of creating and maintaining more diverse networks (Kawachi, Subramanian, and Kim 2008; Kim, Subramanian, and Kawachi 2006) and the possible health benefits .

Similarly, the results of this study suggested a positive association between strong homogenous friendship network and greater mental health difficulties, and lower life satisfaction under similar conditions, among young people residing in more socioeconomically deprived neighbourhoods. These findings might seem counterintuitive, because more homogenous networks might be expected to create /offer more supportive and stable relationships due to shared hardships. Yet, a homogenous friendship network, may actually create tensions under conditions where people are competing for scarce resources. Furthermore, a more homogeneous network reduces the possibility of gaining access to information and resources that might be available if one had a more diverse network.

The lack of significant associations between social cohesion, trust and cooperative networks, and the facilities and amenities in the neighbourhood with the mental health and life satisfaction among young people in the current study may be an artefact of the age group that is under examination. Vyncke et al. (2013) suggested that the level of autonomy and mobility of the study group determines how much children are exposed to neighbourhood processes, and subsequent associations with the outcomes under study. Another suggestion is that the inconsistent findings among studies looking at young people could be attributed to the range of health outcomes tested (for example, the measure and/or operationalization of mental health), and the varying definitions and operationalization of social capital (Vyncke et al. 2013). On the other hand, these

effects were consistent with those from other studies suggesting that the variation might be due to the differential effect of bonding and bridging capital (Aminzadeh et al. 2013) or that different types of social networks provide different types of support (Veenstra et al. 2005).

#### Strengths and limitations

The present study has several strengths and limitations that warrant discussion. One of the reasons that research in this area has remained scant, may be due to a lack of viable data. There are few data sources that have questions measuring social capital among young people. This study is an attempt to address this gap in the literature. Despite this, an acknowledged weakness of this study may be the use of parental perceptions and experiences of neighbourhood social capital rather than those of the young people themselves. While parental perceptions and experiences may differ from those of young people, research does signal that parents' social capital indirectly influences both their children's social capital and health (Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2000, 2001). This is because parental networks and parental characteristics influence the types of relationships and resources that their children have at their disposal. In fact, Roosa et al. (2003) suggested that the perceptions that parents hold may stimulate young people's reactions and coping strategies. If this is indeed true, parental perceptions of neighbourhood social capital may also have a more direct impact on their children. Moreover, several studies claim that parental characteristics enhances child well-being. For example, parental social support and parental monitoring have been shown to be highest in less deprived neighbourhoods compared with more deprived neighbourhoods (Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2000, 2001; Vyncke et al. 2013).

From a methodological perspective, the use of a parental measure of social capital rather than a measure from the young people themselves offers a more independent evaluation of the neighbourhood. This therefore reduces/removes the problem of endogeneity that might be present in studies where individuals' own assessment of their health might be confounded with their experiences of the neighbourhood.

Another limitation of the current study and one which has plagued neighbourhood research is separating the effects of context (i.e. effects relating to the physical and social characteristics) from composition (i.e. the effects relating to the type of people residing in a given neighbourhood). The multilevel modelling techniques employed in this study, where we adjust for both individual and contextual factors has reduced the potential for model misspecification. Furthermore, the methodological approach used to undertake these analyses allowed the combined effects of time, individual and neighbourhood mechanisms to be investigated at the various levels across which they operate on health outcomes. In particular, by employing a multilevel model technique it was possible to take into account the sources of dependence in the nested structure of the data, and the random variability that might exist. This therefore strengthens the validity of the study's findings.

As indicated previously, the sample changed across the data collection periods due to attrition, missing values or new panel members, and these factors contributed to data becoming an unbalanced panel. However, it was possible to take into account young people who did not contribute to all the data collection periods because the models employed in this analysis has the capacity to handle unbalanced panels (Raudenbush and Bryk 2002). Notwithstanding, the changes in the sample, the sample was drawn from multiple and diverse communities across the England and Wales, and through sampling procedures that was able to capture a wide cross section of British population. This increases the generalizability of the findings to communities that were not included in this particular assessment.

Young people aged 10-15 years currently make up approximately 7% of the population of England and Wales, and this number is expected to grow over the coming decade (ONS Census 2011a). Therefore, despite the modest health benefits of social capital, research into its possible implications on the health of the next generation is vital given the absolute number of lives that may be influenced by the extent and density of the social capital to be found in their area of residence.

#### Conclusions and implications for policy and practice

The findings from this study emphasized the importance of considering the impact of both psychosocial and material environments when examining their relationships with psychological well-being among young people. Whilst the empirical evidence only partially supported the hypothesized models, the study has highlighted the importance of cultivating different aspects of social capital because different components appear to offer different benefits. From both a public health and policy perspective, it is therefore important that interventions seeking to enhance the healthy development of young people by contributing to higher good mental health and overall life satisfaction, work to not only eliminate socioeconomic disadvantages, but also to enhance the psychosocial benefits that can be reaped from social capital. This study demonstrates therefore that it is worth considering when and how social capital may positively influence psychological well-being among this group. It however also points to the fact that greater research into the possible negative effects of some aspects of social capital is required, and that the effects of social capital may be non-linear.

Table SA1. Pearson correlation coefficient matrix, mean (SD) and range for items measuring social capital.									
	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]	[6]	Mean (SD)	Range	
(1) Not worried about crime	1.00						0.52 (0.22)	0/1	
(2) Social cohesion	0.04*	1.00					-0.00 (0.07)	-0.38/0.44	
(3) Quality of facilities & amenities	0.21*	-0.03**	1.00				-0.01 0.14)	-0.75/0.53	
(4) Homogenous friendship networks	0.15*	0.01	0.15*	1.00			-0.03 (0.24)	-1.48/1.36	
(5) Trust & cooperative norms	-0.01	0.03**	-0.10*	0.04*	1.00		0.01 (0.14)	-0.71/0.73	
(6) Civic engagement	0.05*	-0.02	0.21*	-0.05*	-0.26*	1.00	0.46 (0.22)	0/1	

### **SUPPLEMENTARY APPENDIX 1**

Statistically significant at \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.001.

Cronbach's alpha measures the consistency of items clustered under a given construct.

Source: UK Household Longitudinal Survey (2015). Social capital as measured using items from wave 3 main stage questionnairelinked youth data (waves 1, 3 and 5) with MSOA-level data from the 2011 census.

Table SA2. Pearson correlation coefficient matrix, mean(SD) and range for items measuring social cohesion										
	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]	[6]	[7]	[8]	Mean (SD)	range
[1] Belong to neighbourhood	1.00								3.71(.87)	1-5
[2] Local friends mean a lot	0.64*	1.00							3.58 (.91)	1-5
[3] Advice obtainable locally	0.53*	0.65*	1.00						3.33 (1.08)	1-5
[4] Can borrow things from neighbours	0.40*	0.47*	0.56*	1.00					3.03 (1.17)	1-5
[5] Willing to improve neighbourhood	0.34*	0.38*	0.35*	0.36*	1.00				3.80 (.81)	1-5
[6] Plan to stay in neighbourhood	0.48*	0.42*	0.37*	0.27*	0.30*	1.00			3.75 (1.07)	1-5
[7] Am similar to others in neighbourhood	0.53*	0.49*	0.44*	0.33*	0.33*	0.54*	1.00		3.57 (.95)	1-5
[8] Talk regularly to neighbours	0.53*	0.55*	0.52*	0.45*	0.39*	0.42*	0.49*	1.00	3.69 (.98)	1-5

*Note 1: Cronbach's alpha=.86; statistically significant \*p<.05; \*\*p<.01; \*\*\*p<.001.* 

Note 2: Items reverse coded and now range from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Higher numbers now signify stronger agreement with more positive perceptions

Source: Understanding Society (2016). Sense of community as measured using items from wave 3 parent's questionnaire linked with MSOA-level data from census 2011.

Table SA3. Pearson correlation coefficient matrix , mean(SD) and range for items measuring neighbourhood facilities & amenities

	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]	[6]	Mean (SD)	range
[1] Standard of local services: primary schools	1.00						3.04(.70)	1-4
[2] Standard of local services: secondary schools	0.52*	1.00					2.80 (.78)	1-4
[3] Standard of local services: medical	0.30*	0.30*	1.00				2.88 (.74)	1-4
[4]Standard of local services: shopping	0.15*	0.16*	0.29*	1.00			2.67 (.84)	1-4
[5] Standard of local services: leisure	0.16*	0.18*	0.25*	0.46*	1.00		2.37 (.85)	1-4
[6] Standard of local transport	0.10*	0.10*	0.17*	0.30*	0.24*	1.00	2.60 (.88)	1-4

Note 1: Cronbach's alpha=.66; statistically significant \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001. Note 2: Items reverse coded and now range from 1 (poor facilities) to 4(excellent facilities). Higher numbers now signify stronger agreement with more positive perceptions

Source: Understanding Society (2016). Neighbourhood facilities as measured using items from wave 3 parent's questionnaire linked with MSOA-level data from census 2011.

Table SA4. Pearson correlation coefficient matrix , mean(SD) and range for items measuring homogenous friendship networks									
	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]	[6]	[7]	Mean (SD)	range
[1] Proportion of friends living in local area <sup>a</sup>	1.00							2.45 (1.25)	1-5
[2] Proportion of friends who are also family members <sup>a</sup>	0.10*	1.00						1.75 (1.19)	1-5
[3] Proportion of friends who have a job	-0.04*	-0.06*	1.00					2.69 (1.16)	1-4
[4] Proportion of friends with same race	0.15*	0.01**	-0.06*	1.00				3.29 (.92)	1-4
[5] Proportion of friends with similar age <sup>a</sup>	0.11*	0.10*	-0.06*	0.17*	1.00			2.99 (.98)	1-5
[6] Proportion of friends with similar income	0.11*	0.06*	0.05*	0.13*	0.18*	1.00		2.40 (1.04)	1-4
[7] Proportion of friends with similar level of education	0.12*	0.03*	0.01**	0.25*	0.27*	0.30*	1.00	3.03 (.95)	1-4

92

Note 1: Cronbach's alpha=.43; statistically significant \*p<.05; \*\*p<.01; \*\*\*p<.001.

Note 2: Items (3, 4, 6, and 7) reverse coded and now range from 1 (less than half) to 4(all similar). Higher numbers now signify stronger bonding capital

Note 3: Items (1, 2, and 5) reverse coded and now range from 1 (none) to 5(all similar). Higher numbers now signify stronger bonding capital Source: Understanding Society (2016). Bonding social capital as measured using items from wave 3 parent's questionnaire linked with MSOAlevel data from census 2011.

Table SA5. Pearson correlation coefficient matrix , mean(SD) and	nd range	for items	measuri	ng trust :	and cooperati	ve norms
	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	Mean (SD)	range
(1) Close-knit neighbourhood	1.00				3.72 (.77)	1-5
(2) People willing to help their neighbours	0.31*	1.00			3.36 (.95)	1-5
(3) People in this neighbourhood can be trusted	0.44*	0.56*	1.00		3.72 (.82)	1-5
(4) People in this neighbourhood don t get along with each other	0.47*	0.45*	0.59*	1.00	3.64 (.82)	1-5

Note 1: Cronbach's alpha=.78; statistically significant \*p<.05; \*\*p<.01; \*\*\*p<.001.

Note 2: Items (1, 2 and 3) reverse coded and now range from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Higher numbers now signify stronger agreement with more positive perceptions

Source: Understanding Society (2016). Trust and Social norms as measured using items from wave 3 parents' questionnaire linked with MSOA-level data from census 2011.

# **Study II**

# Ethnic variations in mental health among 10–15-year-olds

# living in England and Wales: The impact of neighbourhood

# composition and parental behaviour

### **Co-authors:**

### Irina Vartanova11 and Marita Södergren2

<sup>1</sup>Institutet för Framtidsstudier, Holländargatan 13, Stockholm, Email: <u>irina.vartanova@iffs.se,</u> Tel: (+46)705919039 <sup>2</sup>Department of Neurobiology, Care Sciences and Society, Karolinska Institutet, Email: <u>marita.sodergren@ki.se</u>

# Ethnic variations in mental health among 10–15-year-olds living in England and Wales: The impact of neighbourhood composition and parental behaviour

#### Abstract

Several studies indicate that young people from ethnic minority groups in Britain have a significant mental health advantage over their White counterparts, but the reasons for these differences are poorly understood. This paper analyses the impact of neighbourhood composition as measured by socioeconomic deprivation, crime, living conditions and ethnic density, and parenting behaviour on mental health among young people. Geocoded data from waves 1, 3 and 5 of the UK Household Longitudinal Study (UKHLS) are merged to small area statistics from the 2011 census and multilevel linear regression models fit to a sample of 5,513 (7,302 observations) 10-15-year-olds of varying ethnicity residing in England and Wales. We find that mental health is generally lower for White British youths, even after individual/family-level predictors, neighbourhood composition and parental behaviour are taken into account. Similar to results from studies of adult populations, neighbourhoods with high levels of deprivation are associated with worse mental health. Some aspects of parenting behaviour appeared, however, to have a more significant impact on the mental health of young people from ethnic minority backgrounds compared to British Whites. Further research into the stressors that influence the inter-ethnic disparities in mental health among young people is warranted given that clear differences remain after the models in this study were fully adjusted.

Keywords: England and Wales; children and adolescents; youth; ethnic density; socioeconomic deprivation; mental health; parental behaviour; crime; neighbourhood; Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ)

#### Introduction

It has been estimated that 20% of children and adolescents around the world suffer from some kind of mental disorder (WHO, 2016). The British Child and Adolescent Mental Health Surveys 2004 show that one in ten children aged 5–15 had a diagnosable mental disorder (Green et al. 2005; Meltzer, Gatward, Britain, et al. 2000). In particular, studies from the UK have found that some ethnic minority youths report better mental health and have lower prevalence rates when compared to their counterparts identifying themselves as White/White British (Goodman, Patel, and Leon 2010, 2008; Astell-Burt et al. 2012; Harding et al. 2015; Maynard, Harding, and Minnis 2007; Fagg et al. 2006; Green et al. 2005; Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000). A reversed relationship is seen among adults, with both an elevated risk (Breslau et al. 2005) and higher prevalence (Rees et al., 2016) of mental health disorders among Black, Asian and ethnic minorities (BAMEs). For instance, first-time contact rates for psychotic disorders is three to five times higher for Blacks when compared with other ethnic groups (Rees et al. 2016). Despite the observed disparities among ethnic groups, the question of the cause of this variation has remained understudied and unexplained. This paper responds to this gap in the scholarship with empirical evidence on the impact of neighbourhood composition and parental behaviour on the mental health of children/adolescents aged 10–15 residing in England and Wales.

Disentangling the factors influencing the mental health of young people may contribute important knowledge by identifying pertinent risk factors, pinpointing relevant areas of focus for future interventions and by informing policy and treatment. Moreover, given that many mental health problems found in later life begin much earlier (Kessler et al. 2005; De Girolamo et al. 2012), providing earlier treatment or other interventions aimed at risk reduction might contribute to reducing the individual and societal costs associated with long-term and undiagnosed mental health difficulties (Davies et al. 2013; Health 2011).

The neighbourhood and the family may be seen as two of the most influential aspects of a young person's development, and are thus a relevant starting point for explaining factors which may have an impact on the mental health of young people during their formative years. Dating back to the work of Faris and Dunham (1939), both neighbourhood ethnic composition and socioeconomic deprivation, which are intricately linked, have been found to be associated with mental health among adults from minority ethnic groups to varying degrees. In fact, the neighbourhood has been shown to account for between 5 and 10% of the variance in a range of outcomes related to young people (Roosa et al. 2003). With less mobility, young people are more likely to spend more time in and around their area of residence, and as such the neighbourhood context might have a significant role to play in outcomes related to their health and well-being (Allison et al. 1999). Therefore, unless we take into account the varying neighbourhoods in which young people reside as integral we might find a considerable gap in our understanding of the mechanisms contributing to the ethnic disparities in the mental health of young people.

#### Neighbourhood ethnic composition and socioeconomic deprivation

It has been suggested that minority group members are protected from adversities by ethnic density, defined as the percentage of the population in the respondent's area of residence that share the respondent's ethnicity, after adjusting for area-level socioeconomic deprivation (Faris and Dunham 1939; Pickett and Wilkinson 2008; Bhugra and Arya 2005; Das-Munshi et al. 2010; Bécares, Nazroo, et al. 2012; Aneshensel 2009). In line with this suggestion, there are several studies that used adult samples to examine ethnically dense neighbourhoods and shown that these residents do indeed enjoy better mental health, at least in the short term (Bécares, Nazroo, et al. 2012; Bécares, Nazroo, and Stafford 2009; Halpern and Nazroo 2000b).

However, there is little evidence supporting the ethnic density hypothesis as it relates to young people, and studies of this issue have yielded mixed results. Some researchers observed beneficial effects of ethnic density on some indicators of mental health such as depressive symptoms, psychological distress, behavioural and cognitive problems (Gieling, Vollebergh, and van Dorsselaer 2010; Wickrama and Bryant 2003). But, at least one study indicated that this effect may be negative when the group is too large (Fagg et al. 2006), while another study recorded a generally negative effect (Abada, Hou, and Ram 2007), and others have found no effect of ethnic density on young people's mental health (Xue et al. 2005; Astell-Burt et al. 2012).

Opponents of the ethnic density hypothesis have argued that ethnic disparities in health are mainly caused by the residential concentration of ethnic minorities in poor socioeconomic circumstances (Williams and Collins 2001; Roland G. Fryer, Pager, and Spenkuch 2013; Wilson 1987). This school of thought suggests that living in 'racially segregated' neighbourhood environments determines access to health-related services and the quality of those services. This is because ethnic concentration correlates strongly with neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation and adverse neighbourhood conditions such as actual and perceived rates of crime, the number of single parent households, lack of employment opportunities, as well as access to, and the use of social services such as healthcare (Roland G. Fryer, Pager, and Spenkuch 2013; Wilson 1987). All these factors have been shown to be associated with poor health both among adults and young people (Williams and Collins 2001; Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2000; Mair et al. 2010).

#### Parental behaviour

Besides neighbourhood composition, recent research implicates, as we might expect parental behaviour, in particular parenting styles, as a potential mechanism and an influential factor in explaining the healthy development of young people (Maynard and Harding 2010; Lee et al. 2014; Ceballo and McLoyd 2002; Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2000; Baumrind 1966, 1971). Parenting behaviour describes the parent-child interaction and relationship, and the factors which distinguish between different types of parenting behaviours according to Baumrind (1970,1966) are: (a) warmth and nurturing; (b) maturity demands; (c) control of a child's behaviour; and (d) communication between parent and child (i.e. the extent to which the child's opinion is sought and listened to) (Baumrind 1971, 1966).

The nature of the neighbourhood has been linked to parental behaviour, with studies pointing to socioeconomic deprivation, crime and disorder, social support and a lack of resources as factors which might undermine effective parenting strategies (Ceballo and McLoyd 2002; Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2000; Byrnes and Miller 2012; Wilson 1996; Burton and Jarrett 2000; Furstenberg 1999). Neighbourhoods which suffer high levels of disorder and crime might disrupt both adult and youth behaviours, and as such could act to determine the style of parenting which is adopted. In these areas parents may adopt a more harsh/controlling parenting style in an effort to regulate the interactions of the child/adolescent with their environment (Furstenberg 1999; Burton and Jarrett 2000; Sampson, Morenoff, and Earls 1999). Another explanation offered (Sampson, Morenoff, and Earls 1999) for the harsher, more controlling parenting style, and ineffective parenting strategies that lack warmth and communication, is that parents residing in areas of high deprivation and generally poor living conditions become overwhelmed by these conditions and as a consequence might lack the energy

to engage their children in a non-harsh and warm manner (Byrnes and Miller 2012). The reverse might also be true, where parents that have effective parenting strategies are less likely to reside in more precarious neighbourhoods.

#### **Research aim**

Research efforts into exploring ethnic disparities in mental health may have been hampered by small sample sizes and regional data with a focus on specific geographic areas; in fact, data with large representative samples of young people within the age group considered in this paper are rare (Fagg et al. 2006; Astell-Burt et al. 2012; Harding et al. 2015; Maynard and Harding 2010; Maynard, Harding, and Minnis 2007). Using a rich national data source, the UK Household Longitudinal Study (*UKHLS*), linked to aggregated geo-spatial data from the 2011 census, we investigate the impact of neighbourhood composition and parenting behaviour on mental health difficulties among White British, Welsh, other Whites and BAME youths aged 10–15 residing in England and Wales. The specific research questions examined were:

- whether and to what extent ethnic variations in mental health among youths might be attributed to individual and family characteristics; and
- (2) whether ethnic variations in mental health were associated with the neighbourhood composition (including the ethnic composition, socioeconomic deprivation, the living environment, levels of crime and disorder) and parental behaviour.

#### Material and methods

#### Survey

Data for this analysis were drawn from multiple sources. The individual level data were taken from waves 1, 3 and 5 of *Understanding Society*, the *UKHLS* (University of Essex – Institute for Social and Economic Research 2015), while the neighbourhood level data were based on geocoded administrative data collected in the 2011 census (ONS 2017).

Individual data: The *UKHLS* is an annual longitudinal household panel survey that started in 2009 with a nationally representative and stratified clustered sample of around 30,000 households living in the United Kingdom. Within households where adults were interviewed, oral consent was obtained from parents and/or guardians for household members aged 10–15 to complete a pencil-and-paper self-reported questionnaire. The sample for this study was therefore the children of adult members of the panel, for whom consent was granted and who responded to the questionnaire (Buck and McFall 2011).

Neighbourhood data: Derived from geocoded, census-defined small area statistics at the so-called middle super output area (MSOA) level. MSOAs have a minimum residential size of 5,000 individuals and 3,000 households with an average population size of 7,500. By using MSOAs it is possible to link aggregated area level variables taken from the 2011 census to the *UKHLS*.

The use of the *UKHLS* as a secondary data source and linkage to administrative data has been approved by the University of Essex Ethics Committee.

#### Sample

After listwise deletion of values with missing information, attrition or the inclusion of new survey participants, the final sample used in this analysis was 5,513 (7,302 observations) 10–15-year-olds of varying ethnicity who resided in England and Wales. Attrition may occur due to non-response, a lack of contact with a family who participated in an earlier wave or an individual earlier classified as being a youth (aged 15 or younger) transitioned to the adult survey. There were new entrants to the youth panel because children under the age of ten became eligible participants or became a part of households eligible for the survey. A description of the final sample for each of the three waves has been shown in Figure 1.

Wave	Comento.	Sample after listwise	New	Participants from
	Sample	deletion	participants	previous wave
1 (2009 – 2011)	4366	3366	3366 (100 %)	
3 (2011–2013)	3711	2138	1093 (51.1%)	1045 (48.9%)
5 (2013 – 2015)	3113	1798	854 (47.5%)	944 (52.5%)

Table 1. Sample sizes across data waves

Source: Understanding Society (2015), Waves 1, 3 and 5, linked with data from the 2011 UK Census.

#### Dependent variable

The dependent variable, *mental health difficulties*, was measured using the responses provided in waves 1, 3 and 5 of the self-reported version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) (Appendix 1). A copy of this questionnaire is given in appendix SA2. This widely-used and cross-nationally validated (Kersten et al. 2016;

Goodman et al. 2011; Hoosen et al. 2018)screening instrument includes 25 items and five subscales that are suggested to capture four areas of potential difficulty (emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity-inattention, peer relationship problems) and one area of strength (prosocial behaviour) (Goodman 1997; Goodman, Meltzer, and Bailey 1998). Responses are based on a three-point scale, ranging from 1 [Not true] to 3 [Certainly true]. A total difficulties score (TDS) ranging from 0 to 40, representing increasing mental health difficulties, is derived by summing scores on the first four of these subscales. According to Goodman (1997), the absence of prosocial behaviour cannot be equated with the presence of mental health problems.

#### Individual and family predictors

The key explanatory variable, *self-identified ethnicity*, was measured using the responses to a list of 18 ethnic identities categorised according to the UK census, and which remained unchanged throughout the study period. These remained unchanged throughout the study period. Due to small subsample sizes, we collapsed responses regarding ethnicity into four ethnic categories: White British, Welsh, other Whites (including Scottish and Northern Irish participants residing in England), and BAMEs. In general, the literature has suggested that based on culture, eating and general living habits, and health varies even among minority group members. As such, the consequence of this larger categorization may be that some of the heterogeneity in mental health difficulties will be lost. However, the results from several of the models tested were inconsistent due to the small sample sizes. A more in-depth discussion of the consequences of combining ethnicities into larger groups in this way are addressed in the Discussion section of this study.

*Parental behaviour* was measured by a series of questions regarding the frequency of certain activities/behaviours undertaken between parents and their children. These were the frequency of time spent doing leisure activities; eating dinner together; talking about important matters; giving praise; cuddling the child; involving the child in setting rules; shouting at the child; and spanking or slapping the child. The correlation between the items ranged from r = 0.11 to a maximum r = 0.38 (between cuddling and praising). The weak correlation between the items implied that there was no underlying latent factor which could be termed parenting behaviours, as such average parental behaviour for each item was examined separately in the model, with the exception of quarrelling which correlated too strongly with shouting (r = 0.53) and thus was omitted from the analysis.

Prior studies have pointed to the importance of accounting for the individual and family level predictors used in this study when assessing neighbourhood variation in young persons' mental health (Fagg et al. 2006; Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000). The individual variables used in this study were youth age and gender. The models also included *socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of the parents that* may predispose families to live in particular neighbourhoods and influence the parent-child relationship. These are lone parent household; household income (log); parents' age; indicators for if one or both parents were born abroad; at least one parent in the household working; length of residency in the neighbourhood (entered as a categorical variable); parents' highest level of education; and parental physical and mental health (measured by 12-item Short Form Health Survey, Appendix 2). All parental variables are averaged between the two parents with the exception of education; in this case information for the parent with the highest level of educational attainment is used. If a child resides in a single parent household, then the information

#### Neighbourhood level predictors

Neighbourhood own group *ethnic density* was defined as the percentage of all the individuals living in the respondent's MSOA of his/her ethnic group (Halpern and Nazroo 2000; Pickett and Wilkinson 2008). This calculation was carried out separately for each ethnic group White British, Welsh, other Whites, Indian, Pakistani, Black Caribbean, and Black African people for each MSOA.

Furthermore, and consistent with previous work on the effect of neighbourhood characteristics on children, several measures (socioeconomic status, crime and disorder, and indicators of the indoor and outdoor living environment) found to influence the health and well-being of young people have been included in the models (Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2000; Astell-Burt et al. 2012; Wilson 1996, 1987). These are as follows: 1) Neighbourhood living environment as an indicator of both the indoor and outdoor quality of the local environment. This has been created using a combination of four indicators (an assessment of social and private housing in poor condition, houses without central heating, air quality, road traffic accidents involving injury to pedestrians and cyclists). This domain is coded so that higher scores indicate higher levels of deprivation, i.e. the probability that there are, for example, a higher proportion of houses without central heating (McLennan et al. 2011; Noble et al. 2000). 2) The *crime domain* of the indices of deprivation has been used as a proxy for the risk of personal and material victimisation at the small area level. This domain consists of the recorded crime rate for four major types of crime (burglary, theft, criminal damage and violence). This was also coded so that higher scores indicated higher levels of crime

(McLennan et al. 2011; Noble et al. 2007; Noble et al. 2000). Models were also adjusted for area level deprivation using 3) the *Townsend Material Deprivation Score*. This is a measure of socioeconomic disadvantage consisting of four aggregate level variables gathered in the census: the percentage of households without access to a car or van; percentage of households with more than one person per room (overcrowding); percentage of households not owner-occupied (tenure); and the percentage of economically active residents who are unemployed, excluding students (Townsend, Phillimore, and Beattie 1988). The Pearson correlation matrix, mean (SD) and range of the items measuring parental behaviours and neighbourhood compositional variables are provided in supplementary appendix SA1 and SA2 respectively.

Finally, wave - date of data collection - was included in all the models to control for, and assess changes in the outcome over the calendar period under study.

#### Statistical analysis

Three-level multilevel linear regression models capturing the nested relationship between the neighbourhood (level 3), individual (level 2) and the three waves of data collection (level 1), were fitted using the lmer package of the R programming language. The models have the form:

$$y_{ijk} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_{1ijk} + \beta_2 X_{2jk} + \beta_3 X_{3k} + v_k + u_{jk} + e_{ijk}$$
(1)

where person-waves ijk are nested in persons jk, which in turn are nested in neighbourhoods k.  $v_k$  and  $u_{jk}$  are neighbourhood and person random intercepts, which (like the person-wave error term  $e_{ijk}$ ) are normally distributed with mean 0 and standard deviations  $\sigma_v^2$ ,  $\sigma_u^2$ , and  $\sigma_e^2$ , respectively. Multilevel models of this sort make it possible to partition and explain variation in mental health over time, across individuals and at the neighbourhood level. Moreover, by using a multilevel model, we can account for the fact that the *UKHLS* sampled young people from the same MSOAs, and thus control for the similarities in these neighbourhoods while increasing the precision of the estimates. Modelling was carried out sequentially using a series of nested models. The initial models were pooled in which the factors impacting the mental health of all ethnic groups were examined simultaneously. This was followed by separate sequential analyses for each of the studied ethnic groups using the following five models of young people's mental health.

Model 1. A three-level model with individual-level predictor variables for young people in the fixed part of the model. This model was adjusted for gender, age and wave, and was used to identify potential differences in the reporting of mental health among BAMEs, Welsh, or other Whites relative to White British youths.

Model 2. Identical to Model 1 except that the fixed part includes all family-level predictors as well as all individual predictors. This model assesses whether and the extent to which family-level predictors explain the difference in mental health among BAMEs, Welsh, or other Whites relative to White British youths.

Model 3. Identical to Model 2 except that its fixed part also includes parental behaviour. As such, this model estimates the extent to which parental behaviour explains differences in mental health among the studied groups.

Model 4. Identical to Model 2 but in addition to the individual and family–level predictors, this model considers the fixed effect of neighbourhood-level ethnic density and socioeconomic deprivation. As such this model estimates the extent to which these effects explain area-level variation in the mental health of youths from various ethnic groups.
Model 5. Identical to Model 2 except that its fixed part includes the effect of neighbourhood-level crime and the living environment. This model thus estimates the extent to which neighbourhood-level ethnic density, crime, and the living environment explain area-level variation in the mental health of youths from various ethnic groups.

### Sensitivity analyses

Sensitivity analyses were carried out to investigate possible cross-level effects given that 3% (160) of young people had moved between waves and were therefore crossclassified between different MSOAs. The assessment of this model indicated that there were no significant or substantive changes to the results found in the hierarchical models, we therefore rejected the cross-classified models for the more parsimonious three-level models shown here. Beyond the models described above, additional interaction models were tested to evaluate ethnic differences in parental behaviour, to determine whether there was any relationship between neighbourhood ethnic density and parental behaviour, and to see if neighbourhood deprivation had any effect on this relationship.

### Results

### Sample description

A breakdown of the total sample across all three waves indicated that as we would expect White British youths formed the largest group with 67%, followed by BAMEs 27%; youths categorised as Welsh and White others were 3% and 2% of the sample respectively. Table 2 provides estimates for the individual and neighbourhood characteristics by ethnic group. It shows that the factors we expect to be associated with mental health differ by ethnic group, for example, the proportion of single parent households, parental physical and mental health, parents' highest education and length of residence in the neighbourhood.

Variations also existed with regard to parental behaviour, whereby White British and other Whites on average spent more leisure time and more often ate dinner with their children. With regard to punishment, when compared to BAME parents from other ethnic groups were less likely to spank/slap their children but exhibited similar behaviour when it comes to shouting, involving their children in rule setting, cuddling or providing praise for their children. Beyond that, inter-ethnic variations also exist with respect to neighbourhood characteristics, with a noticeable gradient in neighbourhood composition among the ethnic groups. White British were least likely to reside in areas with a high level of crime or that were economically and/or environmentally deprived when compared to BAMEs.

Figure 1 presents the distribution of the proportion of co-ethnic young people across different neighbourhoods: it will be seen that the proportion of co-ethnic respondents is widely distributed for White British, while this distribution is very different for Welsh and all other ethnic groups. The Welsh sample was, however, too small for the effects to dominate in a pooled model. We see that BAMEs and other Whites are more likely to reside in diverse neighbourhoods with lower shares of own-group members at the neighbourhood level.



Figure 1. The proportion of young people aged 10–15 categorised by ethnicity across neighbourhoods (Kernel-Density plot). Source: Understanding Society (2015), Waves 1, 3 and 5, linked with data from UK Census 2011.

and neighbourhood composition	on.											
	(White	British,	n = 4, 918)	(Welsh	$n = 22^{2}$	4)	(White	e other, i	n = 174)	(BAMEs, n = 1,986)		
	Mean	Std. Dev.	range	Mean	Std. Dev.	range	Mean	Std. Dev.	range	Mean	Std. Dev.	range
Individual level												
Youth a girl	0.50	0.50	0/1	0.54	0.50	0/1	0.47	0.50	0/1	0.51	0.50	0/1
Youth age	12.53	1.69	10/15	12.83	1.56	10/15	12.57	1.77	10/15	12.55	1.71	10/15
Wave	2.59	1.63	1/5	2.53	1.54	1/5	2.77	1.66	1/5	2.50	1.63	1/5
Household income (log)	8.00	0.53	4.93/9.9	7.82	0.52	6.5/9.14	7.93	0.55	6.17/9.66	7.88	0.56	4.97/9.9
At least one parent works	0.86	0.35	0/1	0.79	0.41	0/1	0.80	0.40	0/1	0.74	0.44	0/1
Single parent	0.25	0.43	0/1	0.35	0.48	0/1	0.34	0.48	0/1	0.28	0.45	0/1
Parent's mental health	48.63	8.87	5.69/69.73	48.58	9.45	8.9/67.36	49.03	9.73	9.03/65.09	48.19	9.83	3.04/70.96
Parent's physical health	52.22	8.28	11.14/70.49	50.82	9.79	14.21/68.18	52.95	7.13	24.01/68.54	49.67	9.16	12.4/68.77
Parent's age	42.65	6.10	25/75	41.74	6.52	27/71	41.95	6.20	27/60	41.99	5.86	21/73
<b>Parent's education</b>												
Degree	0.30	0.46	0/1	0.26	0.44	0/1	0.47	0.50	0/1	0.35	0.48	0/1
Other higher degree	0.17	0.38	0/1	0.18	0.39	0/1	0.11	0.32	0/1	0.13	0.33	0/1
A-level etc	0.21	0.41	0/1	0.21	0.41	0/1	0.12	0.33	0/1	0.18	0.38	0/1
GCSE etc	0.22	0.41	0/1	0.27	0.44	0/1	0.09	0.28	0/1	0.16	0.37	0/1
Other qualification	0.06	0.23	0/1	0.03	0.16	0/1	0.14	0.35	0/1	0.07	0.26	0/1
No qualification	0.04	0.19	0/1	0.05	0.23	0/1	0.07	0.25	0/1	0.11	0.32	0/1
Both parents UK born	0.84	0.37	0/1	0.84	0.36	0/1	0.28	0.45	0/1	0.23	0.42	0/1
One parent non-UK born	0.15	0.35	0/1	0.15	0.36	0/1	0.36	0.48	0/1	0.36	0.48	0/1
Both parents non-UK born	0.01	0.12	0/1	0.01	0.09	0/1	0.36	0.48	0/1	0.41	0.49	0/1
Length of residence												
l year or less	0.03	0.18	0/1	0.04	0.19	0/1	0.07	0.25	0/1	0.05	0.22	0/1
2–3 years	0.08	0.26	0/1	0.05	0.22	0/1	0.20	0.40	0/1	0.09	0.28	0/1
4–10 years	0.43	0.49	0/1	0.39	0.49	0/1	0.46	0.50	0/1	0.46	0.50	0/1
10 years or longer	0.46	0.50	0/1	0.53	0.50	0/1	0.28	0.45	0/1	0.40	0.49	0/1

Table 2. Description of individual and MSOA level variables used in the models to examine the relationship between mental health, ethnicity, parental behaviour and neighbourhood composition.

Parental behaviour									
Leisure time	3.50	1.18	1/6	3.35	1.31	1/6	3.57	1.28	1/6
Eat dinner	3.38	0.79	1/4	3.20	0.97	1/4	3.43	0.74	1/4
Talk about important matters	3.31	0.77	1/4	3.35	0.78	1/4	3.42	0.74	1/4
Praise	3.76	0.41	1/4	3.71	0.45	2/4	3.68	0.51	1/4
Cuddle	3.71	0.53	1/4	3.60	0.67	1/4	3.78	0.40	2/4
Involve youth in rule setting	2.50	0.86	1/4	2.34	0.94	1/4	2.55	0.89	1/4
Shouting	2.99	0.71	1/4	2.90	0.73	1/4	2.89	0.65	1/4
Spanking or slapping	1.25	0.50	1/4	1.18	0.44	1/3	1.24	0.45	1/3
Neighbourhood level	-			-		-			-
Ethnic density	0.87	0.15	0.09/0.99	0.93	0.10	0.24/0.99	0.16	0.28	0/0.97
Deprivation									
Q1-least deprived	0.23	0.42	0/1	0.12	0.32	0/1	0.11	0.31	0/1
Q2	0.22	0.42	0/1	0.31	0.46	0/1	0.16	0.37	0/1
03	0.23	0.42	0/1	0.22	0.41	0/1	0.21	0.41	0/1

0.27

0.08

0.23

0.21

0.23

0.13

0.19

0.17

0.28

0.14

0.22

0.19

0.45

0.27

0.42

0.41

0.42

0.34

0.39

0.37

0.45

0.35

0.42

0.39

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0.21

0.32

0.20

0.18

0.16

0.21

0.25

0.20

0.13

0.22

0.24

0.21

0.41

0.47

0.40

0.39

0.36

0.41

0.44

0.40

0.34

0.42

0.43

0.41

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

#### Pare

Q3

*Q4* 

*Q2* 

Q3

Q4

Q2

Q3

*Q4* 

Crime

Q5-most deprived

Q1-least deprived

Q5-most deprived

Q1-least deprived

**O5-most deprived** 

Living environment

Note: Deprivation refers to Townsend Deprivation Index, Q1–Q5 refers to neighbourhood quintiles.

0.18

0.13

0.24

0.22

0.20

0.19

0.15

0.26

0.22

0.21

0.19

0.12

0.38

0.34

0.43

0.42

0.40

0.39

0.36

0.44

0.42

0.41

0.39

0.33

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

1	1	2
	1	.)

3.18

3.50

3.39

3.69

3.67

2.57

2.89

1.40

0.13

0.05

0.06

0.08

0.14

0.66

0.03

0.07

0.15

0.35

0.41

0.06

0.08

0.13

0.26

0.48

1.25

0.77

0.77

0.47

0.58

0.93

0.78

0.63

0.16

0.22

0.24

0.27

0.35

0.47

0.16

0.25

0.36

0.48

0.49

0.23

0.27

0.33

0.44

0.50

1/6

1/4

1/4

1/4

1/4

1/4

1/4

1/4

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/1

0/0.77

### **Results for individual/family characteristics**

Separate inspection of the coefficients for the covariates in the fixed part of the model examining the individual and family characteristics associated with young people's mental health (Table SA6) revealed that having at least one parent in employment, and living in a single parent household are all likely to result in poor mental health. In contrast, older parents, whether having at least one parent born outside of the UK, residing in an area for ten years or more, having a parent without mental health issues, and having a parent with higher education were associated with better mental health among young people. Interestingly, these analyses revealed no significant differences in mental health by youth age or gender, and there were no significant changes in mental health over time.

### Results from models examining mental health difficulties for the total sample

Table 3 presents the results from the pooled model whereby the total sample (n = 7,302) is assessed. A negative coefficient for the various ethnic groups would indicate better mental health among these groups relative to White British youths, which would further substantiate the findings from prior studies. The extent to which the coefficient in Model 1 is attenuated or increases is an indication of the effect of parental/familial characteristics and parental behaviour or neighbourhood composition.

Model 1 indicates that relative to young people identifying themselves as White British all other ethnic groups report lower total difficulties (i.e. better mental health). There is, however, some variation by ethnicity. For example, among BAMEs and other Whites these differences are significant, while the differences are small and non-significant for young people with a Welsh background. These findings for BAMEs persist across all the models tested, with some indication that family characteristics have the strongest impact on their mental health (Model 2). We see that because the coefficients are almost halved when family predictors are included in the models. When models are adjusted for parental behaviour (Model 3) the relationship between mental health among BAMEs remains strong, which we interpret to mean that parental behaviour – like the families' economic and social conditions – is vital for the mental health of this group. For the categories of other Whites and Welsh there is a negligible decline in the mental health of young people, which remained non-significant. Specific aspects of parental behaviours were related to better mental health of youths from these groups. In particular, the frequency of leisure time spent with children predicted better mental health, while worse mental health was found among young people whose parents reported discussing important matters, shouted or slapped them.

The results from Models 4 and 5 indicate clearly that neighbourhood composition is integral to the mental health of BAMEs, whereby the inclusion of these factors reduces the strength of the difference in the mental health of BAMEs relative to British Whites. This could be an indication that own-group ethnic density to a certain extent protects this group from deprivation, higher rates of crime and poor living conditions. In contrast, living in areas of high own-group ethnicity and deprivation appeared to have no impact on the mental health of young people from other White and Welsh backgrounds relative to White British youths. A combined assessment of the five models tested suggested that neighbourhood composition had a significant impact on the health of minorities, while it is individual characteristics that have the most significant impact on other Whites.

	Ethnicity (comp	oarison group: V	White British)			
	Other Whites	Welsh	BAMEs	Neighbourhood	Individual	Variance
				variance	variance	of Time
	Coeff (SE)	Coeff (SE)	Coeff (SE)			
Model 1 (Individual characteristics)	-0.93* (0.44)	-0.53 (0.41)	-1.13*** (0.17)	1.81	3.77	3.73
Model 2 (+ family/parental characteristics)	-0.56 (0.45)	-0.57 (0.41)	-0.75*** (0.21)	1.66	3.65	3.74
Model 3 (+ parental behaviour)	-0.57 (0.45)	-0.56 (0.41)	-0.83*** (0.21)	1.53	3.56	3.77
Model 4 (model 2 + deprivation and ethnic density)	-0.71 (0.55)	-0.61(0.41)	-0.97* (0.40)	1.65	3.65	3.74
Model 5 (model 2 + crime and living environment) <sup>c</sup>	-0.77 (0.55)	-0.54 (0.41)	-1.01* (0.40)	1.66	3.65	3.74

Table 3 Ethnicity related coefficients <sup>ab</sup> derived from multilevel linear regression of mental health with respect to ethnicity, individual/family characteristics, parental behaviour and neighbourhood characteristics among young people.

*Notes:* p < 0.05; p < 0.01; p < 0.001. *Models are sequentially adjusted.* 

<sup>a</sup> Individual/parental characteristics included: sex, age, parents' age, single parent household, parents' highest educational qualification, parents' mental health, parents' physical health, nativity, household income (log), length of neighbourhood residency and waves.

<sup>b</sup> For complete set of results, see Appendix SA3.

<sup>c</sup> The effect of crime and the living environment alongside ethnic density was assessed in this model without deprivation because of the strong correlation between these variables.

Source: Understanding Society (2015), Waves 1, 3 and 5, linked with MSOA-level data from Census 2011.

To further investigate the impact of neighbourhood composition and parental behaviour, separate models examining the mental health of young people from each ethnic group were analysed. The results provided in Figure 2, indicate a strong significant association between deprivation and the mental health of White British youths and a weak but significant relationship for Welsh youths. The results were however not significantly related to the mental health of young people from any other ethnic group.

	White British	Welsh	Other white	BAMEs	
Ethnic density	1.07	17.09	-1.92	0.15	
quintile 1 - least deprived	1		1	1	Z
quintile 2	0.62 *	3.25 *	-0.22	0.05	eight Com
quintile 3	0.87 **	1,87	-0.36	1.09	posit
quintile 4	0.92 **	3.00	2145	-0.00	hood
quintile 5 - most deprived	1.38 ***	2.64	0.80	0.28	
			i i		
Leisure time	-0.25 ***	-0.78 *	0.33	0.05	
Eat dinner	-0.12	-0.82	-0.54	-0.13	
Talk about important matter	-0.07	-0.17	-1.16	-0.38 *	Par
Praise _	0.16	-1.01	0.05	-0.74 **	enta
Cuddle _	-0.25	-0 <b>.</b> b7	-0.60	-0.15	lbeh
Involve youth rule setting	0.06	0.29	-0.56	0.16	avio
Shouting	0.95 ***	0.63	-1.32 *	0.46 **	F
Spanking or slapping	0.36 *	-0.76	0.12	0.34	
	-5 0 5 1015	-5 0 5 1015	-5 0 5 1015	-5 0 5 1015	

Figure 2. Shows the coefficients from models examining the association between ethnic density, socioeconomic deprivation and parenting behaviour on the mental health of young people aged 10–15. Models were analysed for each ethnic group separately. Negative coefficients indicate lower TDS score (i.e. better mental health). *Notes:* p < 0.05; \*\* p < 0.01; \*\*\* p < 0.001

The effect of parenting varied by ethnicity. Both Welsh and White British youths had significantly better mental health with a greater frequency of social interaction, i.e. leisure time spent with parents. Shouting and spanking appeared to have the most negative impact on the mental health of young people, and was associated with poor mental health for all groups. This effect was, however, particularly strong for White British and BAMEs. BAMEs had better mental health when they discussed important matters with parents and received praise. It seems

that the parental behaviour that had the most significant impact on the mental health of Welsh youths was involvement in rule setting.

The results from the models shown in figure 2 disentangled the results of Welsh and other White youths from that of White British youths. The initial results from the pooled models indicated that the factors that impacted there mental health were the same. However, separate analyses, suggests that young people self-identifying as White British, generally fare worse when compared to other Whites and Welsh youths when parental behaviour and socioeconomic deprivation is considered.

In other analyses (not shown here) we also tested if certain parental behaviours were stronger in more ethnically dense neighbourhoods, and to assess if the level of deprivation was an influential factor (results provided upon request from the authors). The findings from these models did not support either of these hypotheses.

### Results of the other subscales

The results of the four subscales included in the TDS are driving the results observed for the mental health of young people (results provided in appendix SA4.1–A4.4). An examination of the subscales indicated that relative to White British youths, all other ethnic groups had lower mean emotional, hyperactivity-inattention and peer problems. Specifically, BAMEs had lower mean scores on all three subscales described above; Welsh youths on average reported having good peer relationships; and other Whites reported having lower mean scores on the hyperactivity-inattention subscale relative to British Whites. There were no differences found in the association between conduct problems among White British youths and all other ethnic groups.

### Discussion

The findings reported here support the results of prior research on the inter-ethnic disparities in mental health found among young people at the individual and neighbourhood levels. Specifically, earlier studies have shown that a relatively small but significant proportion of the variation in mental health as measured by SDQ is associated with socioeconomic deprivation (Harding et al. 2015; Fagg et al. 2006), while other work has found that parenting behaviour might be a contributing factor (Maynard and Harding 2010).

In the current study, the neighbourhood compositional factors examined were weakly related to the mental health of BAMEs relative to British Whites. In fact, there was no indication from our data that these factors strongly influence the mental health of any young people, including Welsh and White others. These results were somewhat surprising, given that the descriptive statistics indicate that the composition of the neighbourhood varies greatly by ethnicity. As predictors of inter-ethnic differences of mental health, however, the results were largely nonsignificant. The fact that inter-ethnic disparities in mental health have not been fully explained by the neighbourhood compositional factors used in the models may be an indication that the relationship between the neighbourhood influences and mental health outcomes among young people is based on a complex set of interactions that has not been captured by the models and the data.

Fagg et al. (2006) speculated that the neighbourhoods included in their study might have lacked variation, and that this lack of heterogeneity may have contributed to the results indicating that socioeconomic disadvantages were not related to psychological distress among young people. Unlike that study, data for this study was taken from a national sample with the necessary heterogeneity in measures of neighbourhood composition. So how then do we explain these differences? We suggest that the results may be due to the age of the participants in the sample used for this study. At a young age it might be that the influence of friends and parents

together with family circumstances, have a more important role to play in determining whether or not young people have mental health problems. Earlier studies have also provided that younger people might lack the mobility and social autonomy necessary for the types of interactions with the neighbourhood which might truly have an impact on their health (De Clercq et al. 2012)

The results also indicate that whereas deprivation by itself does not seem to matter for the mental health of BAMEs, it is an important driver of the effects witnessed for White British youths. For instance, in the stratified models where the mental health of each ethnic group was examined separately, mental health problems were more common among White British youths residing in deprived neighbourhoods, and it is these effects, which usually increase the gap between the mental health of British Whites compared to BAMEs. A similar result has been found among adult populations, where the detrimental association between deprivation at the neighbourhood level and health perceptions was greater in magnitude and stronger for White British people than ethnic minority group members (Bécares, Nazroo, et al. 2012).

One might also argue, since deprivation is strongly associated with minority neighbourhoods, that White British youths residing in these areas might be affected negatively by being 'outsiders', which could lead to discrimination that could, in turn, worsen mental health. Moreover, as minorities in deprived neighbourhoods, White British youths may lack the social support and networks to cope with their life situation, which could adversely affect their mental health. It may be that deprivation does not affect the mental health of young people from minority ethnic groups because they are protected from the adverse effects of residing in a deprived neighbourhood by stronger social support and services tailored to their specific ethnic groups (Bécares, Nazroo, et al. 2012; Bécares, Shaw, et al. 2012).

Another plausible explanation, therefore, for the lack of a significant relationship between deprivation and mental health among BAMEs may be due to the within-group heterogeneity within this group. It is a recognised drawback that creating large ethnic categories may be problematic, as these groups could potentially conceal significant differences (Aspinall 1998; Bhopal 1997; Bhopal 2002). Prior studies have shown a mental health advantage for Black Africans (Maynard, Harding, and Minnis 2007), Indians (Green et al. 2005; Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000) and Bangladeshis (Stansfeld et al. 2004) when compared to White British youths; no differences were found between Black Caribbean youths and Whites (Green et al. 2005). Unfortunately, due to small samples it was not possible in this current study to examine the neighbourhood compositional factors influencing these groups separately. This factor may have masked some of the effects, as such the heterogeneous make-up of the BAMEs might also explain the weak association between mental health and minorities residing in ethnically dense neighbourhood environments.

The findings from this current study also indicated that parental behaviour may have an important influence on the mental health of young people, especially BAMEs, for whom parenting style seemed to produce small but incremental improvements in mental health when adjusting models testing individual and parental characteristics. Parental behaviour, however, needs to be balanced between supportive and authoritative styles of parentin. We see that the frequency of leisure time with parents and discussing matters deemed to be important predicts better mental health, whilst shouting and spanking predicts poorer mental health. These findings are supported by previous research suggesting that the parent-child relationship buffers young people from the adverse effects of the wider society (Maynard and Harding 2010; Xue et al. 2005) such as deprivation (Fagg et al. 2006). In particular, studies from the US have shown that there may also be a protective component to parenting behaviours, and the subsequent parent-child relationship. Families that live in deprived areas may restrict the level of interaction of

their children with the residents (Sampson, Morenoff, and Earls 1999; Furstenberg 1999; Lee et al. 2014) and from other perceived ills which may negatively impact their well-being using a more authoritative parenting style.

In sum, it appears that although neighbourhood composition has some influence on the mental health of young people, the findings support previous research indicating that most of the variability in mental health is due to individual level variations. There was also some indication that parental behaviour accounted for some of the variation in mental health among young people. The question as to why minority group members would be more resilient to deprivation and why majority group members less so remains unclear, and further studies are required to examine these differences.

### Strengths and limitations

The results from this study should also be interpreted bearing in mind some limitations related to the data used and to neighbourhood studies in general. One limitation may be the fact that neighbourhoods are administratively defined, and as such it may not fully reflect young peoples lived experience of their local area of residence. Middle Superout Area (MSOAs) were used to define neighbourhood boundaries in this study; as stated above this is an aggregated census measure which consists 3,000 households with an average population size of 7,500. Using this level of aggregation might bring us closer to the definition of the neighbourhood given the smaller geographic area which the measure captures.

In addition, studies seeking to disentangle area level variances have an acknowledged weakness, and that is separating compositional effects from contextual effects. However, we have sought to overcome this by employing multilevel models which are able to model simultaneously the variances on both the individual and neighbourhood level, and as such increase the precision in the estimates (Lupton 2003; Van Ham et al. 2012; Pickett and Pearl 2001).

### **Conclusions and implications**

This study has provided compelling evidence that there is a pressing need to undertake additional work to explain the variation in mental health among young people by ethnicity. Such studies are necessary in light of the disturbing prevalence of young people who suffer from emotional and/or behavioural problems, and the fact that childhood/adolescence is the stage where most mental disorders (which are often detected for the first time in later life) have their origins. In general, greater knowledge would contribute both to policy-making and academia. Providing a better understanding of the complex mechanisms that contribute to interethnic disparities in mental health may lead to significant improvements in the delivery of more targeted and effective interventions for detecting and treating mental ill-health. Future studies may also contribute to our understanding of the differential trajectory of mental health among ethnic minority groups, and thereby assist in the earlier diagnosis and treatment of individuals who are later diagnosed with more severe mental disorders.

### **SUPPLEMENTARY APPENDIX 2**

	Mean	SD	Range	Leisure Time	Eating dinner	Talking about important matters	Praise	Involving youth in setting rules	Spanking or slapping	Shouting	Cuddling
Leisure Time	3,41	1,21	1-6	1					* * <del>*</del>		
Eating dinner	3,41	0.79	1-4	0.12*	1						
Talking about	,	,		0.18*	0.11*	1					
important matters	3,33	0,77	1-4								
Praise	3,74	0,43	1-4	0.21*	0.09*	0.25*	1				
Involving youth in setting rules	2 52	0.88	1-4	0.08*	0.07*	0.09*	0.09*	1			
Spanking or	2,52	0,00	1 1	-0.06*	-0.07*	0,03	-0.05*	-0.06*	1		
slapping	2,96	0,73	1-4			- )					
Shouting	1,29	0,54	1-4	-0,04	0,02	0,03	-0.08*	-0,02	0.23*	1	
Cuddling	3.70	0.55	1-4	0.19*	0.11*	0.31*	0.38*	0.06*	0.06*	0,03	1

	Mean	SD	Range	Ethnic Density	Deprivation	Crime	Living Environment
Ethnic Density	0,65	0,37	0-0.99	1			
Deprivation	3,20	1,46	1-5	-0.50*	1		
Crime	3,15	1,42	1-5	-0.45*	0.73*	1	
Living Environment	3,07	1,45	1-5	-0.42*	0.56*	0.56*	1

Table SA2. Correlation between the neighbourhood characteristics variables for Wave 1,3 and 5, youth data UKHLS

Note: Significance at .001. Source: Understanding Society (2016), Waves 1, 3 and 5 Table SA3. Multilevel linear regression of **mental health** on ethnicity, individual/family characteristics, parental style and neighbourhood characteristics among young people aged 10-15 in England and Wales.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
	Coeff (S.E.)				
Individual Level Predictors					
Other white	-0.93* (0.44)	-0.56 (0.45)	-0.57 (0.45)	-0.71 (0.55)	-0.77 (0.55)
Welsh	-0.53 (0.41)	-0.57 (0.41)	-0.56 (0.40)	-0.61 (0.41)	-0.54 (0.41)
BAMEs	-1.13*** (0.17)	-0.75*** (0.21)	-0.83*** (0.21)	-0.97* (0.40)	-1.01* (0.40)
Youth a girl	-0.09 (0.14)	-0.08 (0.14)	0.03 (0.14)	-0.07 (0.14)	-0.08 (0.14)
Youth age	0.02 (0.04)	0.06 (0.04)	0.05 (0.04)	0.06 (0.04)	0.06 (0.04)
Wave Parent's Education	-0.06 (0.04)	-0.03 (0.04)	-0.03 (0.04)	-0.03 (0.04)	-0.03 (0.04)
Degree					
Other higher degree		0.37 (0.22)	0.30 (0.22)	0.36 (0.22)	0.37 (0.22)
A-level or Similar		0.58** (0.21)	0.48* (0.21)	0.55** (0.21)	0.56** (0.21)
GCSE or Similar		0.61** (0.22)	0.45* (0.21)	0.54* (0.22)	0.59** (0.22)
Other qualification		1.39*** (0.32)	1.33*** (0.32)	1.32*** (0.32)	1.36*** (0.32)
No qualification		0.46 (0.34)	0.33 (0.33)	0.38 (0.34)	0.44 (0.34)
One parent non-UK born		-0.94*** (0.19)	-0.85*** (0.19)	-0.97*** (0.19)	-0.95*** (0.19)
Both parents non-UK born		-0.97*** (0.29)	-0.77** (0.28)	-1.06*** (0.29)	-1.00*** (0.29)
HH income (log)		0.17 (0.14)	0.17 (0.14)	0.19 (0.14)	0.18 (0.14)
At least one parent works		-0.57** (0.20)	-0.54** (0.20)	-0.53** (0.20)	-0.57** (0.20)
Single parent		0.07 (0.19)	0.09 (0.19)	0.04 (0.19)	0.05 (0.19)
Parent's mental health		-0.06*** (0.01)	-0.05*** (0.01)	-0.06*** (0.01)	-0.06*** (0.01)
Parent's physical health		-0.03*** (0.01)	-0.03*** (0.01)	-0.03*** (0.01)	-0.03*** (0.01)
Parent's age Length of residence		-0.06*** (0.01)	-0.05*** (0.01)	-0.06*** (0.01)	-0.06*** (0.01)
1 year or less					
2 - 3 years		-0.37 (0.35)	-0.38 (0.35)	-0.37 (0.35)	-0.37 (0.36)
4 - 10 years		-0.39 (0.33)	-0.39 (0.33)	-0.39 (0.33)	-0.38 (0.33)
10 years or longer Length of residence		-0.88** (0.34)	-0.90** (0.34)	-0.88** (0.34)	-0.88** (0.34)
Leisure time			-0.16** (0.05)		
Eat dinner			-0.15 (0.08)		
Talk about important matter			-0.18* (0.09)		
Praise			-0.13 (0.16)		
Cuddle			-0.22 (0.13)		
Involve youth rule setting			0.09 (0.07)		
Shouting			0.78*** (0.09)		
Spanking or slapping			0.33** (0.12)		
Ethnic density Townsend Deprivation Index				-0.12 (0.49)	-0.31 (0.49)

quintile 1 -least deprived					
quintile 2				0.67* (0.26)	
quintile 3				0.88*** (0.26)	
quintile 4				0.87** (0.27)	
quintile 5 - most deprived <b>Crime</b>				0.91** (0.28)	
quintile 1 -least deprived					
quintile 2					0.10 (0.26)
quintile 3					0.56* (0.27)
quintile 4					0.26 (0.28)
quintile 5 - most deprived Living Environment					0.37 (0.30)
quintile 1 -least deprived					
quintile 2					-0.38 (0.25)
quintile 3					-0.23 (0.26)
quintile 4					-0.37 (0.26)
quintile 5 - most deprived					-0.19 (0.29)
Constant	10.93*** (0.44)	16.75*** (1.37)	16.12*** (1.63)	15.80*** (1.49)	16.85*** (1.51)
Groups: n, n neigborhoods	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422
Neighborhood Neighborhood/Young	1.814	1.658	1.53	1.645	1.66
people	3.763	3.651	3.564	3.649	3.65
Residual	3.73	3.738	3.774	3.738	3.739
AIC	45092.3	44876.4	44766.5	44870.1	44885.7
BIC	45161.2	45055.7	45001	45083.9	45127.1
Observations	7,302	7,302	7,302	7,302	7,302

Note:\*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001. Deprivation refers to Townsend Deprivation Index, Q1–Q5 refers to neighbourhood quintiles. Education variables categorised: A- level or similar includes Welsh baccalaureate; international baccalaureate; higher grade/advanced higher; certificate of sixth year studies. GCSE or similar includes CSE; standard/ordinary (o) grade / lower. BAMEs- Blacks, Asians and other ethnic minorities. Pooled model. Mental health difficulties measured by Total difficulties score on SDQ scale

	Model 1	Model 2	Modal 2	Madal 4	Model 5
	Coeff(S E)	Coeff(S E)	Coeff(S E)	Coeff(SE)	Coeff(SE)
Individual Level	Coeff (S.E.)	Coeff (S.E.)	Coeff (S.E.)	Coen (S.E.)	COEII (S.E.)
Predictors					
Other white	-0.25 (0.17)	-0.13 (0.18)	-0.13 (0.18)	-0.16 (0.21)	-0.19 (0.21)
Welsh	-0.23 (0.16)	-0.23 (0.16)	-0.22 (0.16)	-0.23 (0.16)	-0.21 (0.16)
BAMEs	-0.26*** (0.06)	-0.15 (0.08)	-0.16* (0.08)	-0.19 (0.15)	-0.20 (0.15)
Youth a girl	0.89*** (0.05)	0.89*** (0.05)	0.90*** (0.05)	0.89*** (0.05)	0.89*** (0.05)
Youth age	0.03* (0.01)	$0.04^{*}(0.01)$	0.04* (0.02)	$0.04^{*}(0.01)$	0.04* (0.01)
Wave	0.01 (0.01)	0.01 (0.02)	0.01 (0.02)	0.01 (0.02)	0.01 (0.02)
<b>Parent's Education</b>					
Degree					
Other higher degree		0.04 (0.09)	0.03 (0.09)	0.04 (0.09)	0.03 (0.09)
A-level or Similar		0.05 (0.08)	0.04 (0.08)	0.04 (0.08)	0.05 (0.08)
GCSE or Similar		0.13 (0.08)	0.11 (0.08)	0.11 (0.08)	0.12 (0.08)
Other qualification		0.17 (0.12)	0.16 (0.12)	0.15 (0.12)	0.16 (0.12)
No qualification		-0.10 (0.13)	-0.10 (0.13)	-0.11 (0.13)	-0.10 (0.13)
One parent non-UK born		-0.23*** (0.07)	-0.23*** (0.07)	-0.24** (0.07)	-0.23*** (0.07)
Both parents non-UK born		$-0.23^{*}(0.11)$	-0.21 (0.11)	-0.25* (0.11)	-0.23* (0.11)
HH income (log)		0.13* (0.05)	0.13* (0.05)	0.13* (0.05)	0.13* (0.05)
At least one parent works		-0.13 (0.08)	-0.12 (0.08)	-0.12 (0.08)	-0.13 (0.08)
Single parent		-0.04 (0.07)	-0.04 (0.07)	-0.04 (0.07)	-0.04 (0.07)
		-0.02***	-0.02***	-0.02***	-0.02***
Parent's mental health		(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.00)
Parent's physical health		$-0.01^{**}(0.00)$	$-0.01^{**}(0.00)$	$-0.01^{*}(0.00)$	-0.01** (0.00)
Parent's age		-0.01 (0.005)	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.005)
1 year or less					
2 - 3 years		-0.26 (0.14)	-0.26 (0.14)	-0.26 (0.14)	-0.26 (0.14)
4 - 10 years		-0.24 (0.13)	-0.24 (0.13)	-0.24 (0.13)	-0.24 (0.13)
10 years or longer		$-0.33^{*}(0.13)$	-0.33* (0.13)	-0.33* (0.13)	-0.33* (0.13)
Leisure time		0.000 (0.110)	(0.12)	(0112)	0.000 (0.120)
Eat dinner			-0.04 (0.02)		
Length of residence			-0.003 (0.03)		
Talk about important					
matter			-0.02 (0.03)		
Praise			0.06 (0.06)		
			0.01 (0.05)		
Involve youth rule setting			0.01(0.03)		
Shouting Spanking or slapping			0.00(0.04)		
Ethnic density			0.01 (0.05)	-0.02 (0.19)	-0.09(0.19)
Townsend Deprivation				0.02 (0.17)	0.09 (0.19)
Index					
quintile 1 -least deprived					
quintile 2				0.11 (0.10)	
quintile 3				0.25** (0.10)	
quintile 4				0.21* (0.10)	

Table SA4.1 Multilevel linear regression of **emotional symptoms** on ethnicity, individual/family characteristics, parental style and neighbourhood characteristics among young people aged 10-15 in England and Wales.

quintile 5 - most deprived <b>Crime</b>				0.17 (0.10)	
Crime quintile 1 -least deprived quintile 2 quintile 3 quintile 4 quintile 5 - most deprived Living Environment quintile 1 -least deprived quintile 2					0.04 (0.10) 0.11 (0.10) 0.03 (0.10) 0.12 (0.11)
quintile 3					-0.04 (0.10)
quintile 4					-0.15 (0.10)
quintile 5 - most deprived					-0.12 (0.11)
Constant	1.98*** (0.18)	3.28*** (0.54)	2.98*** (0.65)	3.07*** (0.58)	3.37*** (0.59)
Groups: n. n neigborhoods	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422
Neighborhood	0.525	0.492	0.486	0.495	0.492
Neighborhood/Young	0.020	0	01100	01.50	0,_
people	1.283	1.252	1.252	1.251	1.253
Residual	1.625	1.63	1.631	1.63	1.63
AIC	31398.6	31298.1	31306.6	31299.8	31311.1
BIC	31467.5	31477.4	31541	31513.6	31552.4
Observations	7,302	7,302	7,302	7,302	7,302

Note:\*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001. Deprivation refers to Townsend Deprivation Index, Q1–Q5 refers to neighbourhood quintiles. Education variables categorised: A- level or similar includes Welsh baccalaureate; international baccalaureate; higher grade/advanced higher; certificate of sixth year studies. GCSE or similar includes CSE; standard/ordinary (o) grade / lower. BAMEs- Blacks, Asians and other ethnic minorities

Table SA4.2 Multilevel linear regression of **conduct problems** on ethnicity, individual/family characteristics, parental style and neighbourhood characteristics among young people aged 10-15 in England and Wales.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
	Coeff (S.E.)	Coeff (S.E.)	Coeff (S.E.)	Coeff (S.E.)	Coeff (S.E.)
Individual Level Predictors					
Other white	-0.14 (0.14)	-0.08 (0.15)	-0.08 (0.14)	-0.15 (0.18)	-0.16 (0.18)
Welsh	-0.07 (0.13)	-0.08 (0.13)	-0.07 (0.13)	-0.09 (0.13)	-0.07 (0.13)
BAMES	-0.09 (0.05)	-0.04 (0.07)	-0.08 (0.07)	-0.15 (0.13)	-0.16 (0.13)
Y outh a girl	-0.42 (0.05)	-0.41 (0.05)	-0.36 (0.04)	-0.41 (0.05)	-0.41 (0.05)
Youn age	-0.01 (0.01)	0.003 (0.01)	0.003 (0.01)	0.002(0.01)	0.002 (0.01)
wave Parent's Education	-0.06 (0.01)	-0.04 (0.01)	-0.04 (0.01)	-0.04 (0.01)	-0.04 (0.01)
Degree					
Other higher degree		0.12 (0.07)	0.09 (0.07)	0.12 (0.07)	0.13 (0.07)
A-level or Similar		0.19** (0.07)	0.15* (0.07)	0.18** (0.07)	0.18** (0.07)
GCSE or Similar		0.19** (0.07)	0.11 (0.07)	0.16* (0.07)	0.18* (0.07)
Other qualification		$0.40^{***}$ (0.10)	$0.37^{***}(0.10)$	0.37*** (0.10)	0.38*** (0.10)
No qualification		0.19 (0.11)	0.13 (0.11)	0.16 (0.11)	0.18 (0.11)
One parent non-UK born		-0.24*** (0.06)	-0.21**** (0.06)	-0.26**** (0.06)	-0.26**** (0.06)
Both parents non-UK born		-0.13 (0.09)	-0.05 (0.09)	-0.17 (0.09)	-0.16 (0.09)
HH income (log)		0.03 (0.05)	0.03 (0.04)	0.04 (0.05)	0.04 (0.05)
At least one parent works		-0.20** (0.07)	-0.18** (0.06)	-0.18** (0.07)	-0.19** (0.07)
Single parent		0.02 (0.06)	0.03 (0.06)	-0.0001 (0.06)	0.004 (0.06)
					-0.01***
Parent's mental health		-0.01*** (0.002)	-0.01*** (0.002)	-0.01*** (0.002)	(0.002)
Parent's physical health		-0.01* (0.003)	-0.005 (0.002)	-0.01* (0.003)	-0.01* (0.003)
					-0.02***
Parent's age		-0.02*** (0.004)	-0.02*** (0.004)	-0.02*** (0.004)	(0.004)
Length of residence					
		0.02 (0.12)	0.01 (0.11)	0.02 (0.12)	0.01 (0.12)
2 - 5 years		-0.03(0.12)	-0.03(0.11)	-0.03(0.12)	-0.03(0.11)
10 years or longer		-0.16 (0.11)	-0.18 (0.11)	-0.17 (0.11)	-0.17 (0.11)
Leisure time					
Eat dinner			$-0.05^{**}(0.02)$		
Length of residence			-0.04 (0.03)		
Talk about important matter			-0.06 (0.03)		
Praise			-0.14** (0.05)		
Cuddle			-0.12** (0.04)		
Involve youth rule setting			0.02 (0.02)		
Shouting			0.38*** (0.03)		
Spanking or slapping			0.20*** (0.04)		
Ethnic density				-0.07 (0.16)	-0.11 (0.16)
Townsend Deprivation Index					
quintile 1 -least deprived					
quintile 2				0.18* (0.08)	
quintile 3				$0.20^{*}(0.08)$	
quintile 4				0.28** (0.09)	

quintile 5 - most deprived <b>Crime</b>				0.32*** (0.09)	
quintile 1 -least deprived					
quintile 2					0.11 (0.08)
quintile 3					0.22** (0.09)
quintile 4					0.18* (0.09)
quintile 5 - most deprived Living Environment					0.17 (0.09)
quintile 1 -least deprived					
quintile 2					-0.21** (0.08)
quintile 3					-0.13 (0.08)
quintile 4					-0.12 (0.08)
quintile 5 - most deprived					-0.02 (0.09)
Constant	2.75*** (0.14)	4.29*** (0.45)	3.91*** (0.52)	4.00*** (0.48)	4.24*** (0.49)
Groups: n, n neigborhoods	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422
Neighborhood	0.502	0.458	0.39	0.454	0.458
Neighborhood/Young people	1.202	1.182	1.113	1.182	1.181
Residual	1.242	1.242	1.262	1.241	1.241
AIC	28642	28498.2	28231	28491.7	28497.4
BIC	28711	28677.4	28465.5	28705.5	28738.8
Observations	7,302	7,302	7,302	7,302	7,302

Note:\*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001. Deprivation refers to Townsend Deprivation Index, Q1–Q5 refers to neighbourhood quintiles. Education variables categorised: A- level or similar includes Welsh baccalaureate; international baccalaureate; higher grade/advanced higher; certificate of sixth year studies. GCSE or similar includes CSE; standard/ordinary (o) grade / lower. BAMEs- Blacks, Asians and other ethnic minorities

Table SA4.3 Multilevel linear regression of **Peer Relationship Problems** on ethnicity, individual/family characteristics, parental style and neighbourhood characteristics among young people aged 10-15 in England and Wales.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
	Coeff (S.E.)	Coeff (S.E.)	Coeff (S.E.)	Coeff (S.E.)	Coeff (S.E.)
Individual Level Predictors					
Other white	-0.004 (0.13)	-0.04 (0.13)	-0.04 (0.13)	0.05 (0.16)	0.03 (0.16)
Welsh	-0.27* (0.12)	-0.30* (0.12)	-0.30* (0.12)	-0.30* (0.12)	-0.30* (0.12)
BAMEs	-0.15 <sup>**</sup> (0.05) -0.14 <sup>***</sup>	-0.20** (0.06)	-0.22**** (0.06)	-0.15 (0.12)	-0.13 (0.12) -0.14***
Youth a girl	(0.04)	-0.14*** (0.04)	-0.12** (0.04)	-0.14*** (0.04)	(0.04)
Youth age	-0.03** (0.01)	-0.03* (0.01)	-0.03* (0.01)	-0.03* (0.01)	-0.03* (0.01)
Wave Parent's Education	0.03* (0.01)	0.04*** (0.01)	0.04*** (0.01)	0.04*** (0.01)	0.04*** (0.01)
Degree					
Other higher degree		-0.05 (0.07)	-0.06 (0.07)	-0.06 (0.07)	-0.06 (0.07)
A-level or Similar		0.03 (0.06)	0.02 (0.06)	0.01 (0.06)	0.02 (0.06)
GCSE or Similar		0.07 (0.06)	0.05 (0.06)	0.04 (0.06)	0.06 (0.06)
Other qualification		0.24* (0.09)	0.23* (0.09)	0.21* (0.09)	0.23* (0.09)
No qualification		0.11 (0.10)	0.10 (0.10)	0.07 (0.10)	0.09 (0.10)
One parent non-UK born		-0.10 (0.06)	-0.09 (0.06)	-0.10 (0.06)	-0.10 (0.06)
Both parents non-UK born		0.02 (0.08)	0.03 (0.08)	-0.01 (0.08)	0.02 (0.08)
HH income (log)		-0.09* (0.04)	-0.09* (0.04)	-0.09* (0.04)	-0.09* (0.04)
At least one parent works		-0.13* (0.06)	-0.12* (0.06)	-0.11 (0.06)	-0.12* (0.06)
Single parent		0.05 (0.06)	0.05 (0.06)	0.05 (0.06)	0.05 (0.06)
		-0.01***	-0.01***	-0.01***	-0.01***
Parent's mental health		(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
		-0.01**	-0.01**		-0.01**
Parent's physical health		(0.002)	(0.002)	$-0.01^{**}(0.002)$	(0.002)
Parent's age		-0.01* (0.004)	-0.01* (0.004)	-0.01 (0.004)	-0.01 (0.004)
Length of residence					
l year or less					
2 - 3 years		-0.10 (0.11)	-0.10 (0.11)	-0.10 (0.11)	-0.10 (0.11)
4 - 10 years		-0.16 (0.10)	-0.16 (0.10)	-0.16 (0.10)	-0.16 (0.10)
10 years or longer		-0.24* (0.10)	-0.24* (0.10)	-0.25* (0.10)	-0.24* (0.10)
Leisure time					
Eat dinner			-0.02 (0.02)		
Length of residence			-0.02 (0.02)		
Talk about important matter			-0.01 (0.03)		
Praise			0.02 (0.05)		
			-0.05 (0.04)		
Shouting			0.01(0.02)		
Shouting			0.03 (0.03)		
Spanking or slapping			0.11 (0.04)	0.16(0.14)	0.12 (0.14)
Ethnic density Townsend Deprivation Index				0.16 (0.14)	0.12 (0.14)
quintile 1 least deprived					
quintile 2				0.05 (0.07)	
quintile 3				0.03(0.07) 0.12(0.07)	
quintile 4				0.12(0.07) 0.13(0.08)	
				0.13 (0.00)	
quintile 5 - most deprived				0.23 (0.08)	

Crime					
quintile 1 -least deprived					
quintile 2					-0.02 (0.07)
quintile 3					0.10 (0.08)
quintile 4					0.04 (0.08)
quintile 5 - most deprived					0.14 (0.08)
Living Environment					
quintile 1 -least deprived					
quintile 2					-0.06 (0.07)
quintile 3					-0.07 (0.07)
quintile 4					-0.09 (0.08)
quintile 5 - most deprived					-0.07 (0.08)
Constant	2.20*** (0.13)	4.46*** (0.41)	4.33*** (0.49)	4.07*** (0.44)	4.30*** (0.45)
Groups: n, n neigborhoods	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422
Neighborhood	0.45	0.411	0.407	0.403	0.409
Neighborhood/Young people	0.988	0.968	0.967	0.969	0.968
Residual	1.213	1.217	1.217	1.217	1.217
AIC	27365.9	27256.4	27252.6	27256.6	27267.3
BIC	27434.8	27435.7	27487.1	27470.4	27508.6
Observations	7,302	7,302	7,302	7,302	7,302

Note:\*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001. Deprivation refers to Townsend Deprivation Index, Q1–Q5 refers to neighbourhood quintiles. Education variables categorised: A- level or similar includes Welsh baccalaureate; international baccalaureate; higher grade/advanced higher; certificate of sixth year studies. GCSE or similar includes CSE; standard/ordinary (o) grade / lower. BAMEs- Blacks, Asians and other ethnic minorities

Coeff (S.E.)Coeff (S.E.)Coeff (S.E.)Coeff (S.E.)Coeff (S.E.)Coeff (S.E.)Individual Level PredictorsOther white $-0.57^{**} (0.18)$ $-0.33 (0.19)$ $-0.34 (0.18)$ $-0.46^{*} (0.23)$ $-0.48^{*} (0.23)$ Welsh $-0.01 (0.17)$ $-0.02 (0.17)$ $-0.01 (0.16)$ $-0.04 (0.17)$ $-0.01 (0.17)$	
Individual Level PredictorsOther white $-0.57^{**} (0.18) -0.33 (0.19) -0.34 (0.18) -0.46^{*} (0.23) -0.48^{*} (0.23)$ Welsh $-0.01 (0.17) -0.02 (0.17) -0.01 (0.16) -0.04 (0.17) -0.01 (0.17)$	
Other white $-0.57^{**}(0.18)$ $-0.33(0.19)$ $-0.34(0.18)$ $-0.46^{*}(0.23)$ $-0.48^{*}(0.23)$ Welsh $-0.01(0.17)$ $-0.02(0.17)$ $-0.01(0.16)$ $-0.04(0.17)$ $-0.01(0.17)$	
Welsh $-0.01(0.17) -0.02(0.17) -0.01(0.16) -0.04(0.17) -0.01(0.17)$	)
-U.D.S	
BAMEs $(0.07)$ $-0.37^{***}(0.09)$ $-0.39^{***}(0.09)$ $-0.49^{**}(0.16)$ $-0.53^{**}(0.16)$ $-0.40^{***}$	)
Youth a girl $(0.06)$ $-0.41^{***}(0.06)$ $-0.37^{***}(0.06)$ $-0.40^{***}(0.06)$ $(0.06)$	
Youth age $0.03^* (0.01)$ $0.05^{**} (0.02)$ $0.04^* (0.02)$ $0.05^{**} (0.02)$ $0.05^{**} (0.02)$	)
Wave $-0.05^{**}(0.02) -0.04^{*}(0.02) -0.05^{**}(0.02) -0.04^{**}(0.02) -0.04^{**}(0.02)$	)
Parent's Education Degree	
Other higher degree $0.25^{**}(0.09)$ $0.23^{*}(0.09)$ $0.25^{**}(0.09)$ $0.25^{**}(0.09)$	)
A-level or Similar $0.29^{***}(0.09)  0.25^{**}(0.09)  0.29^{***}(0.09)  0.30^{***}(0.09)$	9)
GCSE or Similar $0.24^{**}(0.09)  0.17(0.09)  0.23^{**}(0.09)  0.24^{**}(0.09)$	)
Other qualification $0.60^{***}(0.13)  0.57^{***}(0.13)  0.59^{***}(0.13)  0.60^{***}(0.13)$	)
No qualification       0.22 (0.14)       0.17 (0.14)       0.23 (0.14)       0.24 (0.14)         -0.36***       -0.36***       -0.36***       -0.36***       -0.36***       -0.36***	,
One parent non-UK born $-0.35^{***}(0.08) -0.32^{***}(0.08) -0.36^{***}(0.08) (0.08) -0.61^{***}$	
Both parents non-UK born $-0.60^{***}(0.12) -0.51^{***}(0.12) -0.61^{***}(0.12)$ (0.12)	
HH income (log) $0.12^* (0.06)  0.11^* (0.06)  0.11^* (0.06)  0.12^* (0.06)$	
At least one parent works-0.10 (0.08)-0.10 (0.08)-0.09 (0.08)-0.11 (0.08)	
Single parent0.05 (0.08)0.06 (0.08)0.04 (0.08)0.04 (0.08)	
-0.01*** -0.01*** -0.01*** -0.01	
Parent's mental health $(0.003)$ $(0.003)$ $(0.003)$ $(0.003)$ $(0.003)$	
-0.01-0.01 $-0.01$ Parent's physical health(0.003) $-0.01^*$ (0.003) $-0.01^{**}$ (0.003) $-0.02^{***}$	
Parent's age $-0.02^{***}(0.01) -0.02^{***}(0.01) -0.02^{***}(0.01) (0.01)$	
Length of residence	
1 year or less	
$2 - 3 \text{ years} \qquad -0.09 (0.15) \qquad -0.10 (0.15) \qquad -0.08 (0.15) \qquad -0.08 (0.15)$	
$4 - 10 \text{ years} \qquad -0.02 (0.14)  -0.02 (0.14)  -0.01 (0.14)  -0.01 (0.14)$	
$\begin{array}{ccc} 10 \text{ years or longer} & -0.19 (0.14) & -0.20 (0.14) & -0.18 (0.14) & -0.18 (0.14) \end{array}$	
Eat dinner $-0.07^{-1} (0.02)$	
$-0.09^{**}(0.03)$	
Talk about important matter -0.11** (0.04)	
Praise $-0.09(0.07)$	
-0.05 (0.05)	
Shouting $0.03 (0.03)$	
Shouting $0.52 = (0.04)$ Spanking or slapping $0.02 = (0.05)$	
Ethnic density -0.19 (0.20) -0.23 (0.20)	
Townsend Deprivation Index	
quintile 1 -least deprived	
quintile 2 0.33** (0.10)	

Table SA4.4 Multilevel linear regression of **hyperactivity-inattention** on ethnicity, individual/family characteristics, parental style and neighbourhood characteristics among young people aged 10-15 in England and Wales.

quintile 3				0.28** (0.10)	
quintile 4				0.25* (0.11)	
quintile 5 - most deprived				0.19 (0.11)	
Crime					
quintile 1 -least deprived					
quintile 2					-0.03 (0.11)
quintile 3					0.12 (0.11)
quintile 4					-0.004 (0.11)
quintile 5 - most deprived					-0.05 (0.12)
Living Environment					
quintile 1 -least deprived					
quintile 2					-0.02 (0.10)
quintile 3					0.01 (0.10)
quintile 4					0.01 (0.11)
quintile 5 - most deprived					0.03 (0.12)
Constant	4.02*** (0.19)	4.89*** (0.57)	5.11*** (0.68)	4.83*** (0.62)	5.09*** (0.62)
Groups: n, n neigborhoods	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422	5425, 2422
Neighborhood	0.58	0.554	0.498	0.549	0.559
Neighborhood/Young people	1.498	1.47	1.426	1.468	1.468
Residual	1.617	1.615	1.634	1.616	1.616
AIC	32169.8	32048.1	31944.7	32044.9	32061.2
BIC	32238.8	32227.4	32179.1	32258.6	32302.6
Observations	7,302	7,302	7,302	7,302	7,302

Note:\*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001. Deprivation refers to Townsend Deprivation Index, Q1–Q5 refers to neighbourhood quintiles. Education variables categorised: A- level or similar includes Welsh baccalaureate; international baccalaureate; higher grade/advanced higher; certificate of sixth year studies. GCSE or similar includes CSE; standard/ordinary (o) grade / lower. BAMEs- Blacks, Asians and other ethnic minorities.

### **Study III**

# Neighbourhood composition: exploring the determinants and stability of reported life satisfaction among ethnic minority youths in England and Wales

## Neighbourhood composition: exploring the determinants and stability of reported life satisfaction among ethnic minority youths in England and Wales

### Abstract

This paper explores the determinants and stability of reported life satisfaction among ethnic minority youths aged 10-15 years residing in England and Wales, and compares these findings with those for majority White youths. The research draws on the literature which implicates the high spatial concentration of ethnic minorities in a given area - 'ethnic density' effects and neighbourhood socioeconomic status on health. Three-level multilevel growth models were fitted to a sample of n=5700 individuals (12,468 observations) using data drawn from two sources: Understanding Society: The UK Household Longitudinal Study (UKHLS) and administrative data based on the 2011 UK census. In general, life satisfaction was found to decrease with age. A strong association was also found between life satisfaction and ethnicity, in particular Asian and Black youths were shown to report better life satisfaction compared with their White counterparts. This differential association was attenuated by ethnic density and neighbourhood socioeconomic status measured by deprivation, proportion of residents proficient in English but English was not their main language, proportion of residents who had arrived in the UK in the past 5 years, and the proportion of residents with a routine/semi-routine occupation. Policies and public health initiatives aimed at improving the mental health and well-being of young people should take into account the inter-relationship between ethnic density and socioeconomic deprivation.

Keywords: life satisfaction, young people, children/adolescents, socioeconomic status, England and Wales, family, ethnic density, neighbourhood.

### Introduction

Global assessments of life satisfaction provide an overall evaluation of an individual's quality of life and are associated with both morbidity and mortality (Lewinsohn, Redner, and Seeley 1991; Kahneman and Krueger 2006). Adult members of ethnic minority groups are more likely to report lower life satisfaction compared with the White adult majority (Knies, Nandi, and Platt 2014; Shields and Wailoo 2002; Burton and Phipps 2008), and the evidence strongly suggests that this is linked to various dimensions of individual and neighbourhood socioeconomic inequalities (e.g. unemployment, income, deprivation, neighbourhood quality and resources, health, health care provision and services, among other factors).

There is a wealth of evidence indicating that ethnic minority groups are overrepresented in socioeconomically disadvantaged neighbourhoods and, according to several studies, the residential/spatial clustering segregation of these groups is a key determinant of the observed differences in health and well-being compared with the white majority (Wilson 1987; Williams and Collins 2001). On the other hand, some studies have reported better mental health, life satisfaction and in some instances physical health, in neighbourhoods where adult members of ethnic minority groups constitute a greater proportion of the population (Halpern and Nazroo 2000; Bécares, Shaw, et al. 2012). Similarly, prior studies investigating the health of young people across multiple contexts have found that the so-called ethnic density, which is measured as proportion ethnic minority or the proportion of co-ethnics was associated with health (Fagg et al. 2006; Harding et al. 2015; Abada, Hou, and Ram 2007; Gieling, Vollebergh, and van Dorsselaer 2010; Wickrama and Bryant 2003). The results of these studies have been inconsistent. Whereas some studies have found that ethnic density is associated with salutary health effects (Wickrama and Bryant 2003; Gieling,

139

Vollebergh, and van Dorsselaer 2010; Fagg et al. 2006; Zhang et al. 2017), others have reported that it contributes (Abada, Hou, and Ram 2007) to poor health or that there was no association (Xue et al. 2005). In order, to disentangle the true effect of ethnic density on the health of young people, more research into its impact is warranted.

Research into whether the effect of neighbourhood 'ethnic density' on life satisfaction also applies to ethnic minority youths has yet to be examined in the British context. This is despite the fact that young people may be more susceptible to neighbourhood effects because of their early developmental stage, relative immobility and autonomy with regards to where they live and the amount of time spent in their area of residence (Allison et al. 1999; Jackson and Mare 2007). Improving our knowledge of the determinants of life satisfaction, specifically the positive aspects, could provide a springboard for creating targeted and effective interventions to buffer and protect socially and economic disadvantaged at-risk groups.

This is crucial because life satisfaction has been shown to predict mental ill-health at least two years before actual diagnosis (Lewinsohn, Redner, and Seeley 1991), and mental ill-health among young people in the UK has been estimated at 10% (Green et al. 2005; Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000). These estimates indicate however that ethnicity matters. Estimates indicate that the prevalence of mental health disorders is unequally distributed among young people, where approximately 12% Black, 10% Whites, 8% Asian (Pakistani & Bangladeshi ) and 4% Indian youths have a mental health disorder (Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000). In light of the diversity of the British population (Jivraj and Simpson 2015a; Simpson 2015) and the fact that young people aged 10-15 years make up 7% of the population (ONS Census 2011a), exploring factors which may improve the life satisfaction across these groups may have significant public health implications. A pioneering study was therefore conducted of the influence of ethnic density on life satisfaction among ethnic minority youths.

Bearing the above in mind, the central focus of the present study was to explore the determinants and stability of reported life satisfaction among ethnic minority youths aged 10-15 years residing in England and Wales, and compares these findings with those of majority White youths. The research drew on the extensive literature that implicates the neighbourhood in a range of youth health outcomes. Further by using a longitudinal panel it was possible to follow the development of life satisfaction among the various ethnic groups over time. The following questions were addressed (1) What is the effect of ethnic density and neighbourhood socioeconomic status on ethnicspecific age trajectories in life satisfaction among ethnic minority youths? (2) Does ethnic density and neighbourhood socioeconomic status explain the variation in life satisfaction across different ethnic groups? (3) How stable are the effects of life satisfaction across ethnic minority groups over time when compared to majority white youths?

### Materials and methods

### Data and study population

The research drew upon data from two sources: the individual-level data was taken from waves 1 (2009/2010) to 5 (2013/2014) of *Understanding Society: The UK Household Longitudinal Study* (UKHLS) (University of Essex – Institute for Social and Economic Research 2015), while the neighbourhood-level data was based on aggregated *administrative data* collected in the 2011 census (ONS 2017).

### Individual-level data

The UKHLS is a household panel study that in 2009/2010 sampled around 50,000 households, resulting in wave 1 of a sample of approximately 70,000 individuals living in 30,000 households across the UK (Knies 2017b), who have since been surveyed annually. Within households where adults were interviewed, oral consent was obtained from parents and/or guardians for household members aged 10-15 years to complete a pencil-and-paper self-reported questionnaire.

### Neighbourhood-level data

For the purpose of this analysis, neighbourhood is defined as a Middle Super Output Area (MSOA). MSOAs were created for administrative purposes as a part of the system used to monitor social, economic and general living conditions in the UK. They have a minimum residential size of 5000 individuals and 2000 households, with an average population size of 7500.

Permission was requested and obtained for the data linkage and for secondary analyses to be conducted using UKHLS data. Approval was granted by the University of Essex Ethics Committee.

### Sample

The final sample, defined as youth or young people, referred to both children (i.e. 10-12 years old) and adolescents (i.e. aged 13-15) who together formed an unbalanced panel consisting of 5,700 young people aged 10-15 years (12,468 observations) residing in 2,505 neighbourhoods. The final analytical sample size can be attributed to list-wise deletion of variables with missing information. Some attrition across the data collection periods could be explained by the fact that: (a) the survey team lost contact with families who had participated in an earlier wave, (b) young people decided not to respond to the survey even though their families participated, or (c) individuals initially classified as being a youth (i.e. aged 10-15 years) turned age 16 and were interviewed as a part of the adult sample. New participants also joined the survey at different time points because they gained eligibility (i.e. turned age 10) and/or joined households that were already part of the survey.

### Measures

The dependent variable *life satisfaction* was comprised of six items measured at each available wave (i.e. waves 1-5, covering the years 2009/2010-2013/2014) of the questionnaire. This measure was aimed at capturing how satisfied respondents were with several aspects of their lives: schoolwork, appearance, family, friends, school, and life as a whole. Respondents were provided with depictions of more or less smiling faces, representing 1 (very satisfied) to 7 (not very satisfied). The six items had a correlation ranging from r=0.25 to a maximum r=0.51, and which loaded onto a single factor (see supplementary appendix SA1). Moreover, together the items had a relatively high internal consistency and reliability, as measured by the Cronbach's alpha  $(\alpha=0.77)$ , indicating that it was appropriate to sum the items to create a single summary scale. The measure ranged from 1 to 43 and was coded in a similar way to that of earlier studies (see for e.g. Knies 2017a) where higher scores indicated greater life satisfaction. Although there are no studies that has specifically sought to examine the cross-cultural validity of this particular measure, measures of life satisfaction has been widely used and accepted as an indicator of overall well-being (Van Praag, Frijters, and Ferrer-i-Carbonell 2003; Kahneman and Krueger 2006; Proctor, Linley, and Maltby 2009; Shields and Wailoo 2002).

143

The key explanatory variable, *self-identified ethnicity* was measured using the responses to a list of 18 ethnic identity categories. The variable was then collapsed into four categories (White, Black, Asian and other Mixed identities) because of the small sample sizes. Throughout the text, the terms White and majority White is used interchangeably. Full groups are given in appendix SA2.

*Ethnic density*, created from data obtained from the 2011 census, was defined as the proportion of all individuals from any ethnic minority group living in the respondent's MSOA (proportion ethnic minority) and the proportion of all individuals living in the respondent's MSOA who were of the same ethnic group (proportion coethnics). These measures were calculated separately for each ethnic group using data from the 2011 UK census. It was then merged to the individual level data using the appropriate geographic codes.

Several measures aimed at capturing residential mobility and the socioeconomic conditions of the neighbourhood. These were (a) *socioeconomic deprivation*, which was measured using the Townsend deprivation index and based on data from the 2011 census, which was aggregated at the MSOA level. It consisted of information pertaining to the percentage of households without access to a car or van; percentage of households with more than one person per room (overcrowding); percentage of households not owner-occupied (tenure); and the percentage of economically active residents who are unemployed, excluding students (Townsend, Phillimore, and Beattie 1988); (b) the *proportion routine/semi-routine workers* per neighbourhood was calculated based on the National Statistics Socio-Economic Classification (NS-SEC)<sup>6</sup>, which provides an indication of socioeconomic position based on an individual's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> More information regarding this census-aggregated measure is available at http://www.ons.gov.uk/census.
occupation; (c) *English language proficiency* which was an aggregated measure that classified people whose main language was not English (or not English or Welsh in Wales) according to their ability to speak English. The following categories were used: can speak English very well, can speak English well, cannot speak English well, or cannot speak English. Higher scores indicated the proportion of individuals in the neighbourhood proficient in English but for whom English was not their main language and (d) an indicator for *Newly arriving migrants* was measured as the proportion of migrants residing in a given neighbourhood (MSOA) who had moved into the UK in the past 5 years.

Individual/family variables previously shown (Webb et al. 2017; Knies 2017a; Proctor, Linley, and Maltby 2009; Bradshaw and Richardson 2009; Scott and Chaudhary 2003) to be related to young people's life satisfaction were also included in the models as controls, in order to reduce the risk that any relationships observed between youth life satisfaction and neighbourhood characteristics were spurious. These included the young people's age, sex and ethnicity. As well as these measures, socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of the parents were included in the models. These factors predisposes families to live in particular neighbourhoods (parents' highest level of education attained; household income; lone parent household; indicators for parents' nativity; length of residency) (Leventhal, Dupéré, and Brooks-Gunn 2009; Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2001), and parents' mental health as Survey (measured by 12-item Short Form Health Survey, Appendix 2) With the exception of parental education, all other parental variables were averaged between the two parents. For youths residing in a lone-parent household, the information for that parent was used.

## Statistical analysis

Three-level multilevel growth curve models capturing the nested relationships between the repeated measures (at each wave, 1-5) of life satisfaction (level 1) nested in young people (level 2) nested in MSOAs-neighbourhoods (level 3). The models estimated the mean trajectories (i.e. growth) of young people's life satisfaction from age 10 to 15, by including time as an independent variable. This approach captured the fact that young people may differ in life satisfaction at different ages, while also capturing individual differences in patterns over time and therefore deviations from mean trajectories. The models also accounted for the 'clustering' of repeated measures as youth life satisfaction was correlated across the different data collection periods. Thus both the fixed (i.e. mean life satisfaction at the average age) and random (i.e. change per annum/age) parameters were specified in the growth model. With this, the random parameters captured the variation in life satisfaction between data collection periods for each young person (between-wave variance) and between youths at the average age (between-youth intercept variance), as well as the variation in life satisfaction annually (between-youth slope variance). The covariance between the intercept and the slope indicated whether there was a relationship between life satisfaction of young people around the mean age of 12.5 years, and their growth between the ages of 10 and 15.

Bivariate analyses including Pearson correlation and a general description of the variables used in the models across various ethnic groups and waves were followed with a full random effects model with an indicator for clustering at the neighbourhood level. The analysis of the data proceeded sequentially. Model 1 will allow for random intercepts and slopes, with age as the only predictor. This model assesses therefore the average level and growth in life satisfaction through a multilevel regression where only age was included in the model. It also allowed the

146

relationship between age and life satisfaction to vary across neighbourhoods and among youths. In another specification, age squared was added to the models to allow for the non-linearity of the trajectories but was later dropped because the effects were non-significant. Model 2 included separate variables for each of the ethnic minority groups (modelled relative to Whites). This model provided a baseline measurement for assessing whether the average differences in life satisfaction across the sample could be explained by ethnicity.

Models 3-6 added the neighbourhood factors of interest. These models examined whether proportion ethnic minority or indicators of deprivation were significantly associated with life satisfaction among young people. This model assess the extent to which these indicators explains area-level variation in life satisfaction among youths from various ethnic groups. In model 6, individual/family characteristics were introduced in order to assess whether and the extent to which the observed effects could be attributed to the type of individuals/families residing in these neighbourhoods.

# Results

# Distribution of life satisfaction by ethnic group over time.

Figure 1 provides a breakdown of the ethnic distribution of life satisfaction across each of the five waves of data collection. The results indicated that life satisfaction declined over time among Black and Asian youths but fluctuated inconsistently among White and Mixed ethnic youths.

147



Figure 1. The ethnic distribution of life satisfaction across the five waves of data collection [(Wave 1 (2009/2010) to Wave 5 (2013/2014)].

## Distribution of life satisfaction by ethnic group

An examination of the percentage of youths reporting each of the dimensions of life satisfaction by ethnicity (Figure 2A-2D) indicated that, overall, the most common contributors to high life satisfaction were family and friends, while the least common was school work. Asians were the most satisfied of these groups, followed by Blacks and Whites. Youths of Mixed ethnicities were least satisfied with family and friends, by approximately 6 percentage points. Besides the high satisfaction which young people felt for their family and friends, there was some variation between the four ethnic groups in their report certain dimensions of life satisfaction. Examples of these differences are provided with a description of the dimensions with which young people from each ethnic group were most satisfied –i.e. dimensions reported as being 7, based on the response scale of 1-7.

For White youths, appearance (18%) and school work (18%) were the most frequently citied dimensions of life satisfaction, followed by going to school and life as a whole. In contrast, slightly more than double the proportion of Blacks felt satisfied with their appearance (37%), while 28% reported being very satisfied with school work, 35% with going to school and 38% with life as a whole. Patterns of life satisfaction for Asians were largely similar to those of Blacks, with 32% reporting being satisfied with their appearance, 29% being very satisfied with school work, 40% with going to school and 39% with life as a whole. For Mixed youths, 28% reporting being satisfied with their appearance, 22% with school work and 32% with going to school and life as a whole. Full details are provided in Figures 2A-2D in the appendix.

A zero-order correlation among the neighbourhood measures (Table 1) was significantly related with youth life satisfaction (p<0.05 or less). There was a significant and high correlation between minority ethnic density and the Townsend deprivation index, providing further evidence of the over-representation of minority ethnic groups in deprived areas. Figure 3 presents the ethnic distribution of overall ethnic density and the Townsend deprivation index. A full description of all the individual/family variables is shown in appendix SA3.



Figure 2A-2D. The distribution of items measuring life satisfaction by ethnicity.

	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]	[6]
[1] Life satisfaction	1.00					
[2] Deprivation	0.03**	1.00				
[3] Ethnic density	0.05***	0.83***	1.00			
[4] English Language						
Proficiency	0.02**	0.48***	-0.20***	1.00		
[5] Proportion migrants						
arrived last 5 years	-0.03***	0.26***	-0.18***	0.24***	1.00	
[6] Proportion						
routine/semi routine						
workers	-0.02**	0.25***	0.13***	0.52***	0.07***	1.00
Notes: *** p<0.001, ** p<	0.01, * p<0.0	5. Source:	UK House	hold Long	itudinal Sı	ırvey
(2015) [Waves 1-5]	1			U		2

Table 1. Pearson correlation matrix of neighbourhood level variables with life satisfaction



Figure 3. The ethnic distribution of deprivation and ethnic density across neighbourhoods (MSOAs). Lower numbers represent lower levels of deprivation.

As indicated in the model specification, several nested models were then tested as a means of addressing the research questions. The results for coefficients and standard errors (se) are reported in Table 2. For Model 1, the results indicated that life

satisfaction dropped annually by 0.61(0.03) points. These effects were clearly linear, given that age squared, the quadratic term, which was included in another specification (available upon request), did not have a significant influence on life satisfaction, suggesting that the relationship between age and youth life satisfaction was not curvilinear. The random effects were significant, with more between-wave variance and the between-youth intercept variance over time when compared to the between neighbourhood variance. There was also a significant negative covariance between the intercept and the slope. These results, the smaller (more negative) value of the intercept and its association with the larger (more positive) value of the slope, suggested that lower initial life satisfaction scores would lead to a more rapid increase, with more positive changes, in life satisfaction over time.

In Model 2, the trajectory of youth life satisfaction was significantly related to the ethnicity of Asians and Blacks relative to Whites. The mean level of life satisfaction by ethnic group across the five waves of data collection showed that, on average, Black and Asian youths reported significantly higher levels of life satisfaction compared with youths of both White and Mixed ethnicity. This differential was, however, not statistically significant at the 5% level for youths of mixed ethnicity relative to Whites.

	Model 1	Model 2		Model 3		Model 4		Model 5		Model 6		
Independent variables	coef	se	coef	se	coef	se	coef	se	coef	se	coef	se
Youth ethnicity (ref. white)												
Mixed			0.25	(0.23)	0.22	(0.24)	0.22	(0.24)	0.18	(0.24)	0.22	(0.25)
Asian			1.09***	(0.18)	1.04***	(0.22)	1.03***	(0.21)	0.98***	(0.22)	0.63**	(0.24)
Black			0.81***	(0.23)	0.76**	(0.26)	0.80**	(0.25)	0.75**	(0.26)	0.68*	(0.26)
Neighbourhood variables												
Ethnic density					0.11	(0.33)			0.38	(0.62)	0.33	(0.62)
Townsend deprivation index							-0.02	(0.04)	-0.05	(0.07)	-0.03	(0.07)
English language proficiency							0.52*	(0.24)	0.48 +	(0.25)	0.48 +	(0.25)
Proportion of newly arriving immigra	ints						-2.11**	(0.76)	-2.11**	(0.76)	-2.08**	(0.75)
Proportion in routine occupations							-1.70+	(0.89)	-1.26	(1.14)	-0.36	(1.14)
Youth age	-0.61***	(0.03)	-0.61***	(0, 03)	-0.61***	(0.03)	-0 61***	(0.03)	-0 61***	(0.03)	-0 60***	(0, 03)
Youth is a girl			0.01	(0.05)	0.01	(0.05)	0.01	(0.05)	0.01	(0.05)	-0.10	(0.11)
Lone parent households											-0.71***	(0.15)
Parental mental well-being											0.04***	(0.00)
At least one parent employed											0.02	(0.07)
Parents' nativity (ref. UK born)												(0.0.)
1 parent non-UK born											0.25	(0.20)
Both parents non-UK born											0.43+	(0.23)
Parents' highest education (ref. no qua	alification)											()
Other qualification											-0.60+	(0.31)
GCSE, etc.											-0.36	(0.26)
A-level, etc.											-0.49+	(0.26)
Other high degree											-0.35	(0.27)
Degree											-0.16	(0.26)
Length of residency (ref. a year or les	s)											
2 - 3 years											-0.23	(0.27)
<i>4-10 years</i>											-0.04	(0.26)
10 years or more											-0.04	(0.27)

Table 2. Fixed and random estimates of life satisfaction trajectories among by ethnicity among youths aged 10-15 years. An examination of the influence of the proportion ethnic minority in a neighbourhood and neighbourhood socioeconomic status

Household income (ref. t	ertile 1)											
Tertile 2											-0.02	(0.11)
Tertile 3											-0.01	(0.13)
Constant	37.79***	(0.34)	37.60***	(0.34)	37.58***	(0.34)	38.20***	(0.42)	38.04***	(0.50)	36.43***	(0.66)
<b>Random effects</b>												
Level 3 (Neighbourhood	l-MSOA)											
Intercept	0.36***	(0.07)	0.32***	(0.08)	0.32***	(0.08)	0.31***	(0.08)	0.31***	(0.08)	0.28***	(0.08)
Level 2 (Youth)												
Intercept	-0.15**	(0.05)	-0.15**	(0.05)	-0.15**	(0.05)	-0.15**	(0.05)	-0.15**	(0.05)	-0.16**	(0.05)
Slope	2.31***	(0.06)	2.31***	(0.06)	2.31***	(0.06)	2.31***	(0.06)	2.31***	(0.06)	2.30***	(0.06)
Covariance	-1.92***	(0.06)	-1.92***	(0.06)	-1.92***	(0.06)	-1.92***	(0.06)	-1.92***	(0.06)	-1.93***	(0.06)
Level 1 (Wave)												
Intercept	1.20***	(0.01)	1.20***	(0.01)	1.20***	(0.01)	1.20***	(0.01)	1.20***	(0.01)	1.20***	(0.01)
AIC	72,738		72,699		72,700		72,700		72,696		72,598	
Observations	12,468		12,468		12,468		12,468		12,468		12,468	
Number of groups	2505		2505		2505		2505		2505		2505	

Notes: \*\*\* p<0.001, \*\* p<0.01, \* p<0.05, + p<0.10; standard errors in parentheses; Coeff=coefficient; Wave=repeated measurement occasions

The effect of the proportion ethnic minority was assessed in Model 3; and although proportion ethnic minority itself was not significant, adjusting for this measure reduced the difference in life satisfaction of Asians and Blacks by approximately 5 units in comparison to Whites. The significance of the strength of the relationship between life satisfaction among Blacks was also reduced in comparison to White Majority youths. This indicated that ethnic density was correlated with both life satisfaction and ethnicity. An examination of neighbourhood socioeconomic status (Model 4) indicated that life satisfaction was significantly related to the proportion of individuals in the neighbourhood who were proficient in English but for whom English was not their main language, the proportion of migrants in the neighbourhood who had arrived in the UK in the past 5 years, and the proportion of residents in routine occupations. Of these only English language proficiency was shown to be related to better life satisfaction. The difference in life satisfaction between White majority, and Asians and Black youths was further reduced when proportion ethnic minority, indicators of neighbourhood socioeconomic status and the individual/family predictors were included in the models (Models 5-6) simultaneously. The results from models in which proportion co-ethnics were examined were similar to those already presented and therefore not shown in detail. The full results are given in appendix SA4.

#### Discussion

This study explored the poorly researched determinants of life satisfaction and stability among ethnic minority youths. In particular, it explored the previously unexamined associations between ethnic variation in life satisfaction, socioeconomic status and neighbourhood ethnic density among 10–15-year-olds living in England and Wales. To disentangle these factors, three research questions were addressed. The results from this study find an association between the individual factors we expect to be associated with life satisfaction among young people, and similar to earlier studies, the relationship between youth life satisfaction and demographic factors such as gender and age is weak (Proctor, Linley, and Maltby 2009). The findings in relation to age across the data collection periods indicate that life satisfaction is largely stable over time.

Previous research has shown that ethnic density is highly correlated with some deprivation, it was therefore important to capture varying aspects of deprivation in this study. The results indicated that, similar to those earlier studies, ethnic density was strongly correlated with deprivation, as measured by the Townsend deprivation index, with a more moderate to weak correlation with English language proficiency, the proportion of migrants who had arrived in the UK in the last 5 years and the proportion of routine/semi-routine workers. No statistically significant relationship was found between ethnic density and life satisfaction. This lack of significance, however, was not evidence of a no effect, given that the inclusion of this measure attenuated the difference across ethnic groups. Research to date on the effects of ethnic density as it relates to health outcomes among young people has been equivocal; whereas some researchers find a beneficial effect of ethnic density (Gieling, Vollebergh, and van Dorsselaer 2010; Wickrama and Bryant 2003), at least one study has indicated that this effect may be negative when the ethnic group in question is too large (Fagg et al. 2006), others find a generally negative effect (Abada, Hou, and Ram 2007), and yet others find no effect of ethnic density as it relates to young people (Xue et al. 2005; Astell-Burt et al. 2012). One explanation for the inconsistencies in the literature examining the effects of ethnic density, is the varying definitions applied to the term ethnic density and the level at which the measure is created. For instance, some studies have defined

ethnic density as the overall proportion of ethnic minorities in an area, while others have defined it as the proportion of co-ethnics. As elsewhere, the current study examined the ethnic variations in life satisfaction using both definitions of ethnic density (see for e.g. Bécares, Nazroo, and Stafford 2009; Bécares, Nazroo, et al. 2012; Halpern and Nazroo 2000), however, the results from both sets of analyses were almost identical.

Numerous studies have demonstrated that socioeconomic inequalities in a neighbourhood account for some of the variation found in the life satisfaction of ethnic minority groups compared with the majority White populations (Roy, Hughes, and Yoshikawa 2012; Shields and Wailoo 2002). The results of this study indicate that neighbourhood socioeconomic status only partially explains the ethnic variations in life satisfaction. The results show that the addition of various indicators reduced ethnic differences in the association between neighbourhood and life satisfaction. Even with this adjustment, both Asian and Black youths were estimated to have better life satisfaction compared with their White counterparts. These findings are also similar to those found in the literature where other health outcomes have been compared for minority and majority group members (Bécares, Nazroo, et al. 2012; Astell-Burt et al. 2012; Goodman, Patel, and Leon 2010, 2008).

This finding might be interpreted as a sort of 'resilience' among ethnic minorities. Several studies have alluded to the fact that people who live in more disadvantaged areas are more likely to adapt to their more economically disadvantaged situation, and this may account for the ethnic differences in life satisfaction (Joshi et al. 2000; Bécares, Nazroo, et al. 2012). A possible alternative explanation is that some of these differences are in fact ethnic variations in survey response styles, as they relate to subjective well-being, and this may contribute to the observed disparity in health (Van

157

Herk, Poortinga, and Verhallen 2004; Marin, Gamba, and Marin 1992; Ross and Mirowsky 1984).

A key strength of the current study is the analytical approach adopted. Given the nested structure of the data, individual error terms might have been correlated across which could lead to imprecise (biased) standard errors. However, this correlation was accounted for with the implementation of multilevel growth models, which allows for the estimation of individual level data while taking into account both the contextual and individual processes simultaneously. Additionally, although the analyses are based on a large nationally representative sample of young people and their parents linked to census data at a relatively small geographic level, because of missing random data, attrition and new entrants into the panel at different time points, the panel is unbalanced. Despite this, it was possible, however, to take advantage of the rich data set with the analytical approach used (Raudenbush and Bryk 2002). For instance, young people who were measured at one time point but did not contribute to the within-individual variability, were counted towards the between-individual variance (Snijders and Bosker 1999). Moreover, given the longitudinal nature of the data, it was possible to examine average inter- and intra-individual changes annually.

The study does, however, have some limitations. Firstly, the use of an administrative measure of neighbourhood based on census data, although at a small geographic area, may not be appropriate for assessing relationships within areas of residence. To ensure we have captured the true 'geographic' relationships, these analyses should be replicated using other definitions of neighbourhood. Secondly, families may have self-selected the neighbourhoods in which they reside, and this may have influenced the results of the study.

Despite the limited empirical support for the research questions assessed here, investigation of the possible influences of ethnic density on life satisfaction was warranted because young people are typically less mobile compared to their adult counterparts, which means that they may spend a disproportionate amount of time within their neighbourhoods. Previous studies have indicated that, during the critical phase of development when young people are experiencing physical, psychological and cognitive changes on their path towards adulthood, (Allison et al. 1999; Jackson and Mare 2007), their experiences and relationships within the neighbourhood have a strong influence on a range of outcomes. The current theoretical discourse indicates that the effects of area of residence persist throughout life (WHO 2016; Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2000; Xue et al. 2005; Leventhal, Dupéré, and Brooks-Gunn 2009; Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn 2001). Furthermore, as shown in this study, the factors that impact the life satisfaction of young people differ in several respects from adults, and thus a reliance on adult findings can be misleading.

### Conclusion

The present study reports a strong association between life satisfaction and ethnicity, in particular Asian and Black youths appear to have better life satisfaction compared with their White counterparts. This differential association is attenuated by ethnic density and neighbourhood socioeconomic status (deprivation, proportion of residents proficient in English but English is not their main language, proportion of residents who have arrived in the UK in the past 5 years, and the proportion of residents who have a routine/semi-routine occupation). Further exploration of these mediating factors would be of value for policy makers and public health practitioners interested in closing the widening health gaps between more or less disadvantaged groups. More research is also necessary to disentangle the underlying processes that could explain health differentials generally, as well as the role of ethnicity.

Table SA1 Pearson correlation matrix of items measuring life satisfaction									
	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]	[6]			
[1] School work	1.00								
[2] Appearance	0.33*	1.00							
[3] Family	0.29*	0.34*	1.00						
[4] Friends	0.25*	0.31*	0.36*	1.00					
[5] Going to school	0.46*	0.32*	0.32*	0.35*	1.00				
[6] Life as a whole	0.40*	0.51*	0.51*	0.40*	0.42*	1.00			
Source: UK Household Longitudinal Survey (2015) [Waves 1-5]									

## Table SA2. Ethnic grouping for current survey

What is your ethnic group? CODE ONE ONLY White British/English/Scottish/Welsh/ Northern Irish Irish Gypsy or Irish Traveller Other Mixed White and Black Caribbean White and Black African White and Asian White and Black African Asian Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi Chinese Any other Asian background Black/ African/ Caribbean/ Black British Caribbean African Any other Black background Source: UK Household Longitudinal Survey (2015) [Waves 1-5] and UK Census 2011; Notes: Ethnic group as recorded in the interview.

Table SA3 Individual/family and neighbourhood charac	cteristics for t	he total sample				
unweighted n(%)	Total Sample (n=12,468)					
Individual level measures						
Youth is a girl	6,221	49.90				
Youth Age M(SD) [range]	12,468	12.6(1.6) [10-15]				
Youth Ethnicity	,					
White	9,184	73.66				
Mixed	790	6.34				
Asians	1,686	13.52				
Blacks	808	6.48				
Single parent household	3,304	26.50				
Parents Nativity	-					
Both parents UK born	9,861	79.09				
1 parent non-UK born	1,363	10.93				
Both parents non-UK born	1,244	9.98				
Parents highest education						
No qualification	683	5.48				
Other qualification	703	5.64				
GCSE etc	2,509	20.12				
A-level etc	2,520	20.21				
Other high degre	1,985	15.92				
Degree	4,068	32.63				
Length of residency	-					
1 year or less	325	2.6				
2 - 3 years	987	7.9				
4-10 years	5,448	43.7				
10 years or more	5,708	45.8				
At least one parent works	7,279	58.4				
Parents' mental well-being M(SD) [range]	12,468	48.5(9.1) [3.0–77.1]				
Household income	,					
Tertile 1 (Lowest)	4,173	33.5				
Tertile 2	4.094	32.8				
Tertile 3 (highest )	4.201	33.7				
Neighbourhood level measures	<i>y</i> -					
Coethnic density M(SD) [range]	12,468	.66 (.36) (0-0,99)				
Overall ethnic density M(SD) [range]	12,468	0.24 (0.26)[0.01-0.96]				
Townsend Deprivation Index M(SD) [range]	12,468	0.40(2.24) [-2.6–9.2]				
English language proficiency M(SD) [range]	12,468	.51(0.34)[0-3.33]				
Proportion of newly arriving immigrants M(SD) [range]	12,468	0.20(0.09)[0.4-0.72]				
Proportion in routine occupations M(SD) [range]	12,468	0.26 (0.09)[0.04-0.54]				

Source: UK Household Longitudinal Survey (2015) [Waves 1-5]

	Model 2		Model 3		Model 4		Model 5		Model 6	
Independent variables	coef	se	coef	se	coef	se	coef	se	coef	se
Youth ethnicity (ref: white)										
Mixed	0.25	(0.23)	0.07	(0.34)	0.22	(0.24)	-0.04	(0.34)	0.01	(0.34)
Asian	1.09***	(0.18)	0.95***	(0.26)	1.03***	(0.21)	0.85**	(0.27)	0.52 +	(0.28)
Black	0.81***	(0.23)	0.64*	(0.32)	0.80**	(0.25)	0.57 +	(0.33)	0.52	(0.33)
Proportion Co-ethnics			-0.22	(0.31)			-0.34	(0.32)	-0.32	(0.33)
Townsend deprivation Index					-0.02	(0.04)	-0.02	(0.04)	-0.01	(0.04)
English language proficiency					0.52*	(0.24)	0.51*	(0.24)	0.51*	(0.24)
Proportion of newly arriving immigrant	ts				-2.11**	(0.76)	-2.22**	(0.77)	-2.18**	(0.76)
Proportion in routine occupations					-1.70+	(0.89)	-1.55+	(0.90)	-0.60	(0.91)
Individual/family control variables										
Youth age	-0.61***	(0.03)	-0.61***	(0.03)	-0.61***	(0.03)	-0.61***	(0.03)	-0.60***	(0.03)
Youth is a girl									-0.09	(0.11)
Lone parent households									-0.72***	(0.15)
Parental mental well-being									0.04***	(0.00)
At least one parent employed									0.02	(0.07)
Parents nativity (ref:UK born)										
1 parent non-UK born									0.23	(0.21)
Both parents non-UK born									0.40 +	(0.24)
Parents' highest education (ref:No quali	ification)									
Other qualification									-0.61+	(0.31)
GCSE etc									-0.36	(0.26)
A-level etc									-0.49+	(0.26)
Other high degre									-0.35	(0.27)
Degree									-0.17	(0.26)

Table SA4. Fixed and random estimates of life satisfaction trajectories among by ethnicity among youths aged 10-15 years. An examination of the proportion co-ethnics and neighbourhood socioeconomic status.

Length of residency (ref:a year or less)										
2 - 3 years									-0.23	(0.27)
<i>4-10 years</i>									-0.04	(0.26)
10 years or more									-0.03	(0.27)
Household income (ref:tertile 1)										· /
Tertile 2									-0.02	(0.11)
Tertile 3									-0.01	(0.13)
Constant	37.60***	(0.34)	37.78***	(0.42)	38.20***	(0.42)	38.46***	(0.49)	36.82***	(0.66)
Random effects										
Level 3 (Neighbourhood-MSOA)										
Intercept	0.32***	(0.08)	0.32***	(0.08)	0.31***	(0.08)	0.31***	(0.08)	0.28***	(0.08)
Level 2 (Youth)										
Intercept	-0.15**	(0.05)	-0.15**	(0.05)	-0.15**	(0.05)	-0.15**	(0.05)	-0.16**	(0.05)
Slope	2.31***	(0.06)	2.31***	(0.06)	2.31***	(0.06)	2.31***	(0.06)	2.30***	(0.06)
Covariance	-1.92***	(0.06)	-1.92***	(0.06)	-1.92***	(0.06)	-1.92***	(0.06)	-1.93***	(0.06)
Level 1 (Wave)										
Intercept	1.20***	(0.01)	1.20***	(0.01)	1.20***	(0.01)	1.20***	(0.01)	1.20***	(0.01)
AIC	72699.02		72700.52		72694.84		72695.74		72598.3	
Observations	12,468		12,468		12,468		12,468		12,468	
Number of groups	2.505		2.505		2,505		2,505		2.505	

Notes: \*\*\* p<0.001, \*\* p<0.01, \* p<0.05, + p<0.10; Standard errors in parentheses; Coeff=coefficient

**Overall Conclusion** 

## Conclusion

This dissertation addresses gaps in the literature regarding the geographic and individual/family-level factors influencing the development of psychopathological problems in young people. As outlined in the introduction, these investigations are warranted for several reasons, not least because several studies have suggested that the population-based prevalence of mental health disorders has increased (Collishaw et al. 2004; Twenge 2011). Although the magnitude of this increase has been questioned (Busfield 2012), further investigations are needed because of the substantial social and economic costs of mental illness. Financially, children's mental health disorders are estimated to cost between £11,000 and £59,000 per child annually (Department of Health 2011; Davies et al. 2013). Moreover, mental health disorders have been shown to cause considerable disability and suffering, and these costs are not only borne by the individual suffering from the disorders but also their families and the wider society (Davies et al. 2013).

Furthermore, there is an extensive and growing body of literature demonstrating the existence of social inequalities in mental health. Although low socioeconomic status does not necessarily translate to higher rates of mental health problems, risk factors related to low socioeconomic status such as unemployment, poor housing and living conditions, and debt are related to increased vulnerability to mental health disorders (Mental Health Foundation 2016). Numerous studies have shown that the elevated risk of mental ill-health among certain subgroups of the population is related to interactions between individual-level characteristics such as gender, age and ethnicity, and greater exposure to unfavourable social, economic and environmental conditions (Mental Health Foundation 2016). Spencer (2013) suggests that the incidence of psychological and behavioural problems in children and adolescents with conduct disorders would be

reduced by 59% if all children faced the same levels of risk as the most socially advantaged.

These findings are important because recently published studies have identified mental health disorders among young people as one of the most significant contributors to the global burden of disease (Lancet 2017; Gore et al. 2011). In addition, it has been shown that most mental health disorders begin in adolescence and early adulthood (De Girolamo et al. 2012; Kessler et al. 2005), and if left untreated will gradually become more severe and less responsive to clinical treatment (Kessler et al. 2005; Kessler et al. 2007; De Girolamo et al. 2012). These studies also suggested that early detection and treatment would reduce both the severity and the persistence of primary disorders (De Girolamo et al. 2012). Early treatment has the additional benefit of reducing the adverse and long lasting negative effects associated with mental health disorders among young people (Department of Health 2011)

Another reason for considering these findings important is that several studies indicate that approximately 10% of British youths suffer from a mental health disorder (Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000; Green et al. 2005). The results also demonstrate that the prevalence of mental health disorders is unequally distributed across the population and varies with ethnicity: their prevalence among youths aged 5-15 is estimated to be 12%, 10%, 8%, and 4% in the Black, Whites, Asian (Pakistani & Bangladeshi), and Indian populations, respectively (Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000). These differences may have significant public policy and public health implications given the diversity of the British population (Jivraj and Simpson 2015a) and the fact that young people aged 10-15 years comprise 7% of the total population (ONS Census 2011a). As noted in the introduction, there are several gaps in our current understanding of the factors affecting the mental health and well-being of young people

across various ethnicities. This doctoral dissertation therefore investigated the mechanisms and the factors that contribute to mental health and life satisfaction among young people. This was done by performing three studies that investigated the effect of neighbourhood composition (characterized in terms of social capital, socioeconomic deprivation, and ethnic density) on mental health and life satisfaction among 10-15 year-old children residing in England and Wales. *Study I* investigated the area-level mechanisms affecting both outcomes for all young people residing in a given neighbourhood, while *Study II* and *Study III* delved deeper into potential differences by ethnicity in mental health and life satisfaction respectively. The analyses were performed by multilevel modeling using data from the first five waves of *Understanding Society: The UK household longitudinal study* gathered between 2009/2010 and 2013/2014, matched to area-level aggregated measures collected in the 2011 UK census. This conclusion summarizes the key findings of each study, describes their strengths and limitations, and presents recommendations for future research and an overall conclusion.

# Summary of key findings

## Study I

This study analysed the association between the psychosocial and material contexts of neighbourhoods and its effects on the psychological well-being of young people. The main focus was on the relationship between neighbourhood socioeconomic deprivation and neighbourhood social capital, and their independent and combined effects on mental health and life satisfaction among young people aged 10-15 residing in England and Wales. The study's main findings were:

- (a) Mental health and life satisfaction among young people are negatively associated with residence in a socioeconomically deprived neighbourhood.
- (b) The effects of deprivation are attenuated in neighbourhoods with higher average social capital specifically, strong homogenous friendship networks (bonding), high civic engagement (bridging), and low average worry about crime (mediator of social capital).
- (c) Social capital appeared to have no moderating influence on deprivation. And, contrary to expectations, homogenous friendship networks and civic engagement were predicted to *increase* the negative influence of residing in deprived neighbourhoods.
- (d) The empirical evidence highlights the importance of cultivating various forms of social capital in neighbourhoods because different components of social capital appear to offer different benefits. The study's results also suggested that future studies should consider the possible negative effects of social capital and that the effects of social capital may be non-linear.

# Study II

This study investigated the impact of neighbourhood composition (measured by socioeconomic deprivation, an indicator for crime, the living environment and ethnic density) and parenting behaviour on mental health among young people aged 10-15 years old residing in England and Wales. Its main findings were:

- (a) Neighbourhood composition influences the mental health of young people, but most of the variation is due to individual-level differences.
- (b) Socioeconomic deprivation appeared to have a stronger detrimental impact on the mental health of White British youths than that of ethnic minority youths.

170

- (c) Pooled models indicated that there were no differences between the mental health difficulties of White British youths and those of Welsh and other Whites. However, in models stratified by ethnic group, adjustment for parental behaviour and socioeconomic deprivation seemed to increase the gap in mental health between White British and all other ethnic minority youths.
- (d) British Whites appeared to fare less well in socioeconomically deprived areas than Black, Asian and other ethnic minority (BAMEs) groups because they lack the requisite social support. This is evidenced by the fact that the effect of deprivation appeared to be mitigated among BAMEs residing in more ethnically dense neighbourhoods.
- (e) The influence of parental behaviours was independent of neighbourhood ethnic density, and parental behaviours were not influenced by the level of neighbourhood deprivation.

# Study III

This study explored the determinants and stability of reported life satisfaction among ethnic minority youths aged 10-15 years residing in England and Wales, and compared these findings to those for majority White youths. It draws on the extensive literature discussing how neighbourhood ethnic density and socioeconomic status influences health. Its main findings were:

- (a) Life satisfaction declined with age for all ethnic groups.
- (b) There was a strong association between life satisfaction and ethnicity. Specifically, Asian and Black youths reported better life satisfaction than their White counterparts.

(c) Over time, life satisfaction among minority youths fell relative to that of White British youths. In particular, life satisfaction was influenced by ethnic density and neighbourhood socioeconomic status<sup>7</sup>.

Taken together, the results of the three studies suggests that similar neighbourhood and individual/family-level factors predicted the mental health and life satisfaction of young people residing in England and Wales. In addition, there appears to be a strong relationship between the social and physical context of the neighbourhood and the assessed outcomes. While most of the variability in these outcomes was due to individual- and family-level predictors, the results suggested that it was the intersection between neighbourhood composition and individual/family-level factors that determined the mental health and life satisfaction of young people. These effects were unequally distributed across the social, economic and demographic groups within the study population, and the mental health of young White British adolescents seemed to be worse than that of their ethnic minority counterparts. This could be because White British youths are more likely to see a greater inequality of outcomes within their own group, whereas ethnic minority youths see a narrower range of outcomes in their groups.

The findings also suggest that the neighbourhood is an important arena for policies and initiatives targeted at improving the mental health and life satisfaction of young people, and that a good starting point for such initiatives would be to invest in the aspects of young people's lives with which they are most satisfied. The studies' findings highlight a need for future research and policy development to account for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Measured by deprivation, proportion of residents proficient in English where English was not their main language, the proportion of residents who arrived in the UK in the past 5 years, and the proportion of residents who have a routine/semi-routine occupation)

both neighbourhood social processes and ethnic composition when creating initiatives to counter the influence of disadvantage among young people.

#### Strengths and limitations of the studies

Only a few publications (Aminzadeh et al. 2013; Drukker et al. 2005; Odgers et al. 2009; Vyncke et al. 2013; De Clercq et al. 2012; Edwards and Bromfield 2010) have presented empirical evidence regarding the possible moderating influence of neighbourhood socioeconomic status and neighbourhood social capital on youth outcomes; to the author's knowledge, this is the first British study to do so. Moreover, the outcomes examined here have been insufficiently studied among the investigated age group, and only a few studies have attempted to explain the mechanisms involved. Because of the paucity of work in this area, this dissertation significantly expands the body of work relating to the effects of neighbourhood ethnic composition on health outcomes among young people. Specifically, it:

- (a) Contributes to the ongoing debate about the effects of ethnic concentration on residents' health. In particular, it adds significant new empirical evidence on the impact (or lack thereof) of ethnic density on health outcomes. It also helps to disentangle previously published equivocal findings relating to the ethnic density hypothesis, which has rarely been tested among the studied age group.
- (b) Provides new evidence on an outcome life satisfaction that has not previously been explored in the British context, and which is a generally understudied outcome in the field of neighbourhood research.
- (c) Moves away from assessments of a single time-point by using longitudinal data and examining time trends;

(d) Provides a more in-depth explanation for the inter-ethnic variation in young people's mental health, complementing earlier studies (see for e.g. Green et al. 2005; Meltzer, Gatward, Goodman, et al. 2000) that were mostly descriptive.

One of the contributions of this dissertation stems from the use of multilevel statistical methods in all three studies. The advantage of such models is their flexibility with respect to the analysis of unbalanced panel data, and the fact that they can be used to analyse individual changes as well as to examine time-variant and -invariant measures. (Raudenbush and Bryk 2002). These properties made it possible to take full advantage of the rich data set used in this work.

Using multilevel models enabled estimation of individual-level data while simultaneously accounting for both contextual and individual processes. This represents an important step towards minimizing a significant limitation in research on neighbourhood effects, namely the difficulty of separating contextual effects (i.e. effects relating to the physical and social characteristics of the neighbourhood) from compositional effects (i.e. effects relating to the type of people residing in the neighbourhood) (Lupton 2003; Van Ham et al. 2012; Pickett and Pearl 2001).

Research on the contextual effects on health is plagued by some fundamental issues, which I believe have contributed to the lack of research on the potential influence of neighbourhood factors on young people's mental health. A major challenge I encountered in conducting research was the small sample sizes of some ethnic groups. This necessitated the use of some relatively broad ethnic categorizations, which might have obscured some of the expected heterogeneity in the assessed outcomes. More in-depth discussions of the limitations of using ethnic categories in general and such broad categorizations in particular can be found in the introduction and the works of Bhopal (Bhopal (2007); Bhopal (2002); Bhopal (1997))

Another limitation in neighbourhood research relates to the operationalization of neighbourhoods. Out of necessity, research in this field has made extensive use of datadriven methods for delineating neighbourhood boundaries, which may have masked important local-level variation and could explain why previous studies have found small or non-existent area-level associations between health and ethnic density (Lupton 2003; Macintyre and Ellaway 2003; Pickett and Pearl 2001). I therefore sought to avoid some of the acknowledged weaknesses of earlier studies that operationalized neighbourhoods using electoral wards and census tracts by defining a neighbourhood as a middle super output area (MSOA). Although MSOAs are also administratively defined units, they cover small geographic areas, which should in principle make it easier to capture true residential effects.

A pertinent but often overlooked limitation of area-level research is selection bias, which may occur when people self-select into particular neighbourhoods. For example, in this work, the ethnic composition of neighbourhoods was used to explain mental health difficulties and life satisfaction. However, it may be that people self-selected to reside in ethnically-concentrated neighbourhoods in the first place because of their ethnicity. Consequently, some of the correlations between the dependent variables and neighbourhood characteristics may be due to this neighbourhood selection mechanism. Therefore, while the work's main aim was to examine the neighbourhood context, it was essential to account for individual and parental/family characteristics to minimize the risk of selection bias. By adjusting for individual and parental/family predictors, one can also 'separate out' some of these effects from that of the neighbourhood. This approach could also be useful in developing more effective and targeted policies that give appropriate weightings to factors in order of importance. Aside from using control variables, it is not clear how issues of selection bias could be addressed because individuals have not been randomly placed across groups, nor were the studies intended to strictly examine change over time. Nevertheless, the studies presented here do account for changes in factors over time and thus provide a much more complex picture of some of the factors that are relevant to the psychopathological development of young people, than could be obtained by simply studying cross-sectional data covering a single point in time.

## **Recommendations for future research**

The following recommendations are based on the experience gained while conducting the studies presented in this thesis and the results that were obtained.

- (a) More longitudinal studies are needed to explore the mechanisms influencing the mental health and well-being of young people. Studies adopting a life course approach to understanding and tackling mental health inequalities would be particularly valuable. Such research should ideally follow groups of people from childhood through to young adulthood and repeatedly examine measures of mental health, subjective well-being (such as life satisfaction), and other relevant outcomes. The investigations should be designed to shed further light on confounding and mediation issues as well as possible moderators.
- (b) There is a need to replicate the analyses conducted in this study across multiple contexts and to incorporate additional outcome measures. Special attention is required to disentangle the causes of ethnic inequalities in health.

- (c) More attention should be given to investigating the relationships between the social structures relevant to different groups and the structural factors related to the areas in which they live. There are many possibilities for future research on social inequalities in this field. An area of particular importance is the interaction between contextual and individual/family level factors that may facilitate or hinder the social participation of certain groups.
- (d) Future research is required to disentangle the underlying mechanisms influencing the mental health and life satisfaction among young people. It is also apparent that special attention needs to be given to the inter-ethnic disparities in mental health and life satisfaction within this group. Such research may be the key to unlocking important knowledge regarding the later-life trajectories in mental health and life satisfaction observed for some of the studied ethnic groups.
- (e) Future studies could also contribute by building on the work of De Girolamo et al. (2012) and (Kessler et al. 2007) who suggested that undiagnosed mental disorders become more severe and harder to treat if left undiagnosed.
  Research efforts could focus on understanding the differential trajectories of mental health among ethnic minority groups, and thereby facilitate earlier diagnosis and treatment of these individuals.

### Conclusions and overall study implications

The studies included in this thesis demonstrate that there are indeed inequalities in mental health and life satisfaction among young people, and that these are strongly related to the socio-economic, social and physical characteristics of their neighborhoods. But, individual/family-level characteristics are the strongest predictors of these outcomes.

The empirical evidence from these studies also points to significant ethnic differences in mental health and life satisfaction, especially among Asian and Black youths when compared to their White counterparts. The difference in these measured outcomes is seemingly explained by the fact that Black and Asian youths are less affected (at least at this age) by the socioeconomic conditions in which they reside. Still, adults from ethnic minority groups are generally overrepresented among people with ill health, and are more likely to suffer from mental health disorders and to report lower life satisfaction. This raises a question (which is beyond the scope of this thesis) – namely, at what age do these factors begin to influence these groups?

From a public health perspective, the growing diversification of the British population makes it important to identify the determinants of mental health and wellbeing among the various ethnicities. This study's findings imply that it may be beneficial to implement targeted services to meet the varying needs of different groups in the population and to thereby create better opportunities for effective treatment and targeted intervention.

Furthermore, prevention work and health policies aimed at reducing inequalities in the development of psychopathological problems

among young people should consider larger structural inequalities such as socioeconomic deprivation and area-level ethnic concentration. Finally, more emphasis should be placed on factors with the potential to positively enhance the mental health and well-being of vulnerable groups, such as those that improve life satisfaction.

- Abada, Teresa, Feng Hou, and Bali Ram. 2007. "Racially mixed neighborhoods, perceived neighborhood social cohesion, and adolescent health in Canada." *Social Science & Medicine* 65 (10):2004-17.
- Alba, Richard, and Nancy Foner. 2016. "Integration's challenges and opportunities in the Wealthy West." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 42 (1):3-22.
- Allison, Kevin W, Linda Burton, Sheree Marshall, Alina Perez-Febles, Jason Yarrington, Linda Bloch Kirsh, and Cynthia Merriwether-DeVries. 1999. "Life experiences among urban adolescents: Examining the role of context." *Child development* 70 (4):1017-29.
- Aminzadeh, Kaveh, Simon Denny, Jennifer Utter, Taciano L Milfont, Shanthi Ameratunga, Tasileta Teevale, and Terryann Clark. 2013. "Neighbourhood social capital and adolescent self-reported wellbeing in New Zealand: a multilevel analysis." *Social Science & Medicine* 84:13-21.
- Aspinall, Peter J. 1998. "Describing the "white" ethnic group and its composition in medical research." *Social Science & Medicine* 47 (11):1797-808. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(98)00239-1</u>.
- Astell-Burt, Thomas, Maria J Maynard, Erik Lenguerrand, and Seeromanie Harding. 2012. "Racism, ethnic density and psychological well-being through adolescence: evidence from the determinants of adolescent social well-being and health longitudinal study." *Ethnicity & health* 17 (1-2):71-87.
- Baumrind, Diana. 1966. "Effects of authoritative parental control on child behavior." *Child development*:887-907.
- ———. 1971. "Current patterns of parental authority." Developmental psychology 4 (1p2):1.
- Becares, Laia. 2015. "Which ethnic groups have the poorest health." *Ethnic Identity and Inequalities in Britain: The Dynamics of Diversity* 123.
- Bécares, Laia, James Nazroo, Christo Albor, Tarani Chandola, and Mai Stafford. 2012.
   "Examining the differential association between self-rated health and area deprivation among white British and ethnic minority people in England." *Social Science & Medicine* 74 (4):616-24. doi:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.007.

- Bécares, Laia, James Nazroo, and Mai Stafford. 2009. "The buffering effects of ethnic density on experienced racism and health." *Health & place* 15 (3):700-8.
- Bécares, Laia, Richard Shaw, James Nazroo, Mai Stafford, Christo Albor, Karl Atkin, Kathleen Kiernan, Richard Wilkinson, and Kate Pickett. 2012. "Ethnic Density Effects on Physical Morbidity, Mortality, and Health Behaviors: A Systematic Review of the Literature." *American journal of public health* 102 (12):e33-e66. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012.300832.
- Bhopal, R. 1997. "Is research into ethnicity and health racist, unsound, or important science?" *BMJ* : *British Medical Journal* 314 (7096):1751-6.
- Bhopal, Raj S. 2007. *Ethnicity, race, and health in multicultural societies: foundations for better epidemiology, public health, and health care*: Oxford University Press.
- Bhopal, Raj S. 2002. "Heterogeneity among Indians, Pakistanis, and Bangladeshis is key to racial inequities." *BMJ : British Medical Journal* 325 (7369):903-.
- Booth, Jaime, Stephanie L Ayers, and Flavio F Marsiglia. 2012. "Perceived neighborhood safety and psychological distress: Exploring protective factors." *J. Soc. & Soc. Welfare* 39:137.
- Bradshaw, Jonathan, and Dominic Richardson. 2009. "An index of child well-being in Europe." *Child Indicators Research* 2 (3):319-51.
- Breslau, Joshua, Kenneth S Kendler, Maxwell Su, Sergio Gaxiola-Aguilar, and Ronald C Kessler. 2005. "Lifetime risk and persistence of psychiatric disorders across ethnic groups in the United States." *Psychological Medicine* 35 (03):317-27.
- Buck, Nick, and Stephanie McFall. 2011. "Understanding Society: design overview." Longitudinal and Life Course Studies 3 (1):5-17.
- Burton, Linda M, and Robin L Jarrett. 2000. "In the mix, yet on the margins: The place of families in urban neighborhood and child development research." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 62 (4):1114-35.
- Burton, Peter, and Shelley Phipps. 2008. "Economic resources, relative socioeconomic position and social relationships: Correlates of the happiness of young Canadian teens." *Child Indicators Research* 1 (4):350-71.
- Busfield, Joan. 2012. "Challenging claims that mental illness has been increasing and mental well-being declining." *Social Science & Medicine* 75 (3):581-8.
- Byrnes, Hilary F, and Brenda A Miller. 2012. "The relationship between neighborhood characteristics and effective parenting behaviors: The role of social support." *Journal of Family Issues* 33 (12):1658-87.
- Cameron, A Colin, and Pravin K Trivedi. 2005. *Microeconometrics: methods and applications:* Cambridge university press.
- Casey, Louise. 2016. "The Casey Review: a review into opportunity and integration."
- Ceballo, Rosario, and Vonnie C McLoyd. 2002. "Social support and parenting in poor, dangerous neighborhoods." *Child development* 73 (4):1310-21.
- Collishaw, Stephan, Barbara Maughan, Robert Goodman, and Andrew Pickles. 2004. "Time trends in adolescent mental health." *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 45 (8):1350-62.
- Davies, Sally C, Claire Lemer, Jason Strelitz, and Leonora Weil. 2013. "Our children deserve better: prevention pays." *The Lancet* 382 (9902):1383.
- De Clercq, Bart, Veerle Vyncke, Anne Hublet, Frank J Elgar, Ulrike Ravens-Sieberer, Candace Currie, Marc Hooghe, Aagje leven, and Lea Maes. 2012. "Social capital and social inequality in adolescents' health in 601 Flemish communities: A multilevel analysis." Social Science & Medicine 74 (2):202-10.
- De Girolamo, Giovanni, J Dagani, R Purcell, A Cocchi, and PD McGorry. 2012. "Age of onset of mental disorders and use of mental health services: needs, opportunities and obstacles." *Epidemiology and psychiatric sciences* 21 (01):47-57.
- De Silva, Mary J, Kwame McKenzie, Trudy Harpham, and Sharon RA Huttly. 2005a. "Social capital and mental illness: a systematic review." *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* 59 (8):619-27.
- ———. 2005b. "Social capital and mental illness: a systematic review." Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 59 (8):619-27.
- Diener, Ed. 2000. "Subjective well-being: The science of happiness and a proposal for a national index." *American psychologist* 55 (1):34.
- Diez Roux, Ana V. 2001. "Investigating neighborhood and area effects on health." *American journal of public health* 91 (11):1783-9.
- Diez Roux, Ana V, and Christina Mair. 2010. "Neighborhoods and health." Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1186 (1):125-45.
- Drukker, Marjan, Stephen L Buka, Charles Kaplan, Kwame McKenzie, and Jim Van Os. 2005. "Social capital and young adolescents' perceived health in different sociocultural settings." *Social Science & Medicine* 61 (1):185-98.
- Edwards, Ben, and Leah M Bromfield. 2010. "Neighbourhood influences on young children's emotional and behavioural problems." *Family Matters* 84.
- Ellaway, A., and S. Macintyre. 2010. "Neighborhoods and health." In *A Companion to Health and Medical Geography*, edited by T. Brown, S. McLafferty and G. Moon. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.

- Ellaway, Anne, Sally Macintyre, and Ade Kearns. 2001. "Perceptions of place and health in socially contrasting neighbourhoods." *Urban Studies* 38 (12):2299-316.
- Evans, Gary W, and Pilyoung Kim. 2007. "Childhood poverty and health: cumulative risk exposure and stress dysregulation." *Psychological Science* 18 (11):953-7.
- Fagg, James, Sarah Curtis, Stephen Stansfeld, and Peter Congdon. 2006. "Psychological distress among adolescents, and its relationship to individual, family and area characteristics in East London." *Social Science & Medicine* 63 (3):636-48.
- Faris, Robert E Lee, and Henry Warren Dunham. 1939. "Mental disorders in urban areas: an ecological study of schizophrenia and other psychoses."
- Flouri, Eirini, Stella Mavroveli, and Emily Midouhas. 2013. "Residential mobility, neighbourhood deprivation and children's behaviour in the UK." *Health & place* 20:25-31. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2012.12.002</u>.
- Flouri, Eirini, Emily Midouhas, Heather Joshi, and Alice Sullivan. 2015. "Neighbourhood social fragmentation and the mental health of children in poverty." *Health & place* 31:138-45. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.11.009</u>.
- Foundation, Mental Health. 2016. "Fundamental Facts About Mental Health 2016." In. London Mental Health Foundation
- Friedberg, Rachel M. 2000. "You can't take it with you? Immigrant assimilation and the portability of human capital." *Journal of labor economics* 18 (2):221-51.
- Furstenberg, Frank F. 1999. *Managing to make it: Urban families and adolescent success*: University of Chicago Press.
- Gieling, Maike, Wilma Vollebergh, and Saskia van Dorsselaer. 2010. "Ethnic density in school classes and adolescent mental health." *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 45 (6):639-46.
- Gilbert, Keon Lamount. 2009. "A meta-analysis of social capital and health." University of Pittsburgh.
- Gilman, Rich, and Jeffrey S Ashby. 2003. "A first study of perfectionism and multidimensional life satisfaction among adolescents." *The Journal of Early Adolescence* 23 (2):218-35.
- Goodman, Anna, Einar Heiervang, Bacy Fleitlich-Bilyk, Abdulla Alyahri, Vikram Patel, Mohammad S. I. Mullick, Helena Slobodskaya, Darci Neves dos Santos, and Robert Goodman. 2011. "Cross-national differences in questionnaires do not necessarily reflect comparable differences in disorder prevalence." *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 47:1321-31. doi: 10.1007/s00127-011-0440-2.
- Goodman, Anna, Vikram Patel, and David A Leon. 2008. "Child mental health differences amongst ethnic groups in Britain: a systematic review." *BMC Public Health* 8 (1):1.
- Goodman, Robert. 1997. "The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: a research note." *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 38 (5):581-6.
- Goodman, Robert, Howard Meltzer, and Veira Bailey. 1998. "The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: A pilot study on the validity of the self-report version." *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry* 7 (3):125-30.
- Gore, Fiona M, Paul JN Bloem, George C Patton, Jane Ferguson, Véronique Joseph, Carolyn Coffey, Susan M Sawyer, and Colin D Mathers. 2011. "Global burden of disease in young people aged 10–24 years: a systematic analysis." *The Lancet* 377 (9783):2093-102.
- Granovetter, Mark S. 1973. "The strength of weak ties." *American journal of sociology* 78 (6):1360-80.
- Green, Hazel, Áine McGinnity, Howard Meltzer, Tamsin Ford, and Robert Goodman. 2005. "Mental health of children and young people in Great Britain, 2004." In.: Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

- Green, Kerry M, Elaine E Doherty, and Margaret E Ensminger. 2017. "Long-term consequences of adolescent cannabis use: Examining intermediary processes." *The American journal of drug and alcohol abuse* 43 (5):567-75.
- Halpern, David, and James Nazroo. 2000. "The ethnic density effect: results from a national community survey of England and Wales." *International Journal of Social Psychiatry* 46 (1):34-46.
- Harding, Seeromanie, Ursula M. Read, Oarabile R. Molaodi, Aidan Cassidy, Maria J. Maynard, Erik Lenguerrand, Thomas Astell-Burt, Alison Teyhan, Melissa Whitrow, and Zinat E. Enayat. 2015. "The Determinants of young Adult Social well-being and Health (DASH) study: diversity, psychosocial determinants and health." *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 50 (8):1173-88. doi: 10.1007/s00127-015-1047-9.
- Health, Department of. 2011. "No health without mental health: a cross-government mental health outcomes strategy for people of all ages." In. London Mental Health and Disability, Department of Health.
- Hicks, Stephen. 2013. "Differences in well-being by ethnicity." In.: Office of National Statistics.
- Higgins, Vanessa. 2008. "Ethnic Differences in Obesity, Diet and Physical Activity-A Literature review." *The Cathie Marsh Centre for Census and Survey Research. Manchester, UK*.
- Hoosen, Nikhat, Eugene Lee Davids, Petrus J Vries, and Maylene Shung-King. 2018. "The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) in Africa: a scoping review of its application and validation." *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health* 12 (1):6.
- Idler, Ellen L, and Yael Benyamini. 1997. "Self-rated health and mortality: a review of twenty-seven community studies." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*:21-37.
- Jackson, Margot I, and Robert D Mare. 2007. "Cross-sectional and longitudinal measurements of neighborhood experience and their effects on children." *Social science research* 36 (2):590-610.
- Jencks, Christopher, and Susan E Mayer. 1990. "The social consequences of growing up in a poor neighborhood." *Inner-city poverty in the United States* 111:186.
- Jivraj, Stephen, and Ludi Simpson. 2015a. *Ethnic identity and inequalities in Britain: The dynamics of diversity*: Policy Press.
- ———. 2015b. "How has ethnic diversity grown?" *Ethnic Identity and Inequalities in Britain: The Dynamics of Diversity*:19.
- Joshi, H., R. D. Wiggins, M. Bartley, R. Mitchell, S. Gleave, and K. Lynch. 2000. "Putting health inequalities on the map: does where you live matter, and why?" In *Understanding Health Inequalities*, edited by H. Graham. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Kahneman, Daniel, and Alan B Krueger. 2006. "Developments in the measurement of subjective well-being." *The journal of economic perspectives* 20 (1):3-24.
- Kam, Chester Chun Seng, and Mingming Zhou. 2014. "Does acquiescence affect individual items consistently?" *Educational and Psychological Measurement*:0013164414560817.
- Kawachi, Ichiro, Sankaran Venkata Subramanian, and Daniel Kim. 2008. "Social capital and health." In *Social capital and health*, 1-26. Springer.
- Kerri, M, Pherson Dr Susan Kerr, Francine Cheater, and Antony Morgan. 2013. "The role and impact of social capital on the health and wellbeing of children and adolescents: A systematic review." Glasgow: Glasgow Centre for Population Health. Glasgow Caledonian University.
- Kersten, Paula, Margaret Dudley, Shoba Nayar, Hinemoa Elder, Heather Robertson, Robyn Tauroa, and Kathryn M McPherson. 2016. "Cross-cultural acceptability and utility of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire: views of families." *BMC Psychiatry* 16 (1):347.

- Kessler, Ronald C, G Paul Amminger, Sergio Aguilar-Gaxiola, Jordi Alonso, Sing Lee, and T Bedirhan Ustun. 2007. "Age of onset of mental disorders: a review of recent literature." *Current opinion in psychiatry* 20 (4):359.
- Kessler, Ronald C, Patricia Berglund, Olga Demler, Robert Jin, Kathleen R Merikangas, and Ellen E Walters. 2005. "Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication." *Archives of General Psychiatry* 62 (6):593-602.
- Kim, Daniel, SV Subramanian, and Ichiro Kawachi. 2006. "Bonding versus bridging social capital and their associations with self rated health: a multilevel analysis of 40 US communities." *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 60 (2):116-22.
- Knies, Gundi. 2017a. "Income effects on children's life satisfaction: Longitudinal Evidence for England." (No. 2017-02):1-23.
- ———. 2017b. "Understanding Society: Waves 1-7, 2009-2016 and harmonised British Household Panel Survey: Waves 1-18, 1991-2009, User Guide." In. Colchester, University of Essex.
- Knies, Gundi, Alita Nandi, and Lucinda Platt. "Life satisfaction, ethnicity and neighbourhoods: Is there an effect of neighbourhood ethnic composition on life satisfaction?" Social science research. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2016.01.010</u>.
- Lancet. 2017. "The health inequalities and ill-health of children in the UK." *The Lancet* 389 (10068):477. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30264-7</u>.
- Lee, Erica H, Qing Zhou, Jennifer Ly, Alexandra Main, Annie Tao, and Stephen H Chen. 2014. "Neighborhood characteristics, parenting styles, and children's behavioral problems in Chinese American immigrant families." *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology* 20 (2):202.
- Leventhal, Tama, and Jeanne Brooks-Gunn. 2000. "The neighborhoods they live in: the effects of neighborhood residence on child and adolescent outcomes." *Psychological bulletin* 126 (2):309.
- — . 2001. "Changing neighborhoods and child well-being: Understanding how children may be affected in the coming century." *Advances in Life Course Research* 6:263-301.
- Leventhal, Tama, Véronique Dupéré, and Jeanne Brooks-Gunn. 2009. "Neighborhood influences on adolescent development." *Handbook of adolescent psychology*.
- Lewinsohn, Peter M, Julie Redner, and John R Seeley. 1991. "The relationship between life satisfaction and psychosocial variables: New perspectives." *Subjective well-being: An interdisciplinary perspective*:141-69.
- Lupton, Ruth. 2003. "Neighbourhood effects: can we measure them and does it matter?" In LSE STICERD Research Paper London School of Economics.
- Macintyre, Sally, and Anne Ellaway. 2003. "Neighborhoods and health: an overview." Neighborhoods and health:20-42.
- Marin, Gerardo, Raymond J Gamba, and Barbara V Marin. 1992. "Extreme response style and acquiescence among hispanics the role of acculturation and education." *Journal* of Cross-Cultural Psychology 23 (4):498-509.
- Maynard, Maria J, Seeromanie Harding, and Helen Minnis. 2007. "Psychological well-being in Black Caribbean, Black African, and white adolescents in the UK Medical Research Council DASH study." *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 42 (9):759-69.
- Maynard, MJ, and S Harding. 2010. "Perceived parenting and psychological well-being in UK ethnic minority adolescents." *Child: care, health and development* 36 (5):630-8.
- McKenzie, K. 2000. "Neighbourhood safety and mental health outcomes." In.

- McLennan, D, H Barnes, M Noble, J Davies, E Garatt, and C Dibben. 2011. "The English Indices of Deprivation 2010: Technical Report. Department for Communities and Local Government." *London, UK*.
- McManus, Sally, Paul Bebbington, Rachel Jenkins, and Terry Brugha. 2016. "Mental health and wellbeing in England." *Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014*.
- Meltzer, Howard, Rebecca Gatward, Great Britain, Office for National Statistics, and Social Survey Division. 2000. "The mental health of children and adolescents in Great Britain." In. London: Stationery Office.
- Meltzer, Howard, Rebecca Gatward, Robert Goodman, and Tamsin Ford. 2000. *The mental health of children and adolescents in Great Britain*: HM Stationery Office.
- Mieloo, Cathelijne L, Floor Bevaart, Marianne CH Donker, Floor VA van Oort, Hein Raat, and Wilma Jansen. 2013. "Validation of the SDQ in a multi-ethnic population of young children." *The European Journal of Public Health* 24 (1):26-32.
- Minh, Anita, Nazeem Muhajarine, Magdalena Janus, Marni Brownell, and Martin Guhn. 2017. "A review of neighborhood effects and early child development: How, where, and for whom, do neighborhoods matter?" *Health & place* 46 (Supplement C):155-74. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2017.04.012</u>.
- Mitchell, C. U., and M. LaGory. 2002. "Social Capital and Mental Distress in an Impoverished Community." *City Community* 1. doi: 10.1111/1540-6040.00017.
- Nazroo, James Y. 1997. The health of Britain's ethnic minorities: findings from a national survey.
- Noble, Michael, David Mclennan, Kate Wilkinson, Adam Whitworth, Sonia Exley, Helen Barnes, Chris Dibben, and David McLennan. 2007. "The English indices of deprivation 2007."
- Noble, Michael, GAN Smith, Gemma Wright, Chris Dibben, Myfanwy Lloyd, and Bruce Penhale. 2000. "Welsh index of multiple deprivation." *London: National Statistics*.
- Odgers, Candice L., Terrie E. Moffitt, Laura M. Tach, Robert J. Sampson, Alan Taylor, Charlotte L. Matthews, and Avshalom Caspi. 2009. "The Protective Effects of Neighborhood Collective Efficacy on British Children Growing Up in Deprivation: A Developmental Analysis." *Developmental psychology* 45 (4):942-57. doi: 10.1037/a0016162.
- ONS. 2017. Office of National Statistics, Accessed June 30. <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/ukgeographies/censusgeography</u> <u>#output-area-oa</u>.
- ———. 2017. "<u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/census</u>." Accessed August 31. <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/census</u>.
- Pickett, Kate E, and Michelle Pearl. 2001. "Multilevel analyses of neighbourhood socioeconomic context and health outcomes: a critical review." *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 55 (2):111-22.
- Pickett, Kate E, and Richard G Wilkinson. 2008. "People like us: ethnic group density effects on health." *Ethnicity & health* 13 (4):321-34.
- Poortinga, Wouter. 2006. "Social capital: an individual or collective resource for health?" Social Science & Medicine 62 (2):292-302.
- Portes, Alejandro. 1998. "Social capital: Its origins and applications in modern sociology." Annual review of sociology 24 (1):1-24.
- Powdthavee, Nattavudh, and James Vernoit. 2012. "The transferable scars: a longitudinal evidence of psychological impact of past parental unemployment on adolescents in the United Kingdom."

- Proctor, Carmel, P. Linley, and John Maltby. 2009. "Youth Life Satisfaction: A Review of the Literature." *Journal of Happiness Studies* 10 (5):583-630. doi: 10.1007/s10902-008-9110-9.
- Putnam, Robert D. 2007. "E pluribus unum: Diversity and community in the twenty-first century the 2006 Johan Skytte Prize Lecture." *Scandinavian political studies* 30 (2):137-74.
- Raudenbush, Stephen W., and Anthony S. Bryk. 2002. *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods*. Vol. 1: Sage.
- Rees, R, G Stokes, C Stansfield, E Oliver, D Kneale, and J Thomas. 2016. "Prevalence of mental health disorders in adult minority ethnic populations in England: A systematic review." In. EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, UCL Institute of Education: London, UK. .
- Richter, Jörg, Åse Sagatun, Sonja Heyerdahl, Brit Oppedal, and Espen Røysamb. 2011. "The strengths and difficulties questionnaire (SDQ)–Self-Report. An analysis of its structure in a multiethnic urban adolescent sample." *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 52 (9):1002-11.
- Roosa, Mark W, Sarah Jones, Jenn-Yun Tein, and Willa Cree. 2003. "Prevention science and neighborhood influences on low-income children's development: Theoretical and methodological issues." *American Journal of Community Psychology* 31 (1-2):55-72.
- Ross, Catherine E, and John Mirowsky. 1984. "Socially-desirable response and acquiescence in a cross-cultural survey of mental health." *Journal of health and social behavior*:189-97.
- Roy, Amanda L, Diane Hughes, and Hirokazu Yoshikawa. 2012. "Exploring neighborhood effects on health and life satisfaction: Disentangling neighborhood racial density and neighborhood income." *Race and Social Problems* 4 (3-4):193-204.
- Sampson, Robert J, Jeffrey D Morenoff, and Felton Earls. 1999. "Beyond social capital: Spatial dynamics of collective efficacy for children." *American Sociological Review*:633-60.
- Sampson, Robert J, Stephen W Raudenbush, and Felton Earls. 1997. "Neighborhoods and violent crime: A multilevel study of collective efficacy." *Science* 277 (5328):918-24.
- Scott, Jacqueline L, and Camilla Chaudhary. 2003. *Beating the odds: youth and family disadvantage*: National Youth Agency.
- Shields, Michael A, and Allan Wailoo. 2002. "Exploring the determinants of unhappiness for ethnic minority men in Britain." *Scottish Journal of Political Economy* 49 (4):445-66.
- Simpson, Ludi. 2015. "Does Britain have plural cities?" *Ethnic Identity and Inequalities in Britain: The Dynamics of Diversity*:49.
- Snedker, Karen A., and Carole Hooven. 2013. "Neighborhood Perceptions and Emotional Well-Being in Young Adulthood Neighborhood Perceptions and Emotional Well-Being in Young Adulthood." *Journal of Child & Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing* 26 (1):62-73. doi: 10.1111/jcap.12016.
- Snijders, Tom, and Roel Bosker. 1999. "Multilevel analysis: An introduction to basic and applied multilevel analysis." In.: London: Sage.
- Spencer, Nick. 2013. "Reducing child health inequalities: what's the problem?" In.: BMJ Publishing Group Ltd.
- Stafford, Mai, Mary De Silva, Stephen Stansfeld, and Michael Marmot. 2008.
  "Neighbourhood social capital and common mental disorder: testing the link in a general population sample." *Health & place* 14 (3):394-405.
- Stansfeld, Stephen A, Mary M Haines, Jenny A Head, Kamaldeep Bhui, Russell Viner, Stephanie JC Taylor, Sheila Hillier, Emily Klineberg, and Robert Booy. 2004.
   "Ethnicity, social deprivation and psychological distress in adolescents." *The British Journal of Psychiatry* 185 (3):233-8.

- Stewart-Brown, S., A. Tennant, R. Tennant, S. Platt, J. Parkinson, and S. Weich. 2009.
  "Internal construct validity of the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): a Rasch analysis using data from the Scottish Health Education Population Survey." *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 7. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-7-15.
- Sturgis, Patrick, Ian Brunton-Smith, Sanna Read, and Nick Allum. 2011. "Does ethnic diversity erode trust? Putnam's 'hunkering down'thesis reconsidered." *British Journal of Political Science* 41 (01):57-82.
- Szreter, Simon, and Michael Woolcock. 2004. "Health by association? Social capital, social theory, and the political economy of public health." *International Journal of Epidemiology* 33 (4):650-67.
- Townsend, Peter, Peter Phillimore, and Alastair Beattie. 1988. *Health and deprivation: inequality and the North*: Routledge.
- Turner, Margery Austin. 2009. "Promoting neighborhood diversity: Benefits, barriers, and strategies."
- Twenge, Jean M. 2011. "Generational differences in mental health: Are children and adolescents suffering more, or less?" *American journal of orthopsychiatry* 81 (4):469.
- Ungar, Michael. 2011. "The social ecology of resilience: Addressing contextual and cultural ambiguity of a nascent construct." *American journal of orthopsychiatry* 81 (1):1-17.
- University of Essex Institute for Social and Economic Research, NatCen Social Research.
   2015. "Understanding Society: Waves 1-5, 2009-2014 [computer file]. 7th Edition.
   Colchester, Essex: UK Data Archive [distributor], November 2015. SN: 6614,
   <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-6614-7">http://dx.doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-6614-7</a> "In.: UK Data Archive, University of Essex, Colchester.
- Van Ham, Maarten, David Manley, Nick Bailey, Ludi Simpson, and Duncan Maclennan. 2012. "Neighbourhood effects research: new perspectives." In *Neighbourhood effects research: New perspectives*, 1-21. Springer.
- Van Herk, Hester, Ype H Poortinga, and Theo MM Verhallen. 2004. "Response styles in rating scales evidence of method bias in data from six EU countries." *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology* 35 (3):346-60.
- Van Praag, Bernard MS, Paul Frijters, and Ada Ferrer-i-Carbonell. 2003. "The anatomy of subjective well-being." *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* 51 (1):29-49.
- Wang, Hongmei, Mark Schlesinger, Hong Wang, and William C Hsiao. 2009. "The flip-side of social capital: the distinctive influences of trust and mistrust on health in rural China." Social Science & Medicine 68 (1):133-42.
- Webb, Elizabeth, Lidia Panico, Laia Bécares, Anne McMunn, Yvonne Kelly, and Amanda Sacker. 2017. "The inter-relationship of adolescent unhappiness and parental mental distress." *Journal of Adolescent Health* 60 (2):196-203.
- Veenhoven, Ruut. 1988. "The utility of happiness." Social Indicators Research 20 (4):333-54.
- Veenstra, Gerry, Isaac Luginaah, Sarah Wakefield, Stephen Birch, John Eyles, and Susan Elliott. 2005. "Who you know, where you live: social capital, neighbourhood and health." *Social Science & Medicine* 60 (12):2799-818.
- Wen, Ming, Louise C Hawkley, and John T Cacioppo. 2006. "Objective and perceived neighborhood environment, individual SES and psychosocial factors, and self-rated health: An analysis of older adults in Cook County, Illinois." *Social Science & Medicine* 63 (10):2575-90.
- Whincup, Peter H, Claire M Nightingale, Christopher G Owen, Alicja R Rudnicka, Ian Gibb, Catherine M McKay, Angela S Donin, Naveed Sattar, K George MM Alberti, and Derek G Cook. 2010. "Early emergence of ethnic differences in type 2 diabetes precursors in the UK: the Child Heart and Health Study in England (CHASE Study)." *PLoS medicine* 7 (4):e1000263.

WHO. 2016. "Mental health: a state of well-being. ." Accessed 26 April.

http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/mental\_health/en/index.html.

- Wickrama, K. A. S., and Chalandra M. Bryant. 2003. "Community Context of Social Resources and Adolescent Mental Health." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 65 (4):850-66.
- Williams, David R, and Chiquita Collins. 2001. "Racial residential segregation: a fundamental cause of racial disparities in health." *Public health reports* 116 (5):404-16.
- Williams, Richard. 2012. "Using the margins command to estimate and interpret adjusted predictions and marginal effects." *Stata Journal* 12 (2):308.
- Wilson, William Julius. 1987. *The truly disadvantaged: The inner city, the underclass, and public policy*: University of Chicago Press.

———. 1996. When work disappears: The world of the new urban poor: Vintage.

- Viner, Russell M, and Bruce Taylor. 2007. "Adult outcomes of binge drinking in adolescence: findings from a UK national birth cohort." *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* 61 (10):902-7.
- Vyncke, Veerle, Bart De Clercq, Veerle Stevens, Caroline Costongs, Giorgio Barbareschi, Stefán Hrafn Jónsson, Sara Darias Curvo, Vladimir Kebza, Candace Currie, and Lea Maes. 2013. "Does neighbourhood social capital aid in levelling the social gradient in the health and well-being of children and adolescents? A literature review." *BMC Public Health* 13 (1):65.
- Xue, Yange, Tama Leventhal, Jeanne Brooks-Gunn, and Felton J Earls. 2005. "Neighborhood residence and mental health problems of 5-to 11-year-olds." Archives of General Psychiatry 62 (5):554-63.
- Zhang, Nan, Jennifer L Beauregard, Michael R Kramer, and Laia Bécares. 2017.
   "Neighbourhood Ethnic Density Effects on Behavioural and Cognitive Problems Among Young Racial/Ethnic Minority Children in the US and England: A Cross-National Comparison." *Population Research and Policy Review*:1-44.

## Appendix A1. Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire as provided in the UKHLS youth self-completion questionnaire

For each item, please tick the box for Not True, Somewhat True or Certainly True. It would help us if you answered all items as best you can even if you are not absolutely certain. Please give your answers on the basis of how things have been for you over the last six months.			
Name	<u>.</u>	Male/Female	
	Not True	Somewhat True	Certainly True
Try to be nice to other people. I care about their feelings	1.00 1100	201110 1100 1100	
I am restless, I cannot stay still for long			
I get a lot of headaches, stomach-aches or sickness I usually share with others (food, games, pens, etc.)			
I get very angry and often lose my temper I am usually on my own. I generally play alone or keep to myself I usually do as I am told I worry a lot			
I am helpful if someone is hurt, upset or feeling ill			
I am constantly fidgeting or squirming			
I have one good friend or more			
I fight a lot. I can make other people do what I want			
I am often unhappy, down-hearted or tearful			
Other people my age generally like me			
I am easily distracted, I find it difficult to concentrate I am nervous in new situations. I easily lose confidence			
I am kind to younger children			
I am often accused of lying or cheating Other children or young people pick on me or bully me I often volunteer to help others (parents, teachers, children)			
I think before I do things			
I take things that are not mine from home, school or elsewhere			
I get on better with adults than with people my own age			
I have many fears, I am easily scared			
1 tinish the work 1 m doing. My attention is good			
Source. OK mousenoia Longituainai Survey (2015) [waves 1-5]			

## Appendix 2. SF-12 Health Survey provided in the UKHLS main questionnaire

This survey asks for your views about your health. This information will help keep track of how you feel and how well you are able to do your usual activities. Answer each question by choosing just one Visit type (circle one) unsure how to answer a question, please give the best answer you can.answer. If you are

1. In general, would you say your health is:	□1 Excellent □2 Very good □3 Good □4 Fair □5 Poor
The following questions are about activities you might do during a typical day. Does your health now limit you in these activities? If so, how much?	
2. Moderate activities, such as moving a table, pushing a vacuum cleaner, bowling or playing golf	$\Box$ 1 Yes, limited a lot $\Box$ 2 Yes, limited a little $\Box$ 3No, not limited at all
3. Climbing several flights of stairs. During the past 4 weeks, how much of the time have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities as a result of your physical health?	□1 Yes, limited a lot □2 Yes, limited a little □3 No, not limited at all
4. Accomplished less than you would like.	□ 1 All of the time □ 2 Most of the time □ 3 Some of the time □ 4 A little of the time □ 5 None of the time □ 1 All of the time □ 2 Most of the time □ 3 Some of the time □ 4 A little of the time □ 5
5. Were limited in the kind of work or other activities. During the past 4 weeks, how much of the time have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities as a result of any emotional problems (such as feeling depressed or anxious)?	None of the time
<ul><li>6. Accomplished less than you would like.</li><li>7. Did work or other activities less carefully than usual</li></ul>	□1 All of the time □2 Most of the time □3 Some of the time □4 A little of the time □5 None of the time □2 Most of the time □3 Some of the time □4 A little of the time □5 None of the time
8. During the past 4 weeks, how much did pain interfere with your normal work (including both work outside the home and housework)?	$\Box$ 1 Not at all A little bit $\Box$ 3 Moderately $\Box$ 4 Quite a bit $\Box$ 5 Extremely

These questions are about how you feel and how things have been with you during the past 4 weeks. For each question, please give the one answer that comes closest to the way you have been feeling. How much of the time during the past 4 weeks...

1	$\Box$ 1 All of the time $\Box$ 2 Most of the time $\Box$ 3		
	Some of the time $\Box 4$ A little of the time $\Box 5$		
9. Have you felt calm and peaceful?	None of the time		
	$\Box$ 1 All of the time $\Box$ 2 Most of the time $\Box$ 3		
	Some of the time $\Box 4$ A little of the time $\Box 5$		
10. Did you have a lot of energy?	None of the time		
	$\Box$ 1 All of the time $\Box$ 2 Most of the time $\Box$ 3		
	Some of the time $\Box 4$ A little of the time $\Box 5$		
11. Have you felt downhearted and depressed?	None of the time		
12. During the past 4 weeks, how much of the time has your physical health or	$\Box$ 1 All of the time $\Box$ 2 Most of the time $\Box$ 3		
emotional problems interfered with your social activities (like visiting friends,	Some of the time $\Box 4$ A little of the time $\Box 5$		
relatives, etc.)?	None of the time		
Notes: Adapted from https://www.understandingsociety.ac.uk/documentation/mainstage/dataset-documentation/wave/3/questionnaire-module/scasf12_w3.			

Source: UK Household Longitudinal Survey (2015) [Waves 1-5]